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EANES
OUR VISION

K AEZFEHRNES
PINEEBEERER

To be an Asian
originated world-class
outdoor communication
enterprise

HMv S
OUR MISSION

REPIRMHEENFPINESHE
A imE R = B 2 e B4 B [ 3R
To provide optimal Out-Of-Home (OOH)
communication solutions with highest Return-On-
Investment (ROI) and effectiveness

BERHEBITEER @ R TRBEERA
To promote professional excellence in
outdoor advertising media

BN - S8 - EFHERK
To nurture our workforce into a
harmonious, efficient and effective team

BITHEEE  BEELSEE

To be a community conscious enterprise

KA OMEE
OUR GORE VALUES

s - HABHE  BEE

Integrity: Being honest and truthful towards people
Q S HERRERE - THEH

Excellence: Continuous improvement and the pursuit
of excellence

CE . BRI CE 20 - BEEEHE
Benevolence: Taking social responsibilities and caring
for the community
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Asiaray Media Group Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1993) is a leading out-of-home media
company with a strategic focus on airport and metro line advertising. We were ranked
first in Greater China’s airport advertising market and second in metro advertising
market*. We are also one of two out-of-home résources companies operating in the
metro lines segment in Hong Kong. With an‘extensive nationwide network of media
resources covering 39 cities in Greater China, we leverage the well-devéeloped space
management model to deliver integrated, creative out-of-home media solutions to
renowned and diverse advertiser customers and also enhance ambience and enrich
passengers’ journeys. .

"
]

[ *Source: Frost & Sullivan Report and the latest market information >

Fhis ranking': 1) Includes only privately-owned media companies; 2) In;qrms o?;upnber and revenue of airports~ =
yith exclusive concession rights to mainstream nr'jpia resources; 3) As at 31 December 2017 or for the
mber 2017. Bl =
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ASIARAY AT A GLANCE

A 1993

PR EEEEBNFEND
The year we started our
advertising business
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In Greater China’s airport

advertising market
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Air passenger traffic of Asiaray’s
exclusive airport resources in 2017
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In Greater China’s metro advertising market

BERMHEHE
Cities where we
have operations
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Metro lines with exclusive
concession rights
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BRI ER
BESNEE
Airports with exclusive
concession rights

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2017 Annual Report



g RREMIE
MEDIA NETWORK
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OUR PHILOSOPHY
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SPACE MANAGEMENT

We view ourselves as the managers of the space, which distinguishes us from the traditional
“Buy Wholesale, Sell Retail” approach.

Our well-developed space management model enables us to create value for our advertising
customers, media resources owners and passengers.

Advertising customer — enhance the overall impact of the advertisement

Media resource owner —enhance the overall ambience and optimize the commercial value

Passenger — extend beyond the visual to stimulate senses of smell, touch, hearing and taste,
making up an exuberant journey

.
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GIANT ELEVATOR WRAP
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BUILDING SOLUTION
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EVENTS OF THE YEAR
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I BERESERIE
Officially established the Central

Innovation and Technology Unit, Appointed as the exclusive
to promote the development advertising agency of FIA
of DOOH and the research of Formula E Hong Kong E-Prix for
big data. second consecutive year.

8H

AUGUST

TN Hh 305 48 T A5 A%
WD R R T AR B 3T AR FERBEARBREEHE -
T B S EERELE o

Obtained exclusive rights to
operate mainstream media
resources in Tianjin Metro
Lines No. 2 and No. 3.

Obtained exclusive rights to
operate mainstream media
resources in Hangzhou Metro
Lines No. 2 and No. 4.
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Joined hands with LVMH and
Tmall to launch the large-scale
Singles’ Day promotion campaign,
with demonstrating our capability
to provide customized and
integrated media solutions to
luxury brands and emerging
industries.

2R [F—ETBERHHE

ZEXLEEE ] REEE
iﬁﬁi&%xﬂ%ﬁ@l\ EHRIR ©

Attended “1st China Urban
Rail Transit Culture Expo”, to
highlight the Group’s new
milestone of OOH advertising
along metro lines.

2018<F

1A 128 17

NOVEMBER DECEMBER 2018

JANUARY

HIVMHEBEZRTRERE ERIREHE T EREBER
iﬁfﬁi?%ﬁéﬁﬂﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ BHRE M

EREER o

Renewed exclusive advertising
concession contract with LVMH
Group for Wheelock House
Billboard in Central.

Obtained exclusive rights to
operate mainstream media
resources in Zhuhai Airport.
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AWARDS & RECOGNITION

11515

% 5 QUALIFICATIONS

hE-REEEE (KERER) (ZEELTH)

First-class Advertising Agency of China (Media Service) (Yunnan Asiaray)

PRE-FEESNE (HERBE) (8T
First-class Advertising Agency of China (Media Service) (Shanghai Asiaray)

PETESHEEHREEN (LBHLE)

Standing Member of the Outdoor Advertising Committee of Shanghai Advertising Association (Shanghai Asiaray)

bemEREE (LEBREE)

Famous trademark in Shanghai (Shanghai Asiaray)
GB/T9001-2008/1S09001:2015:R:EE & (LB M 4E)

GB/T9001-2008/1S09001:2015 International Certificate of Registration (Shanghai Asiaray)
BB EHE

Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification

£= ] %< = GROUP RECOGNITIONS

201758 HEARE

2017 Shanghai Renowned Brand

HH O K017 - TISHESE

Outstanding Import & Export Enterprise Awards 2017 - Market Development Excellence Award
2017FEHEIRPINEETISTTERE R

2017 Excellence In Leadership In Out-of-home Advertising Market (China)
FZEBAEREEMREAR - REREEBAELF

HKIRA 3rd IR Awards - Best IR Company

2016 B BIRIF F WA

2016 Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence
2016FBIPINEEHERSG - RAREBELMFINES AR

2016 China Outdoor Advertising Industry Convention -

Listed Outdoor Advertising Company with Most Investment Value

FNneattieg () BRES - RABEEEBR
The 9th 21st Century Marketing (Beijing) International Summit - Most Valuable Media Award

EETEEHEKI=TRFELERME (LBHAE)

Shanghai Advertising Association 30th Anniversary Outstanding Contribution Award (Shanghai Asiaray)

2015F )\ JEROIE 1% E F [ s (1552
2015 The 8th ROI Festlval Best Media of the Year

B AR kg

Top Five Brands in China

MR EEEBBERAT 2017F8® 14
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EXCELLENT

%251 3215 CAMPAIGN AWARDS
SHSH# BRI | L RBEIRE

Eternal Love, Beijing Metro Line No.4

FTESIRE - RE

The 10th ROI Festival - Silver Award

F24E T B EE R - 1%

The 24th China Advertising Great-wall Awards - Bronze Award
25 T [E TopDigital 8137 2% - §5 4%

The 5th TopDigital Innovation Award Silver Award
FE_EPINGREHRDIFHE - TR

The 2nd OOH Scene Marketing Showcase Selection - Best Ten Showcases

54 | ®RYIEIHRE

Mengniu | Shenzhen Metro Line No.3

FuEPEESRMNE - BEFE

The 24th China Advertising Great-wall Awards - Merit Award
FNEIERBEES (8IF) & -RE

The 9th Beijing International Festival of Advertising (Creativity) - Silver Award

B | LR AR
Youku | Beijing Metro Line No.4

FUREPHEERNE - EFE

The 24th China Advertising Great-wall Awards - Merit Award
FENEILRBERES (B/F) & - W

The 9th Beijing International Festival of Advertising (Creativity) - Bronze Award

BR | EFSIRERES

Budweiser | Xiamen Gaoqi International Airport

% T JE TopDigital 857 22 - 57 42
The 5th TopDigitaI Innovation Award - Bronze Award
2017RW [BEK | 2BILEDSES S AR - BF %

2017 Great-wall “Phoenix” National LED Best Scene Innovation Showcase - Merit Award
RAE | FRYIE = BERRES

Tencent Cloud | Shenzhen Baoan International Airport

25 7 [E TopDigital 8137 2% - §f 2%

The 5th TopDigital Innovation Award - Bronze Award

XE | PERERE

Alipay | Building Solution of Citic Tower

20175 (BN ] 2ELEDRFESSAIFRM - BF %

2017 Great-wall “Phoenix” National LED Best Scene Innovation Showcase - Merit Award
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

REUWA
COMBINED REVENUE
BEET 2,567.0
HKD million 2,137.7
—— 807.8
666.9 —
1,470.8 1,759.2 o SEEHBA
Group’s consolidated revenue
B AR A
20 1 6 20 1 7 Associate companies’ revenue

AERIE - BE - IERBHEINER
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAX,
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

BEBT

HKD million 133.5
90.2 I
2016 2017

REEDIAEI T WA

REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY OPERATING SEGMENT

BEBT

HKD million 1,759.2
1,470.8 01

169.7 ——

I - - 138.9

574.7
457.8
@ #:5 Airports
685.4 843.5 . S AR X Metro Lines
| @ EEREABAEES
Billboards and Building Solutions

20 1 6 20 1 7 H b Others

MHEEEREMBERART  2017F8% 16



FEMS

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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1 BREFBERNESH — EEENREAMN

It is my pleasure to present the annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

Over the past year, the Group performed encouragingly owing
to the implementation of effective business strategies that
resulted in the satisfactory performance of our airport and
metro advertising operations. This included the ramp up of new
airport-related projects and the securing of new media
resources for our metro operations. Consequently, our
combined revenue, comprising consolidated revenue and
revenue from all associated companies of the Group engaged
in the media advertising business and reflecting a more
accurate view of the Group's business scale, grew by 20.1% to
HKD2,567.0 million. This growth builds on an already
impressive track record, having achieved a CAGR of 21.2%
between 2011 and 2016, and also contributed to the impressive
surge in our net profit of 164.7%.

ADAPTING TO CHANGING TIMES

Our strong performance despite the challenging times can
directly be attributed to the Group’s “Space Management”
model, the results of which include stimulation of the five
senses, utilization of advertising space in innovative ways, and
the seamless integration of digital media, advanced
technologies and OOH media, which is a truly “mass media”
with captive audiences. This multifaceted model also reflects
our overall view towards OOH media, i.e., its evolution into
mainstream media resulting from the convergence of online
and offline ("O&QO") solutions.

Given the tremendous opportunities that are set to emerge
from OOH media’s ascent to the mainstream, we have devised
strategies aimed at creating new business models in order to
establish new revenue streams. In April 2017, we established
the Central Innovation and Technology Unit (“CTU") to prepare
to capture the outstanding opportunities presented by
increasingly popular O&O blending solutions. Through the
CTU, more mobile and digital elements such as Html5, Virtual
Reality and iBeacon are being integrated into our advertising
solutions — an example is the recently launched Vitasoy Real
Friends Campaign’ which has enjoyed overwhelmingly positive
market response, with key elements going viral. All of these
initiatives, together with another new business model — seen
in our unique collaboration with Lagardére in introducing 20
internationally renowned luxury brands and domestic brands to
the Kunming Changshui International Airport — highlight our
steady advance towards becoming a leading one-stop OOH
solutions provider.

1 More details about this campaign can be found on page 25 —
Management Discussion and Analysis

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2017 Annual Report 17



FEEHRE  CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Still another catalyst for the Group's growth in the coming years
will involve strategic expansion of its media portfolio. With
airport passenger traffic and the number of metro lines in
Greater China projected to rise substantially, we will continue
to direct our focus on developing our presence and media
resources in airport and metro lines, as well as capturing new
opportunities brought by the rapid development of the nation’s
high-speed rail. These efforts will enable us to be in a strong
position to capitalize on China’s emergence as the world’s
largest OOH market in the coming decades.

The development of our people is no less important for our
growth. Mindful of this, we have bolstered our sales force
through the Super Key Account (“SKA”) and Key Account
("KA") structure. This structure represents an important line of
communication between the sales force and key customers,
ensuring that the correct products and services are delivered in
a timely manner, leading to greater trust between all parties.
By strengthening the sales force and SKA/KA management, we
have also been able to take advantage of increasing
advertisement spending from emerging industries. Among the
companies that have subsequently leveraged our OOH
solutions include such established companies as Alipay and
Huawei. For the former Internet giant, we have arranged
extensive advertisement placements via our highly diversified
media portfolio that includes premium airport resources in
Hangzhou and Shenzhen which are benefiting from the
burgeoning Internet and related industries and are becoming
major IT hubs in Mainland China; CITIC Tower LED Facade
along Victoria Harbour that overlooks major firework
celebrations during Chinese New Year; World-wide House LED
in Central that has considerable outreach to financial
professionals; and Times Square LED in the bustling “shopping
paradise” of Causeway Bay in Hong Kong. For Huawei, grand
branding exposure is achieved via the Shenzhen, Zhengzhou
and Kunming airports; East Rail Line, which has substantial
cross-boundary metro passengers; and eye-catching billboards
and LEDs in prime locations in Hong Kong, including the
stunning Mega TV of SOGO, which is the largest Full HD LED
screen with the highest resolution in soothe city thus far.
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LEVERAGING STRENGTHS AND BENEFITING FROM
THE MACRO ENVIRONMENT

Besides a burgeoning OOH market, there are tremendous
opportunities that are set to emerge from a favorable macro
environment. Several key developments include the “Belt and
Road Initiative” and the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Bay
Area” devised by the Central government, which will spur
large-scale infrastructure works, including development of both
inter- and intra-city transportation networks to accommodate
large increases in air, rail and metro passenger flow. As
Asiaray’s media resources network is well established in 39
cities across China, including cities that will benefit from the
abovementioned initiatives, the value of such media resources
is set to appreciably rise. We have consequently been closely
monitoring developments and identifying opportunities in
related areas, and as new projects are secured, we will leverage
the favorable macro environment to maintain our growth
momentum.

DOOH advertising possesses immense growth potential,
especially in China. We are well prepared to capture the
opportunities that will arise as DOOH transitions towards
programmable DOOH, thereby enriching its content, flexibility
and creativity. To be fully prepared, apart from leveraging our
competitive edges including the “Space Management” model,
we have also invested in an Internet-based management hub to
link our many media resources, which in turn enables the Group
to provide real-time, advertiser-centric information that results
in easy media placement and prompt delivery of creative
solutions. This important backbone will also support our growth
by promptly accommodating the increase of media resources
irrespective of genre, while enabling advertisers to quickly
satisfy their media requirements in a creative manner. Such
advancement represents yet another significant step in our
development into a one-stop OOH solutions provider.

Having taken successive steps forward, | trust that through our
ongoing efforts backed by the determination and diligence of
the entire Asiaray workforce, even more significant milestones
for the Group and value creation for our shareholders will be
realized in the coming years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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! https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEQ/
Issues/2018/01/11/world-economic-
outlook-update-january-2018
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Over the past year, global economic activity has continued to
rise, with global output estimated to have grown by 3.7% in
2017, which is 0.1 percentage point faster than projected in the
fall and half a percentage point higher than in 2016 according
to the International Monetary Fund'. Despite the upswing,
however, market conditions for the out-of-home ("OOH")
advertising industry in Mainland China and Hong Kong have
remained challenging as advertisers remained cautious and
kept a tight rein on advertising spending (“adspend”). Even
though conditions were less than favourable, our airport and
metro advertising operations were still able to realise growth,
which in the case of the former was due to the gradual ramp up
of associated new projects, while in the case of the latter was
the result of securing new media resources. Also, our well-
developed “Space Management” approach that has been
welcomed by advertisers further facilitated the Group’s
business growth. Correspondingly, total reported revenue rose
by 19.6% to HKD1,759.2 million (2016: HKD1,470.8 million).
Combined revenue, which includes consolidated revenue and
revenue from all associated companies of the Group engaged
in the media advertising business, also grew, rising by 20.1%
year-on-year to HKD2,567.0 million (2016: HKD2,137.7 million).
Owing to the encouraging performance of our core businesses,
profit attributable to owners of the Company surged by 164.5%
to HKD44.7 million versus HKD16.9 million in the preceding
year.

According to a CTR Market Research report, overall adspend in
Mainland China has achieved a turnaround following two years
of negative growth, rising by 4.3% year-on-year in 2017.
However, OOH media adspend in the country actually
contracted slightly by 0.4% during the same period. Despite
the mixed signals from the market, we continued to be a top
player in the Greater China region. With revenue growth of
23.1% and 25.5% from the airport and metro advertising
businesses respectively in 2017, the Group has continued to
rank first and second in the respective markets in the Greater
China region among privately-owned media companies.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group provides exclusive
advertising services for 16 metro lines and 27 airports across 38
cities in Mainland China. With the annual aggregate passenger
traffic of all airports exclusively covered by the Group in
Mainland China amounting to 228 million as at the close of
2017, we have thus captured approximately one-fifth of
aggregate passenger traffic of all airports in the country. Given
our leading position in Mainland China, we will leverage our
stature to seize more opportunities and thus ensure that the
country continues to be our major growth driver going forward.

! https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEQ/Issues/2018/01/11/world-
economic-outlook-update-january-2018
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Our success can directly be attributed to the ability to innovate,
and a clear example of this is our well-developed”Space
Management” model that has been embraced by advertisers,
landlords and audiences alike. Besides enabling us to
differentiate the Group from other market players, space
management allows us to create value for advertisers through
the shrewd use of available spaces, as well as the ability to
stimulate the five senses of audiences that results in
unforgettable experiences. By employing the space
management model frequently, and integrating advanced
technologies such as digital media with OOH media, we are
also able to further hone our expertise facilitating the model’s
continuous advancement.

Among the exciting venues where we have used our space
management model to best effect as well as showcase the
Group's ability to provide innovative advertising solutions
beyond airports and metro lines was our efforts for the 2017
FIA Formula E Hong Kong E-Prix (“"Hong Kong E-Prix”). Having
been appointed exclusive advertising agency for the second
consecutive year, we sought to take yet another step forward,
consequently exploring and utilising creative and unique
advertising spaces for capturing the attention of a global
audience.

Our Group is willing to go to great heights to cater for the
needs of our clients, for example, we developed a tailored
advertising solution for the brewing company, Heineken that
employed the Shanghai Tower — the tallest building in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and third tallest in the
world — along with four other iconic buildings in the heart of
Shanghai’s financial district. Through the use of LED
technology, these buildings bathed the city in the brewer’s
signature green palette all the while capturing the attention of
an awestruck public.

In order to sustain growth momentum and mitigate the impact
of business cycles, the Group has continued to bolster its
extensive and diversified client portfolio. At the same time, it
has sought to strengthen the Group's sales team in order to
capture the tremendous opportunities brought about by the
emerging industries, which tend to favour OOH advertising.
Correspondingly, heading our advertising mix is
Telecommunication and 3C (Computer, Communication and
Consumer Electronics), with the other top industries being Fast
Moving Consumer Goods, Automobile and Related, Banking
and Insurance, and Property and Real Estate.
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As a company that takes pride in its work, we are always
immensely honoured that our efforts are valued and
appreciated by our clients and the industry. In 2017, Asiaray
was granted a considerable number of advertising awards.
Among more than 10 fiercely contested advertising
competitions that the Group participated in both at home and
abroad, Asiaray captured over 20 high-profile awards. We not
only received recognition at the ROI Festival and top domestic
competitions, including the China Advertising Great-wall Award
where Asiaray has taken top honours for many years, but we
were also granted the Gold Award of Media Marketing in the
China Advertising Great-wall Award. Our creative capability
and strength are unanimously recognized by the public.

All the aforementioned honours can be credited to co-
operation between Asiaray and advertisers, advertising
agencies and media owners. We will continue our close
collaboration with the respective parties while leveraging our
“Space Management” model to create extraordinary
experiences for both passengers and audiences, and thereby
ensuring a win-win result for all our stakeholders.

Over the past year, the airport business has continued to
perform favourably, leading to an increase in revenue inflow.
Among the contributors to such growth was Terminal 4 of
Xiamen Gaogqji International Airport which the Group had
obtained advertising concession rights in the preceding year.
Yet another effort that bore fruit was Terminal 2 of Zhengzhou
Airport which, having completed ramp-up, delivered notable
contributions to the Group in 2017 as a result.

Revenue from our metro lines business also increased and was
largely driven by greater sales from Beijing Metro Lines and
Wuxi Metro Lines, as well as income from newly secured lines,
i.e. Tianjin and Hangzhou. With regard to the Tianjin operation,
we obtained exclusive rights in March 2017 to operate
advertising and media resources for Metro Lines 2 and 3, which
run from east to west and south to north respectively through
the heart of the city, central business districts, residential areas
and major traffic hubs. Presently, these two metro lines cover
45 of the 89 stations in Tianjin and have total ridership of over
one million passengers per month. With regard to the
Hangzhou operation, we have held exclusive concession rights
to Metro Line 2 and Line 4 since June 2017. With burgeoning
internet and tourism-related industries, Hangzhou has become
an important business and transportation hub in Mainland
China. Reflecting its rising stature, the city achieved an average
daily transportation load of almost 4.14 million in 2016.
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Over the past year, we have been recognised for our various
efforts both within the industry and beyond. This has included
winning the Outstanding Import & Export Enterprise Awards
2017 — Market Development Excellence Award, owing to our
outstanding market development strategies, ability to capture
market share, and for contributing to the community and
industry as part of the Group’s corporate social responsibility
efforts. We also earned two awards at The 17th IAl International
Advertising Awards and three more honours at the 5th
TopDigital Innovation Award. And in recognition of our
commitment to advancing investor relations, we were bestowed
“Best IR Company” and “Best IR by Chairman/CEO" titles at
the HKIRA 3rd IR Awards. Yet another accolade that highlighted
our concerns beyond the business realm was the naming of the
Group as “Hong Kong Green Organisation” under the Hong
Kong Green Organisation Certification ("HKGOC") programme,
led by the Environmental Campaign Committee (“ECC"). We
also received a Certificate of Merit in the field of Media and
Communication at the 2016 Hong Kong Awards for
Environmental Excellence ("HKAEE").

OUTLOOK

The OOH advertising industry is expected to continue to face
some challenges in the near future. Nevertheless, we remain
optimistic about the industry’s outlook further down the road in
view of the recovering retail sector in Hong Kong and steady
expansion of the OOH market in Mainland China. In the case of
the latter, expansion is expected to intensify according to PwC
China Entertainment and Media Outlook 2017-2021 (“"PwC
Report”), which projects income derived from the Mainland
China OOH market to increase at a CAGR of 8.5% till 2021. At
that time, the country will have the fastest developing OOH
market in the world. Driving such growth is a booming
construction sector, with many large-scale infrastructure
projects either underway or planned, including over 80 airports.
There are also many cities that are building or expanding their
public transportation systems, which will result in greater
demand for advertising solutions. Besides ongoing
construction, another catalyst for the OOH market’s growth is
the telecommunications and 3C industry. In 2017, this segment
was already the largest source of adspend in Mainland China as
well as the top revenue driver of the Group — a trend that is
expected to continue.
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As a company that is constantly looking at ways to seize new
opportunities, we will continue to further hone our media
resources network and develop innovative solutions that
expedite our progress and growth. A clear example of this
determination is our efforts for Hong Kong Red Cross Blood
Transfusion Service (“BTS") in March 2018. As part of our
strategy, we unveiled an online and offline (“O&0O") blood
donation campaign. We also created the “Turning Challenge”
(85 PkE) to encourage the general public to be regular blood
donors. Leading up to the launch of the Challenge, we
developed different facets of the campaign such as overall
concept, layout design and video promotion. We also sought
support from celebrities and key opinion leaders from various
sectors. By posting their attempts on such social media
platforms as Facebook and YouTube, we were not only able to
promulgate the “regular blood donation” message, but also
reach the youth demographic and encourage their
participation. The videos of participants were also included in a
comprehensive media package that was exclusively managed
by the Group at prime locations, including the LED walls at
World-Wide House in Central and Russell Street in Causeway
Bay, as well as the Transvision Ring Domination at the MTR Sha
Tin, Mong Kok East and Kowloon Tong stations. By employing
our diversified O&O resources combined with digital out-of-
home (“DOOH") advertising, the BTS campaign was able to
reach a considerably large amount of audience.

Besides its deployment for the BTS campaign, it is always our
belief that DOOH advertising possesses immense growth
potential. Our view is supported by the PwC Report as well,
which projects revenue from the Mainland China DOOH
industry to reach USD4,200 million in 2021, achieving a CAGR
of approximately 14.9%. It is worth noting that while DOOH
accounted for a small fraction of the Mainland China OOH
market based on quantity, it in fact contributed 34.3% of total
OOH market revenue in 2017. This was because LED walls that
fall under the DOOH segment are normally installed at prime
locations and therefore generate greater revenue and profit.
And as DOCH transition towards programmatic DOOH, which
offers the advantages of reaching target audiences explicitly
with measurable results, the Group will be well prepared.
Already, we have established an account with a world-
renowned American multinational technology that enables us
to place our digital inventories in their platform for trading.
Also with programmatic DOOH in mind, specifically on the sell
side, we will optimise our Central Innovation and Technology
Unit ("CTU") with the objective of further developing the
Group's programmatic buying capabilities.
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There are other facets of DOOH that we will seek to advance
besides programmatic, including the incorporation of mobile
and digital elements such as Html5, Virtual Reality and iBeacon.
An example of such effort, which also highlights our ability to
provide value-added services, is a recent campaign involving
Vitasoy. Representing part of their Vitasoy Real
Friends Campaign (- # = #Me) “ H. R Say”), the Group
employed technologies whereby participants of the campaign
were able to send messages to loved ones via a dedicated
mobile app — the messages subsequently appearing on a
large LED wall located at Russell Street in Causeway Bay.
Among the unique features of the campaign included the
ability to provide “Live feed & K" and “Co-creation #% £l
meaning that input was instantaneously available and the
image displayed was a joint production by the participants and
Vitasoy. Being both innovative and unique, this type of
advertisement is readily acceptable to target audiences, and
just as importantly, can be easily shared via social media thus
highly impactful. The Group was responsible not only for
planning but also execution and technology support of the
entire campaign.

"
1

While maintaining an eye on the future, we are at the same
time cognisant of the importance of strengthening our core
businesses as they represent the foundation on which the
Group is able to develop. We will therefore continue to
establish ties that bolster our OOH presence as well as enable
us to generate greater synergies with our existing media
resources. Correspondingly, the Group has included Zhuhai
Airport as part of its growing airport business portfolio. With
the Greater Bay Area initiative and the launch of the Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge just around the corner, Zhuhai will
become the only transportation hub that connects the three
major economic zones of Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macao
within a travel time of one hour by land.

Though significantly smaller in scale, billboards represent an
important part of our repertoire of services. As such, we will
continue to expand in key sites that enable us to best showcase
our clients. Among the locations that the Group has most
recently secured in Hong Kong include the Star Ferry Carpark
Building in Central, Laforet and Lin Fook House in Causeway
Bay, and Sim City in Mong Kok.

Another strategy of the Group is diversification of businesses.
Correspondingly, the Group has been appointed by Emperor
Cinemas as their exclusive media agent. Among our
responsibilities will be the provision of prestigious advertising
in Hong Kong's central business district.
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Going forward, we will seek to further expand our portfolio of
clients as it is the ultimate testament to the trust and confidence
that companies have in the Group. To do so, we will continue
to enhance all areas of operation and maintain our commitment
to innovation and service excellence. Through the experience
and prudence of our management team, we trust that the
Group will receive the support of business partners old and
new, achieve further growth and create value for its
shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017 increased from approximately HKD1,470.8 million to
approximately HKD1,759.2 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 19.6%. The increase was mainly attributable to the
increase in revenue in the airports media and metro media
segments and partially offset by the decrease in revenue in
billboard and building solution segments. The combined
revenue of the Group, which includes the consolidated revenue
of the Group and the total revenue of the Group's associated
companies engaged in the media business as an operating
information, reached HKD2,567.0 million, representing a year-
on-year increase of 20.1%.

The airports media segment increased by 23.1% from
approximately HKD685.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2016 to approximately HKD843.5 million in 2017
mainly due to satisfactory results delivered by Zhengzhou
Airport, Xiamen Gaoqi International Airport and Sanya Phoenix
International Airport. Most of our airports achieved a double-
digit growth during the year.

Our revenue from metro media segment for the year increased
by approximately HKD116.9 million or 25.5%, from
approximately HKD457.8 million in 2016 to approximately
HKD574.7 million in 2017. This was primarily attributable to the
additional revenue from Hangzhou Metro Lines 2 and 4 and
Tianjin Metro Lines 2 and 3 which incepted in this year. Beijing
Metro Line also recorded a significant revenue growth during
the year but such increase was partially offset by the decrease
in revenue from Hong Kong.

Our revenue in billboards and building solutions segment
decreased by approximately HKD19.0 million or 12.0%, from
approximately HKD157.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2016 to approximately HKD138.9 million in 2017,
which was primarily attributable to the drop in billboard
revenue from Shanghai and Qingdao resulted by the site
demolition under the regulatory policy in reducing number of
billboards in certain areas.
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Other revenue increased by approximately HKD32.5 million or
19.2%, from approximately HKD169.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2016 to approximately HKD202.2 million
in 2017, which was primarily attributable to the increase in our
agency business in respect of sales of advertising spaces in
media resources operated by certain associated companies and
other companies.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the growth rate
of our airports and metro media segment and our consolidated
group revenue for the year:
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Consolidated group revenue 20.5% 19.6%

# defined as revenue generated from the same projects which both
contributed revenue for the year and the corresponding period in
2016 respectively

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue increased by approximately HKD216.2
million, or 18.3%, from approximately HKD1,180.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately
HKD1,396.5 million in 2017. The increase was primarily due to
(a) the concession rights obtained to operate the advertising
spaces at Hangzhou Metro Lines 2 and 4 and Tianjin Metro
Lines 2 and 3; and (b) the increase of concession fee payable
under the renewal contract of Zhengzhou Airport in last year.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017 increased from approximately HKD290.5 million to
approximately HKD362.7 million and the Group’s gross profit
margin increased slightly from 19.8% in 2016 to 20.6% in 2017.
The increase in gross profit margin was due to: (1) an increase
in gross profit from the airport business segment due to
revenue growth in newly incepted/renewed airport such as
Xiamen, Sanya and Zhengzhou airports; (2) the stable
performance delivered by the existing airports; and (3) an
increase in gross profit contributed by Beijing Metro Lines and
Shenzhen Metro Lines. The increase in gross profit was partially
offset by the Tianjin Metro Lines 2 and 3 and Hangzhou Metro
Lines 2 and 4 which were still in the ramp-up stage.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses increased by
approximately HKD8.8 million, or 7.0%, from approximately
HKD126.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to
approximately HKD135.4 million in 2017. This increase was
primarily attributable to the increase in employee benefit
expenses and travelling and entertainment expenses as a result
of the growth of our business operations and partially offset by
decrease in marketing research expenses.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses increased by approximately
HKD3.4 million, or 2.3%, from approximately HKD149.9 million
(restated) for the year ended 31 December 2016 to
approximately HKD153.3 million in 2017. The increase was
primarily attributable to the increase in travelling and
entertainment expenses and office rental expenses which
partially offset by recognition of a reversal of impairment
provision for the trade and other receivables and the decrease
in employee benefit expenses.

Finance Income/Costs — Net

Net finance cost was approximately HKD3.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017, compared with net finance income
of HKDO.3 million in 2016. This was primarily attributable to the
increase in average bank borrowings during the year.
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Share of Result of Investments in Associates

Our share of results of investments in associates for the year
ended 31 December 2017 increased 62.3% from approximately
HKD5.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to
approximately HKD8.6 million in 2017 due to better
performance in an associate company, Shenzhen Airport
Asiaray Media Company Limited (“Shenzhen Airport Asiaray”),
during the year.

Income Tax Expenses

Our income tax expense increased by approximately HKD4.5
million from approximately HKD14.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2016 to approximately HKD19.4 million in 2017.
This increase in expense was primarily attributable to the
increase in profit before income tax.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

Profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HKD44.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2017,
compared to a restated profit of approximately HKD16.9
million in 2016. The increase in profit was the net effect of (i)
the increase in gross profit of the Group and partially offset by
(i) the absence of the HKD24.7 million other gain associated
with the written back provision of compensation loss in this
year.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY POLICY
The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash
management and investment on funds. The net proceeds from
the listing have mainly been placed on short-term deposits with
reputable banks in Hong Kong and the PRC.

As the Group carries out business in the Mainland China and
Hong Kong, most of our receipts and payments were
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. As the
conversion of Renminbi into foreign currencies is subject to the
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the PRC government, the directors of the Company consider
that there is no significant exposure on the foreign exchange
risk. The Group will closely monitor foreign exchange exposure
and consider hedging significant exposure should the need
arises.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits
and restricted cash was approximately HKD402.6 million as at
31 December 2017, representing an increase of approximately
HKD75.0 million compared with that as at 31 December 2016.
As at 31 December 2017, the financial ratios of the Group were
as follows:
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Gearing ratio @

H2017 % 20165

12A31H 12H31H

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

1.46 1.61

FRE FHIRE

Net cash Net cash

Notes:
(1 Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current
liabilities.

(2)  Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net debt by total equity.

Borrowings

The Group had bank borrowings as at 31 December 2017 in
the sum of approximately HKD144.4 million. Out of the total
borrowings, approximately HKD130.2 million was repayable
within one year, while approximately HKD14.2 million was
repayable after one year. The carrying amounts of bank
borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi.

No financial instruments were used for hedging purposes, nor
were there any foreign currency net investments hedged by
current borrowings and/or other hedging instruments. The
weighted average interest rate (per annum) was 4.4% for non-
current borrowings and 3.9% for current borrowings as at 31
December 2017.

Exposure to Interest Rate Risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing short-
term deposits and bank borrowings. Short-term deposits and
bank borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. Bank borrowings at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Other than interest-bearing short-term deposits, the Group has
no other significant interest bearing assets. The directors of the
Company do not anticipate any significant impact on interest-
bearing assets resulted from the changes in interest rates,
because the interest rates of short-term deposit are not
expected to change significantly.
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2017, the Group pledged its buildings, land
use rights, short-term deposits and available-for-sale financial
assets with carrying amount of approximately HKD34.9 million
(31 December 2016: HKD34.1 million), respectively to secure
borrowings of the Group. The total secured borrowings as at
31 December 2017 amounted to approximately HKD5.7 million
(31 December 2016: HKD14.5 million).

Fund raising activities/Use of Proceeds

On 29 December 2016, the Company completed the issuance
of 10,000,000 non-listed warrants at the exercise price of
HKD4.1 per warrant share. As at 31 December 2017, the
outstanding non-listed warrants were 10,000,000 warrants and
in which the subscription right had not been exercised.

On 7 September 2017, the Company entered into the
subscription agreement which the Company has conditionally
agreed to issue the perpetual subordinated convertible
securities (PSCS) in the principal amount of HKD50,000,000
convertible into conversion shares at the initial conversion price
of HKD3.54 per conversion share. The issuance of PSCS in
principal amount of HKD30,000,000 was completed on 28
December 2017. As at 31 December 2017, PSCS in the
principal amount of HKD30,000,000 has not been converted
into conversion shares.

As at 31 December 2017, the net proceeds of approximately
HKD29,700,000 has yet to be used and is deposited in the
bank.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures primarily comprise cash expenditures
for property, plant and equipment, such as advertising facilities
and furniture and office equipment. Our capital expenditures
for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 were
approximately HKD27.2 million and HKD69.8 million,
respectively.
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Commitments
(1) As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group did not
have any material capital commitments.

(2) Operating leases commitments

The Group leases certain office buildings and certain
media resources under non- cancellable operating lease
agreements. The lease terms for office buildings are
negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years, and
those for media resources are negotiated for terms
ranging from 1 to 10 years, and majority of lease
agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period
at market rate.

The Group's future aggregate minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

R2017 F 2016

12A831H 12HA31H

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

TFE T FAT

HKD'000 HKD’000

TER—F Not later than 1 year 887,656 853,071
BR—FRETERRAF Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2,046,838 1,613,948
BRAF Later than 5 years 756,139 750,371
3,690,633 3,217,390
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Contingent liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities outstanding as
at 31 December 2017.

Subsequent events
Subsequent to 31 December 2017, no material events have
occurred.
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ECTOR'S PROFILE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent, aged 58

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (“Mr. Lam"”) was appointed as the
Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the executive
Director and Chairman on 12 June 2014 and serves as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Lam is the founder
of the Group and is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and development of the Group. He is also a director
of certain members of the Group.

Mr. Lam graduated from the University of Sydney with a
Bachelor of Science Honours degree in March 1984 and
subsequently obtained a Master's degree in Commerce from
the University of New South Wales (“UNSW") in Australia in
April 1987. Mr. Lam is also member and director of the UNSW
Hong Kong Foundation Board. He has been a fellow of the
CPA Australia since July 2014.

Lam Ka Po, aged 44

Executive Director and Chief Operations Officer

Mr. Lam Ka Po (“Mr. K. P. Lam") was appointed as the Director
on 20 May 2014 and designated as the executive Director of
the Company on 12 June 2014. Mr. K. P. Lam is also the Chief
Operations Officer of the Company. He joined the Company in
December 2007 and is responsible for the overall operations in
Hong Kong and marketing management of the Group. He is
also a director of certain members of the Group.

Mr. K. P. Lam worked for Euro RSCG Partnership Ltd, an
advertising agency under the Association of Accredited
Advertising Agencies of Hong Kong (“HK4As"), as the senior
media planner from 1996 to 1998. He then worked as the
media supervisor and media manager of Motivator, a HK4As
advertising agency, from 1999 to 2002. He was the media
manager of Zenith, a HK4As advertising agency from 2003 to
2004. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. K. P. Lam acted as the
associate business director of OMD, a HK4As advertising
agency from 2004 to 2007.

Mr. K. P. Lam graduated from the Chinese University of Hong

Kong with a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in
Integrated BBA (Marketing concentration) in April 1996.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Wong Chi Kin, aged 44

Mr. Wong Chi Kin (“Mr. Wong") was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company on 24 March 2017.

Mr. Wong has been acting as the chief financial officer of Orient
Victory Travel Group Company Limited (“Orient Victory”) (Stock
Code: 265), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), since October 2014. Prior to joining Orient Victory,
Mr. Wong held various positions at China Qinfa Group Limited
(Stock Code: 866), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, including deputy chief financial
officer (from April 2011 to September 2011), and chief financial
officer (from September 2011 to October 2014), company
secretary and authorised representative (from July 2011 to
August 2014). Further, Mr. Wong was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Tsui Wah Holdings
Limited (“Tsui Wah") (Stock Code: 1314), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on 5
November 2012 and was re-designated from an independent
non-executive director to a non-executive director of Tsui Wah
on 1 November 2016.

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree in
Finance from the City University of Hong Kong in December
1996, a Master’s degree in Practising Accounting from Monash
University, Australia in November 2001 and a Master of
Business Administration degree (Executive MBA Programme)
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2010.
Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of CPA Australia
and an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, aged 76

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung (“Mr. A. Ma") was appointed as
the Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 12
June 2014.

Mr. A. Ma is a founder and former director of AMA CPA Limited
(formerly known as Andrew Ma DFK (CPA) Limited) in Hong
Kong. He is presently a director of Mayee Management
Limited. He has more than 40 years of experience in the fields
of accounting, auditing and finance.
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Mr. A. Ma is currently also an independent non-executive
director of Asia Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 662), C.
P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. (stock code: 43), China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 836), Chong Hing
Bank Ltd. (stock code: 1111) and C-MER Eye Care Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3309). He was an independent non-
executive director of Southwest Securities International
Securities Limited (formerly known as “Tanrich Financial
Holdings Limited") (stock code: 812) from April 2005 to January
2015.

Mr. A. Ma received his Bachelor's degree in Economics from
the London School of Economics and Political Science
(University of London) in England in 1966. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Ma Ho Fai GBS JP, aged 66

Mr. Ma Ho Fai ("Mr. Ma") was appointed as the Director on 20
May 2014 and designated as the independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 12 June 2014.

Mr. Ma is a senior partner of Woo Kwan Lee & Lo, a local law
firm in Hong Kong, and was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in 1984, England and Wales in 1987, Australian Capital
Territory in 1988 and the Republic of Singapore in 1990. Mr.
Ma has been appointed by the Ministry of Justice as a China-
Appointed Attesting Officer since 2000 and a Civil Celebrant
since 2006. He has also been appointed by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as the chairman
of the Protection of Wages on Insolvency Fund Board for a
term of two years with effect from 1 April 2018. In addition, he
is a Deputy of the 11th, 12th and 13th National People’s
Congress of the PRC. In recognition of his distinguished public
and community service, Mr. Ma was appointed as a Non-
Official Justice of the Peace in 2005 by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and was awarded
the Gold Bauhinia Star in June 2017. Mr. Ma was also
appointed as a non-executive director of the Insurance
Authority in 2015. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Goldbond Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 172).
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Mak Ka Ling, aged 48
Ms. Mak Ka Ling (“Ms. Mak”) was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 5 May 2017.

Ms. Mak has over 20 years of experience in human resources
and organization effectiveness consulting. She had worked at
Korn Ferry Hay Group (“Hay Group”), which is the global
people and organizational advisory division of Korn Ferry
International, a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE: KFY), for the last 13 years. Ms. Mak was an
associate director and an associate client partner of Hay Group
from December 2014 to May 2016 and May 2016 to April 2017,
respectively. During her tenure at Hay Group, she advised
boards on market best practices on human capital related
issues; and worked with organizations to help clarify strategy
priorities, develop people and organization transformation
solutions and consulted on human resources implementation
plans to support organization changes.

Ms. Mak started her career as an executive management
trainee of Jardine, Matheson & Co., Limited (the “Jardine
Matheson”), a subsidiary of Jardine Matheson Holdings Limited
listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange (SGX: J36), in
September 1993. During her employment with Jardine
Matheson until February 2002, Ms. Mak held various managerial
positions, including working as a business unit head at the
subsidiaries of Jardine Matheson as well as a human resources
management leader in the head office of Jardine Matheson.

Ms. Mak obtained a Bachelor of Science (Joint Honours) degree
in Computer Science and Accounting from the University of
Manchester in July 1992, a Master of Business Administration
degree from the business school of Imperial College, University
of London in November 1993. She is an associate member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) is committed
to uphold a high standard of corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth in its business in
accordance with all applicable rules and regulations. The Board
believes that good corporate governance is important in
balancing the interests of shareholders, customers and
employees and the success of business.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code")
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”). Throughout the year, the Company has
complied with the CG Code except for deviations from code
provisions A.2.1 and A.6.7. The deviation from code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code is explained in the paragraph headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive” of this annual report.

Under code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent non-
executive directors should attend general meeting of the
Company and develop a balanced understanding of
shareholders’ view. Due to other business engagement, certain
independent non-executive Directors were unable to attend
the general meetings of the Company.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is mainly responsible for formulating the Group's
long term strategy and development plan, deciding major
financial and capital project and reviewing internal control and
risks.

The Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management for implementing
day-to-day operation. It has given clear directions to the
management as to its powers, in particular, with respect to
different circumstances. While allowing management to enjoy
substantial autonomy to run and develop the Company's
business, the Board also plays a key role in structuring and
monitoring the reporting systems and internal controls. The
final decision still rests with the Board unless otherwise provide
for in the terms of reference of the relevant committees.
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Composition
The Board currently comprises six directors (“Directors”), the
composition is set out as follow:

Executive Directors:
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman)
Lam Ka Po

Non-executive Director:
Wong Chi Kin (appointed with effect from 24 March 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Mak Ka Ling (appointed with effect from 5 May 2017)

The biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 33 to
36 of this annual report. There is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s)) among the Directors.

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has had three independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board, with one
independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has received annual
confirmation in writing of independence from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and considers them to be
independent according to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment and re-election of directors

Under the Company's articles of association, the Board may
from time to time appoint a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any such new Director
shall hold office until the next following general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible
for re-election at the same meeting.

All non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) are appointed for a specific term of
one year and all directors (including independent non-executive
directors) are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and are subject to re-election in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer should be clearly established.

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent currently assumes the role of both
Chairman and chief executive officer (the “CEQ") of the
Company. The Board considers that this structure could
enhance efficiency in formulation and implementation of the
Company'’s strategies. The Board will review the need of
appointing suitable candidate to assume the role of CEO when
necessary.

Board Diversity

The Company adopted a board diversity policy which set out
its approach to achieve diversity on the Board with a view to
achieving a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills knowledge and length of service.
The Company will also take into account factors based on its
own business model and specific needs from time to time. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Company
has considered board diversity policy in designing composition
of the Board.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2017 Annual Report 39



{2EESLER<  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Esggm Board Meetings

EEENEBFERTAAEERIEAEE During the year under review, the Board held five meetings to
RIBERERME MBS - HETH S FEEE review Group's overall strategies and policies, to approve
AMARBZEAFTFEREE - TEFNE interim/final results, to discuss significant issues and operation
FE2017F12A3MBIEFELEEFESSH - of the Group. The attendance (either in person or through
BIZET REZEQ FTWNZEELOH other electronic means of communication) record of each
FEERRG (THBFHFEREREGETE director at the meetings of the Board, the Audit Committee,
BAR) MRESESIIT - the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and

general meetings during the year ended 31 December 2017 is
set out below:

HE/ BRI
Number of meetings attended/held
FHZEE REZEE HHZEE RRAFAE RREAAS

Annual Extraordinary

Audit  Nomination Remuneration General General
Name of Directors Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting
HiTES Executive Directors
R Lam Tak Hing, Vincent 4/5 T 17 17 1 01
N/A
HRE Lam Ka Po 5/5 TiEA TR TER 17 1
N/A N/A N/A
BEY So Chi Man (retired on 2/2 T TER TEE i 0/0
(201756 A 26 BRE) 26 June 2017) N/A N/A N/A
FYTES Non-Executive Directors
BER Wong Chi Kin (appointed with  3/3 T TR TEH 1 11
(BZEUR201753R24BEH)  effect from 24 March 2017) N/A N/A N/A
SEX Yung Chung Man (retiredon ~ 1/2 TEA TEH TEH 1 0/0
(1201756 A 26 BRE) 26 June 2017) N/A N/A N/A
BUFHTES Independent Non-
Executive Directors
SR Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung 5/5 2/2 TR 11 11 01
N/A
58 cBs P Ma Ho Fai GBS JP 5/5 202 17 17 11 1
Eak Mak Ka Ling (appointed with ~~ 3/4 1/1 0/0 0/0 1/1 1/1
(BZIYR2017E5A5R45H)  effect from 5 May 2017)
BREIE sBsJp Chan Chi Fai Andrew $B5Jp 12 171 171 TER 0/ 0/0
(R2017F6 A 26 BEFR) (retired on 26 June 2017) N/A
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Name of Directors

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

A comprehensive, formal and tailored induction training will be
given to every newly appointed Director, if any. Directors will
be provided with materials relevant to the Company’s business
and director’s duties and responsibilities. In addition, in order
to allow the Directors to understand the latest development of
regulatory and compliance issues, they are also provided with
market news and regulatory updates. A summary of their
records of continuous development training during the year
ended 31 December 2017 is as follows:

b

LR =0 -V Ve
RIEELEER
BRZERER
Attending trainings/

briefings/seminars/
conference/

reading regulatory
updates relevant to
corporate governance

HITES Executive Directors

AN Lam Tak Hing, Vincent N

MRE Lam Ka Po N

FHITES Non-Executive Director

BER Wong Chi Kin N

BYFEBITES Independent Non-Executive Directors

SRR Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung N

B5IE GBS P Ma Ho Fai GBS JP N

B Mak Ka Ling N
EEEREE BOARD COMMITTEES

FFRERTT=EEAE  DEHERY
REZEGRHMERS - TREMEET
EUSERRETRENEH -

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. The table below provides membership information
of these committees on which each Director serves.

EEgZEE
Board Committees
EIFEE® EEZE® FMZEEE
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee
IR Lam Tak Hing, Vincent N/A C M
B Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung C N/A M
BX1B GBS UP Ma Ho Fai GBS JP M M C
B Mak Ka Ling M M M
Htat - Notes:
C $EB§§$§§%%EEIE C Chairman of the relevant Board Committees
M HHEFEZEEKE M Member of the relevant Board Committees
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was established on 6 December 2014
and currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, Ma Ho Fai GBS JP,
and Mak Ka Ling.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include (1) to
review the Company’s financial statements and reports, the
changes in accounting policies and practices, and the
compliance with applicable accounting standards, the Listing
Rules and legal requirements; (2) to oversee the Group's
financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; and (3) to review the services and appointment
of the Company’s external auditor, the nature and scope of
auditing, and the related audit fees. The terms of reference of
Audit Committee are available on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee met twice during the year under review.
During the meetings, the Audit Committee (i) reviewed the
interim and annual financial statements and reports; (ii)
discussed and reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems; (iii) reviewed the corporate governance issues;
(iv) reviewed the continuing connected transactions; and (v)
made recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of
the external auditor.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ma Ho Fai GBS JP and Mak Ka Ling and one
executive Director, namely, Lam Tak Hing, Vincent.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include (1)
to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company'’s
corporate strategy; (2) to report to the Board the composition
of the Board members and monitor the implementation of the
policy on board diversity; (3) to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; (4) to assess the independence of
independent non-executive Director; and (5) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive of
the Company. The terms of reference of Nomination
Committee are available on the Company’s website.

Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
under review. During the meeting, Nomination Committee (i)
reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board; (i) reviewed the independence of independent non-
executive directors; (iii) made recommendations to the Board
on the proposed re-election of the retiring Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting; and (iv) made
recommendation to the Board on the appointment of Director.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, Ma Ho Fai
GBS JP and Mak Ka Ling and one executive Director, namely,
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include (1)
to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management's
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (2)
to review and approve the management's remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objectives; (3) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management; and (4) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The
terms of reference of Remuneration Committee are available
on the Company’s website.

Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year
under review. During the meeting, Remuneration Committee (i)
reviewed and made recommendations on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management; and (ii)
proposed the remuneration for the newly appointed Director.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Company in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards. The Directors confirm that suitable
accounting policies have been used and applied consistently,
and reasonable and prudent judgment and estimates have
been made in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. The Board is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may affect
the business of the Company or cast doubts on its ability to
continue as a going concern.

The external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers,

acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the independent
auditors’ report on pages 73 and 80.
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Risk Assessment
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Risk Management and Internal Control

Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain, and review the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, where management
is responsible for the design and implementation of the risk
management and internal control systems to manage risk.

A sound and effective system of risk management and internal
control is designed to achieve the Group's strategic objectives
and safeguard shareholder investments and the Group's assets.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve strategic objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The Board has the overall responsibilities of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. With
the support from the Audit Committee, the Board monitors the
Group's risk exposures, oversees the actions of management
and monitors the overall effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems on an ongoing basis. Management
is responsible for setting the appropriate tone from the top,
performing risk assessments, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Policies
and procedures form the basis and set forth the control
standards required for functioning of the Group’s business
entities. These policies and procedures covered various
aspects, including operations, finance & accounting, human
resources, regulatory & compliance, delegation of authority,
etc.

Risk Management and Enterprise-wide Risk Assessment

4. RIERE

Risk Report
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following categories:
business & strategic,
operational, and
regulatory compliance.

1. PR Y

Risk Identification

HHHEEREEFERAR 2017 F#

* Identify the Group's key ziﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁ@ﬂ
risks in each of the RERH

FHERBRIZE MRS

Design risk assessment
questionnaire to
understand and assess
the risk level of each key
risk and whether the
Group's existing
procedures and controls
are adequate.

J

44

* Propose and recommend

mitigating controls for
each identified key risk
and assist process owners
or business units to
implement relevant
remedial measures.

3. MBEFES

Risk Response

EWMMETARENR -

e Reportto the Board and
senior management on
the implementation of the
remedial measures.

o BUERNITMMEEE -

e Follow-up on the
implementation status of
these remedial measures.

J
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An annual enterprise-wide risk assessment has been performed
to evaluate the nature and extent of the risks to which the
Group is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives.
During the risk assessment process, the Group has identified a
number of key risks that may impact the Group's strategic
objectives in responding to the changes in the business and
external environment. These risks are prioritized according to
the likelihood of their occurrence and the significance of their
impact on the business of the Group. Moreover, remedial
measures and mitigating controls are developed to manage
these risks to an acceptable level.

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Department is led by the Internal Audit
Manager, who reports directly to the Audit Committee. The
Internal Audit Department is primarily responsible for
conducting internal audit reviews on operational, financial and
compliance controls of the operating entities to ensure their
compliance with the Group's risk management and internal
control policies and procedures.

Internal Audit Department is independent from operation
management and has full access to data required in performing
internal audit reviews. Audits are conducted according to the
three-year internal audit plan approved by the Audit
Committee to review our major operational, financial,
compliance and risk management controls. In 2017, Internal
Audit Department performed audits on the key operating
entities located in China and Hong Kong.

During the process of the internal audits, the Internal Audit
Department identified internal control deficiencies and
weaknesses and proposed recommendations for
improvements. Internal audit findings and control deficiencies
are communicated to internal audit team and the management,
who is responsible for ensuring the deficiencies are rectified
within a reasonable period. A follow-up review is also
performed to ensure the remedial actions are implemented.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholder investments and Group assets and with the support
of the Audit Committee, reviewing the effectiveness of such
systems on an annual basis.
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Key or major business units are required to perform an annual
control self-assessment to assess the effectiveness of their
internal control system within its key business processes. The
control self-assessment performed is in the form of a
questionnaire that sets out the key risks and corresponding
controls for each of key business process. The Internal Audit
Department reviews the completed control self-assessment
questionnaires and provide comments and recommendations
for management of the business units’ consideration.

During the year, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and considered the risk management and
internal control systems effective and adequate. In addition,
the Board has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, and
their training programmes and budget.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination
of Inside Information

The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant sections
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and Listing Rules. An
Inside Information Disclosure Policy has been established to lay
down practical guidelines on definition and the scope of inside
information; disclosure and management framework;
exemptions for disclosure; receiving, reporting and disclosing
of inside information; confidentiality and records of such
information. Pursuant to the Inside Information Disclosure
Policy, staff who have access to inside information are required
to follow the Inside Information Disclosure Policy to keep the
unpublished inside information strictly confidential until such
inside information has been officially announced to the public
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Board will review and approve the inside information to be
disclosed and the Company Secretary has the responsibility to
monitor and communicate with professional parties such as our
external lawyer and auditor during the process of inside
information discussion and announcement preparation.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the fee payable to the
external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in
respect of audit and non-audit services is set out below:

2017 &

2017

FET

HKD'000

ZE RS - Audit Services: 3,468

FIERZER TS Non-Audit Services 400
BEEETESERS DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
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The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and that all
the Directors confirmed their compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. lp Pui Sum (“Mr. Ip”), the Company Secretary, is an external
service provider to the Company and a Certified Public
Accountant practicing in Hong Kong. Mr. Ip's primary contact
person at the Company is Mr. Lam Ka Po, the Executive
Director of the Company. During the year, Mr. Ip has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update
his skills and knowledge. The Company Secretary reports to the
Board on corporate governance matters and is responsible for
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable law, rules
and regulations are followed. All Board members have access
to the advice and services of Company Secretary.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company actively promotes effective communications with
shareholders and investors through the publication of notices,
announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports on a
timely manner via the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Board encourages shareholders to attend general meetings
to communicate any concerns they might have with the Board
or management directly. The Company has also maintained a
shareholders’ communication policy, details of which are
available on the Company’s website under Corporate
Governance section.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Company’s articles of
association, general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more members of the Company
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event that the Company ceases to have
such a principal place of business, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may
be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of association
or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for shareholders to
move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of the
Company, please refer to the procedures posted on the
Company'’s website.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For put forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company,
details are as follow:

Address: 16/F, Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower, 1 Kornhill
Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Email: ir@asiaray.com

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year, the Company has not made any changes to its
articles of association.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) have pleasure
in presenting their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in the financial statements on page 88.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on page 83.

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HKDO0.10 per
share for the year ended 31 December 2017 payable on or
around Friday, 27 July 2018 to the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”) whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Friday, 29 June 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017 is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”, and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 17 to 19 and
pages 20 to 32 respectively of this annual report.

The Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations
that have significant impact on the Group, which are provided
in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 37 to 49 of
this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
For the year ended 31 December 2017, no environmental
exceedances were recorded and there was no non-compliance
in relation to environmental and social aspects. Given the
business nature, the Group recognizes its daily operation has
an impact to the environment. The Group is highly committed
to make continuous efforts on efficient use of natural resources,
promotion of energy conservation in its operations and offices,
as well as minimization of its overall emissions on the
environment. Engagement with stakeholders has resulted in
raised concerns on key material issues, which include:
Employment, Occupational Health and Safety, Development
and Training, Consumer Data Protection and Customer Service.
The Group will continue to identify areas of improvement for
the concerned aspects and keep close communication with its
stakeholders for advancing environmental, social and
governance management.



EEEE S REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

AARBREERFEER ™R AN
B TIBEEE2017F12A31MHIESF

BZR% - e RERRE -

[N
KABREE2017F12A31BEFEZ R
NEBFHEHNE T IERERWT19 -

EFEUBRE
AEBSOREVRFEZES  EERA
EREHNAFRE2178 -

A 2k

R2017F12 8318 » AR WA # 5 IK
4 A5822H EXEL(20164F  682.8BH B
PETT) °

FEEFRMEERS
REBZ2017F12A3MBIEFE AEBH
REPIERFIWAE.3%(20164F : 9.6%) -
HbZAEFMEEMEAR2.5% (2016 F ¢
2.7%) - AEBAKRNEER (M AEEERE
B AU AR AR #952.3% (2016 F -
54.8%) + B & A SRR IR A A8
14.7% (2016 %F : 17.3%) °

BAAREEN BIEER RELETHE
ABREMBER(LEERA - EEARF 5%
NERAR)EREERREFP R EETHES
e -

BE
FAMBEAFHAY  ARAEER:

HITES

MEEEE (EERERNTE)
MRBEE(HELEE)

BRESCEE (2017 6 A 26 BIRIE)

FHITES
BEEEA (A2017F3 24 HEERT)
GBS (R 2017E 6 A 26 ARE)

The Company will separately publish the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report for the year ended 31 December 2017
in compliance with Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules in due
course.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in note
19 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 217 of this
annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2017, the Company'’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HKD582.2 million
(2016: HKD682.8 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group's top
five largest customers accounted for 9.3% (2016: 9.6%) of our
revenues and the single largest customer accounted for 2.5%
(2016: 2.7%) of our revenues. The Group's top five suppliers,
who were the media resources owners, accounted for 52.3%
(2016: 54.8%) of our cost of revenue and the single largest
supplier accounted for 14.7% (2016: 17.3%) of our cost of
revenue.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
has any interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lam Ka Po (Chief Operations Officer)

Mr. So Chi Man (retired on 26 June 2017)

Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Chi Kin (appointed on 24 March 2017)
Mr. Yung Chung Man (retired on 26 June 2017)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Ms. Mak Ka Ling (appointed on 5 May 2017)

Professor Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP
(retired on 26 June 2017)

Pursuant to Article 16 of the Company’s articles of association,
one-third of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at least once every three years at the annual
general meeting ("AGM") of the Company.

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent and Mr. Lam Ka Po shall retire by
rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, Mr. Lam Tak Hing,
Vincent and Mr. Lam Ka Po, who are being eligible and offer
themselves for re-election at AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set on the basis of the
employees’ merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
reviewed by the remuneration committee, with consideration
to the Group'’s operation results and individual performance.
The Company has adopted a share option scheme to the
eligible persons as an incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group, details of which are set out in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Group.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share Option Scheme

The fair values of share options issued are measured on the
grant date based on the fair value of the underlying shares. The
valuation of the fair values of share options issued mainly
involves management judgments and estimates about
significant inputs subject to volatility, dividend yield, annual
risk-free interest rate etc. Changes in these estimates and
assumptions could have a material effect on the determination
of the fair value of the share options, which may in turn impact
the determination of the share options expenses. Details of the
share option scheme have been set out on pages 58 to 62 of
this annual report.

Perpetual Subordinated Convertible Securities ("PSCS")

On 7 September 2017, the Company and Space Management
Limited (“Space Management”), a company incorporated
under the laws of the British Virgin Islands, being a controlling
shareholder of the Company holding 17.73% of the existing
issued share capital of the Company at that time entered into
the subscription agreement in relation to the subscription of
PSCS in the principal amount of HKD50,000,000 convertible
into conversion shares at the initial conversion Price of HKD3.54
per conversion share (subject to adjustments) in two tranches at
the face value of HKD30,000,000 and HKD20,000,000
respectively (the “Subscription Agreement”).

On 10 November 2017, the Company and the Space
Management entered into the supplemental agreement,
pursuant to which the Company and the Space Management
agreed to amend certain terms of the subscription agreement
which include, among others, amendments, to the material
effects that the call for the Space Management to subscribe for
the second tranche of the PSCS shall be subject to the
independent shareholders’ approval (the “Supplemental
Agreement”). The subscription of the first tranche of PSCS was
completed on 28 December 2017. As at 31 December 2017,
no subscription right attached to the first tranche of PSCS was
exercised and the PSCS in the principal amount of
HKD30,000,000 was outstanding.
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RERD A& K Ath BB - K ARRATRRES 2 Assuming there are no other changes, the shareholding
BEREREITRE  RNRAFZRERESN structure of the Company upon the PSCS rights being exercised
N in full are as follows:

REE-HRE-MAXRR
BHE-HAARBTRRES UTRRISFMTZIREE

#2017512A318 MEzRBREERRTER BRUTHE
Immediately upon
exercise in full of the Immediately upon exercise in
subscription rights full of the subscription rights
attached to the 1+t tranche attached to the 1* and 2
Shareholders As at 31 December 2017 of PSCS tranches of PSCS
BB BREDL BRI
= (%) RH#E (%) RHEE (%)
Approximate Approximate Approximate
Number of  percentage =~ Number of  percentage Number  percentage
Shares (%) Shares (%) of Shares (%)
HER Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
((HE£EDO (“Mr. Lam") 320,001,000 727 328,475,576 73.2 334,125,293 73.6
Media Cornerstone Media Cornerstone
Limited Limited 242,000,000 55.0 242,000,000 53.9 242,000,000 533
Space Management Space Management 78,001,000 17.7 86,475,576 19.3 92,125,293 20.3
ARRR Public Shareholders 119,999,000 27.3 119,999,000 26.8 119,999,000 26.4
@t Total 440,000,000 100 448,474,576 100 454,124,293 100

Hat - Notes:

1. M5 & & Space Management Limited ([ Space 1. Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management Limited
Management |) ) 1 — % 3R © Space Management ("Space Management”). Space Management holds interest in
R86,475,576Mx Bk 15 R B &= H & 86,475,576 Shares with 78,001,000 shares in actual Shares and
78,001,000 % A E R (- A RAR IR B 18 conversion rights of 8,474,576 Shares pursuant to the completion of
FE 16 5 TR TR MO SR IB A SE A SR B B — HE KA the first tranche of subscription of PSCS under the Subscription
IRAR AT AP B SR E R A T 2 8,474,576 B Agreement supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement. The
5 o REEE ZHOK AR R AT IR AR 8 5 /) R % 1 conversion rights of further 5,649,717 Shares from the subscription of
B2 590 5,649,717 IR AR A7 BB S AR R AL/ the second tranche of PSCS shall be subject to the independent
JIRIMERE © Uboh » RS Shalom Trust (B — shareholders approval. In addition, Mr. Lam is the founder of the
HEMEEURER T ASNHERLHZRIERT Shalom Trust (a discretionary trust established by Mr. Lam as settlor
5 A B UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited » 525 A 8l of which UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited acts as the trustee and
BMEERAN - BB TFTREK B &AL B0 beneficiaries of which are Mr. Lam, certain of his family members and
ABE A A L) BIBIHEA + Shalom Trust B other persons who may be added from time to time) which indirectly
A Media Cornerstone Limited ([ Media holds the entire issued share capital of Media Cornerstone Limited
Cornerstone]) & B 2 % 7 it AX + 11 Media (“Media Cornerstone”) which holds 242,000,000 Shares. By virtue of
Cornerstone ¥ & 242,000,000 i% A% 1 < 18 1% & the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Space
5 REE GRS - AR SH Space Management Management and Media Cornerstone are interested.

% Media Cornerstone A ### H) IR 15 G 1
B BT ARM AT EE 5 2 FF 15 Details of above PSCS issue are set out in note 21 to the
RE BB R M 21 - consolidated financial statements.
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Non-listed Warrants

On 10 October 2016, the Company entered into a strategic
alliance agreement (the “Strategic Alliance Agreement”) with
Great World HK Media Pte. Ltd. (“Great World HK") to enhance
the business collaboration between the Company and L
Catterton Management Limited, a private equity firm formed
by LVMH Moét Hennessy Louis Vuitton S.A., Catterton
Holdings, L.L.C. and Groupe Arnault SAS. On the same day,
the Company and Great World HK entered into a subscription
agreement (as amended and supplemented by a supplemental
agreement dated 13 October 2016) in relation to the allotment
of 10,000,000 warrants at an issue price of HKDO.3 per warrant
to Great World HK for an initial warrant exercise price of
HKD4.10 per warrant share for a subscription period of 3 years
commencing from 29 December 2016. The aggregate warrant
issue price in the amount of HKD3,000,000 was regarded as
the consideration in the amount of HKD3,000,000 payable by
the Company to Great World HK under the Strategic Alliance
Agreement. The subscription agreement and the creation and
issue of 10,000,000 warrants were approved by the
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 22 December 2016. As at 31 December
2017, the outstanding non-listed warrants were 10,000,000
warrants and in which the subscription rights had not been
exercised.

The then Directors were of the view that the said issuance of
non-listed warrants represented a good opportunity to raise
additional funding for the Company while broadening the
capital of the Company. In addition to the business
opportunities contemplated under the Strategic Alliance
Agreement, equity capital will be raised upon the exercise of
the subscription rights attaching to the non-listed warrants by
the holder(s) thereof during the subscription period of the non-
listed warrants.
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Assuming there are no other changes, the shareholding
structure of the Company upon the Warrants rights being
exercised in full are as follows:

BERRERM T2
RIBEERITER
Immediately upon
exercise in full of the
subscription rights
As at 31 December 2017 attached to the Warrants

M2017F12831H

OB BABDE

REE (%) KRB E (%)
Approximate Approximate

Number of percentage = Number of percentage
Shares (%) Shares (%)
320,001,000 72.7 320,001,000 711
119,999,000 27.3 129,999,000 28.9
23,609,000 54 33,609,000 7.5
96,390,000 21.9 96,390,000 21.4
440,000,000 100 450,000,000 100

Assuming the non-listed warrants are exercised in full by the
subscriber, the net proceeds of the issuance of non-listed
warrants will be approximately HKD40,700,000, which will be
used as general working capital of the Company.

Details of above warrant issue are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management which
holds 78,001,000 Shares. In addition, Mr. Lam is the founder of
the Shalom Trust (a discretionary trust established by Mr. Lam
as settlor of which UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited acts as the trustee
and beneficiaries of which are Mr. Lam, certain of his family
members and other persons who may be added from time to
time) which indirectly holds the entire issued share capital of
Media Cornerstone which holds 242,000,000 Shares. By virtue
of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the Shares in
which Space Management and Media Cornerstone are
interested.
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a controlled corporation

EREBA

Beneficial owner
MRE ERBEAA
Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner
SRE ExBEBA
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung Beneficial owner
E518 68sup ERBAA
Ma Ho Fai GBS JP Beneficial owner

Biet -

1. e & B 5 H78,001,0000% A% 19 ) Space
Management ) Mt — AR B o L4 MR &£ R
Shalom Trust (B —IHBMWEEATER T AH
ML 2SR - R FEARUBS Trustee (BVI)
Limited * Zzm ABIBMEERA « HBEF KK
KB RAIRE TR AR E A A L) BRI A -
Shalom Trust fE1#45 4 Media Cornerstone & &0
B % 17 & & i Media Cornerstone$d &
242,000,000 AR AR 17 © 1RIEEH K EEEG] - #
¥ ] A # Space Management & Media
Cornerstone A # s B AR 10 R G #E s ©

2. 72017412 8318 - B #1774 440,000,000
RRASAD o

B
Ll "R

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE
COMPANY, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company and their
associate in the shares of the Company (“Shares”), underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers ("Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”), were as follows:

120175

12A31H

APRERIT

RASTETA IR 13 B RAEZ8A
(BRE) R A Bak@
Approximate

percentage of

issued share

Total capital of
number of the Company
Equity Shares and as at
Number of derivative underlying 31 December
Shares  (share options) Shares 20172
328,475,576(L) &/ 328,475,576(L" 74.65%
Nil
i 4,400,000(L) 4,400,000(L) 1.00%
Nil
i 1,278,000(L) 1,278,000(L) 0.29%
Nil
i 100,000(L) 100,000(L) 0.02%
Nil
i 100,000(L) 100,000(L) 0.02%
Nil
Notes:
1. Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management which holds

78,001,000 Shares. In addition, Mr. Lam is the founder of the Shalom
Trust (a discretionary trust established by Mr. Lam as settlor of which
UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited acts as the trustee and beneficiaries of
which are Mr. Lam, certain of his family members and other persons
who may be added from time to time) which indirectly holds the
entire issued share capital of Media Cornerstone which holds
242,000,000 Shares. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Space Management and Media
Cornerstone are interested.

2. As at 31 December 2017, the issued share capital was 440,000,000
Shares.

Abbreviation:
“L" stands for long position
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
which are required to be notified to the Company and Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company's share option scheme was adopted pursuant to
a Shareholders’ resolution in writing passed on 6 December
2014 (the “Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons as defined in the
Scheme for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Group. The Scheme took effect on 15 January 2015 and will
expire on 14 January 2025.

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer to any
employee of the Group, options to subscribe for shares of the
Company subject to the terms and conditions stipulated in the
Scheme.

(a) Purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Board to
provide incentives or rewards to the eligible persons for
their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

(b) Participants of the Scheme

Pursuant to the Scheme, the board of the Company may
at its absolute discretion grant options to any eligible
employee, a supplier of goods or services to any member
of the Group or any director or employee of such
supplier, customer, any advisory, consultancy or
professional services to any member of the Group or any
director or employee of such entity (including any
director, whether executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not, of the Company or its subsidiaries)
who is in full-time or part-time employment with the
Company or its subsidiaries at the time when an option is
granted to such employee, or any person who, in the sole
discretion of the Board, have contributed or may
contribute to the Group.
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P2017F12A318 » RABHKH
15,934,875 0 B AR #E - 12,736,875
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BUARA 2 REHIR -

(c)

(d)

(e)

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme

As at 31 December 2017, a total of 15,934,875 share
options were granted by the Company, of which
12,736,875 share options have not been exercised and
3,198,000 share options were lapsed. An ordinary
resolution was passed at the annual general meeting on 1
June 2016 relating to the refreshment of scheme mandate
limit of the share option to 44,000,000 shares,
representing 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and
any other schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30%
of the total number of shares of the Company in issue
from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant
(including those exercised, outstanding and cancelled
options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue,
unless approved by the shareholders of the Company in
the manner as stipulated in the Scheme.

Time of exercise of options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on the date on which the
offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in any
event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. No minimum period for which the option must
be held before it can be exercised as specified in the
Scheme.
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(f

(9)

(h)

The subscription price per share

The subscription price per share in respect of an option
granted under the Scheme is such price as determined by
the Board of the Company at the time of the grant of the
options, but in any case the subscription price shall not
be lower than the higher of:

*  the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

. the price being the average closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and

*  the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Payment on acceptance of option

A non-refundable sum of HKD10 or other amount as
determined by the board of the Company by way of
consideration for the grant of an option is required to be
paid by each of the grantee upon acceptance of the
option.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme will expire on 14 January 2025 and no further
options may be granted but the provisions of the Scheme
shall in all other respects remain in force and effect and
options which are granted during the life of the Scheme
may continue to exercise in accordance with their
respective terms of grant.
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TRERMABREZZE The following table discloses movements in the share options
during the period:

HIBAR ARG 2 BRE

Option to subscribe for shares of the Company

#2017 & #2017 &
1818 MR 128318 BRTER
ERARBIISE g HARY XXREE  BRTE ] B
Balance Lapsed/ Balance Exercise
as at Granted  cancelled  Exercised as at price per
Category or Name 1January duringthe duringthe during the 31 December share
of Grantees Date of grant 2017 period period period 2017  Exercise period HKD
TRABRRETS
Executive Share Option Plan
WEE 201555A21H 4,400,000 - - - 4400000 201651 A18% 6.95
2020F6A9BM
Mr. Lam 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020
EEREMERRESR
Employee and Contributor
Share Option Plan
HRE 201545821 F 1,278,000 - - - 1278000 2016F181BE 6.95
2020F6A9B8M
Lam Ka Po 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020"
B 201565A21H 100,000 - - - 100000 201651 818% 6.95
20206 A9BM
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020
H5E aes op 201565A21H 100,000 - - - 100,000 2016%1A1HZ 6.95
2020F6A9R M
Ma Ho Fai GBS JP 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020"
HEX 201554218 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 2016F1A1BZE 6.95
2020F6A98M
So Chi Man® 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020"
HHXO 201565A21H 2,000,000 - (2,000,000) - & 016F1A18% 6.95
Nil 2020F6A9BM
Yung Chung Man® 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020"
I8 sBS U 201565A21H 100,000 - (100,000) - &  016F1A18% 6.95
Nil 2020F6A9B1
Chan Chi Fai Andrew $BS JP® 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016-
9 Jun 2020"
EERERE 2015458210 6,168,625 - (609,750) - 5558875 201651A1HE 6.95
2020F6A98M
Employees and contributors 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020"
15,446,625 - (2,709,750) - 12,736,875
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(a) 30% 10 5 AR HE AT 2 2016 551 A1
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HMITEE B2017F 6 A26 AR -
WEZBRAENEFREBRR -
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ZEEANRE
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All the above share options granted are exercisable during the
following periods:

(a) 30% of the share options shall be exercisable from 1
January 2016 to 9 June 2020 (both days inclusive); and

the remaining 70% of the share options shall be
exercisable from 1 January 2017 to 9 June 2020 (both
days inclusive).

The closing price per share immediately before the date of
grant was HKD6.93. Details of the value of options granted as
above is set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statement.

Mr. So Chi Man retired as an executive director of the
Company and remained as a consultant to the Company with
effect from 26 June 2017. His share options are still
exercisable.

Mr. Yung Chung Man retired as a non-executive director of the
Company and Professor Chan Chi Fai Andrew sBS JP retired as
an independent non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 26 June 2017. Their share options were lapsed
after their retirement.

The share options were held by certain grantees who ceased
to be the employees of the Group during the year.
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FERRRROREBERG 2 #ES
RxR

MN2017F12A318H * MFATREARQT R
DRBEBRODEEREEFLBEKRIE
336 IEBHFEZERMAP Rz ESsSAR ¢

RBROREERG ZFR

Name of Shareholders

ML

Mr. Lam

Media Cornerstone Limited
Media Cornerstone Limited

Shalom Family Holding Limited
Shalom Family Holding Limited

UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited
UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited

Space Management Limited
Space Management Limited

Great World HK Pte. Ltd.
Great World HK Pte. Ltd.

L Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd.
L Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd.

L Capital Asia 2 LP
L Capital Asia 2 LP

L Capital Asia 2 GP
L Capital Asia 2 GP

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

Section 336 of

the SFO:

As at 31 December 2017, the following persons had an interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company recorded in the register required to be kept under

Long positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares

510 HENEE

Capacity/Nature of interest

EREFENAIRA R
AR HE B R s

Founder of a discretionary trust
and interest in a controlled
corporation

BEHERA

Beneficial owner

BEoEA A
Beneficial owner

RERFEE RS

Number of
shares

328,475,576 (L)

4,400,000 (L)

242,000,000 (L)?

242,000,000 (L)?

Interest in a controlled corporation

Shalom Trust X 3EA
Trustee of Shalom Trust

EnEA A
Beneficial owner

BEoEAA
Beneficial owner

RERFEE RS

242,000,000 (L)?

86,475,576 (L)B9

33,609,000 (L)®

33,609,000 (L)®

Interest in a controlled corporation

RERFEE RS

33,609,000 (L)®

Interest in a controlled corporation

RERFEE RS

33,609,000 (L)®

Interest in a controlled corporation

Asiaray Media Group Limited

RARQF
EBRITRAZ

BOBDe
Approximate
percentage of
issued share
capital in

the Company®

74.65%

1.00%

55.00%

55.00%

55.00%

19.65%

7.64%

7.64%

7.64%

7.64%
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S AR 20154 5 A 21 H % % T 4,400,000 1%
ERE - FEFHE  RARATFRIBEREE

—ffe

2. Media Cornerstone #5 5 242,000,000 A& & 17 <
Media Cornerstone Fi Shalom Family Holding
Limited ([Shalom Family]) & & # & m
Shalom Family 8| 5 & # {55 Shalom Trust 2 &
A o Shalom Trust B MM EEERBMER T A
I UBS Trustees (BVI) Limited {E &5 55 ABKIL ©
Family Trust 222 ABMELE - HETR
PR B R AT RE TR ANA B E A & o IR IR H
REEKRO X5 AHEIER B RMedia
Cornerstone 5 # z IR 1) G 1% o

3. MK E R FF 586,475,576 Ik 1 #Space
Management & Iff — i% 5+ E 5 78,001,000 f&
REBRRG  URBESBABEIHEZOHR
g TR RES K ARRATRRESD
HNRIES K 2 8,474,576 BRARAD -

4. 201749 A7 B * Space Management 5L 3
KRB AT R E H T R e - AR IR
NH R E SRR 3.54 87T - DRMBLE
7N 4 58 45 50,000,000 7 IT 2 2K AR 4% 7] 2 AR
% % k@ A 5 B A30,000000% T &
20,000,000% 70 2 # AR BR 19 o 55 —H#E R E R
2017612 A28 A5 - ME —#HREAFE
SRRBLES AIEE - BEARTE ©

5. Great World HK Media Pte Ltd. ([ Great
World]) B L Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd. ([LC Pte])
% & # A °LC PteH L Capital Asia 2 LP([L
Capl) 2B %% o L CapHiL Capital Asia 2 GP
([LCap Asia) 2B A - REEFRBPERK
il » Great World » LC Pte ~ L Cap & L Cap Asia
B RPN BB © Great World AE 7
BB AF1¥575 33,609,000 MR - B
# 10,000,000 1% & 17 ( & 7 2016F 12 A29 H
BATHEEMATAE TR UREHE -

6. R2017F12A31H B & 7 K & B
440,000,000 A& A& 15 ©

CEE
L] BiFm

B EXCRTHEEETEE SN R2017F 128318 -
I E A A TR B SARBE L 0 R B AR R
BHERBEKRMEIGGETE 2 E LT
BRI E o

HOEEEEEEBRAG  2017F8/ 64

Notes:

Mr. Lam was granted 4,400,000 share options on 21 May 2015. For
further details, please refer to the section headed “Share Option
Scheme" of this annual report.

The 242,000,000 Shares held by Media Cornerstone. Media
Cornerstone is wholly owned by Shalom Family Holding Limited
(“Shalom Family”), which is in turn wholly owned by the Shalom Trust,
discretionary trust. The Shalom Trust established by Mr. Lam as
settlor and UBS Trustees (BVI) Limited as trustee. The discretionary
beneficiaries of the Family Trust are Mr. Lam, certain of his family
members and other persons who may be added from time to time.
By virtue of the SFO, the Trustee is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Media Cornerstone is interested in.

Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management which holds
86,475,576 Shares with 78,001,000 shares in actual Shares and
conversion rights of 8,474,576 Shares pursuant to the completion of
the first tranche of subscription of PSCS under the Subscription
Agreement supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement.

On 7 September 2017, Space Management entered into the
subscription agreement in relation to the subscription of PSCS where
they are entitled to convert the principal amount of HKD50,000,000
into conversion shares at the initial conversion price of HKD3.54 per
conversion share in two tranches at the face value of HKD30,000,000
and HKD20,000,000 respectively. The first tranche of subscription
was completed on 28 December 2017 while the second tranche of
subscription shall be subject to the independent shareholders’
approval and is not yet completed.

Great World HK Media Pte Ltd. (“Great World"”) is wholly owned by L
Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd. ("LC Pte"”). LC Pte is wholly owned by L
Capital 2 LP ("L Cap”). L Cap is wholly owned by L Capital Asia 2 GP
("L Cap Asia”). By virtue of the SFO, Great World, LC Pte, L Cap, and
L Cap Asia are deemed to be interested in the shares. Great World
held long position in 33,609,000 shares in capacity as beneficial
owner of these shares. 10,000,000 shares of which are non-listed
derivatives issued on 29 December 2016, which will be cash settled.

As at 31 December 2017, the issued share capital was 440,000,000
Shares.

Abbreviations:

“L" stands for long position

Save
no ot

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, there were
her persons who had an interest or short position in the

Shares, or underlying Shares which recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the following transactions, no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company or his or her
connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the financial year:

(i) the tenancy agreements between Shanghai Asiaray
Advertising Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, and Asiaray China Media
Limited, as landlord, to lease the office in Shanghai for
RMB114,000 per month for a term of three years from 1 July
2017 to 30 June 2020 (both days inclusive); and Beijing Asiaray
Advertising Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, and Billion China
International Limited, as landlord, to lease the office in Beijing
for RMB347,300 per month for a term of three years from 1 July
2017 to 30 June 2020 (both days inclusive) as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2017; and

(ii) the tenancy agreements between Genesis Printing and
Production Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, as tenant, and Peaky Limited, as landlord, to lease
the warehouse and car parking space in Hong Kong on 1
September 2017 for HKD30,000 per month for a term of two
years and ten months from 1 September 2017 to 30 June 2020
(both days inclusive); and Hong Kong Asiaray Advertising
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
as tenant, and Peaky Limited, as landlord, to lease the
warehouse in Hong Kong on 1 February 2016 for HKD 14,000
per month for a term of two years from 1 March 2016 to 28
February 2018 (both days inclusive), as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 1 September 2017, all of
which Mr. Lam was interested in, as at the 31 December 2017.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. Lam, Media Cornerstone, Space Management and Shalom
Family (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) entered
into a deed of non-competition dated 22 December 2014 with
the Company (the “Deed of Non-competition”). Pursuant to
the Deed of Non-competition, each of the Controlling
Shareholders has undertaken that, among other things, he/it
shall not and shall procure his/its associates not to, either alone
or jointly with any other person or entity, or for any other
person, firm or company, or as principal, partner, director,
employee, consultant or agent through any body corporate,
partnership, joint venture or other contractual arrangement, be
engaged, invested, or otherwise involved, whether as a
shareholder, director, employee, partner, agent or otherwise,
directly or indirectly, in the carrying on of any business in any
form or manner in Hong Kong or the PRC in competition or
likely to be in competition, directly or indirectly, with the
business operated by the Group in Hong Kong or the PRC. Mr.
Lam has further undertaken that he shall procure Main Element
Profits Limited to exercise all its voting power in Taiwan Asiaray
Advertising Holdings Company Limited* (& /& # {+ # & &5 i (0
B B 2 7)) (“Taiwan Asiaray”) to ensure that the business of
Taiwan Asiaray will not expand outside Taiwan. Details of the
Deed of Non competition are set out in the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-
Competition Undertakings” of the prospectus of the Company
dated 31 December 2014.

The Company has received confirmations from the Controlling
Shareholders of their compliance with the Deed of Non
competition for the year ended 31 December 2017 (the
“Confirmations”). The independent non-executive directors of
the Company have been provided with all necessary
information and have reviewed the Confirmations and are
satisfied that the Deed of Non-competition was complied with
and was effectively enforced during the year ended 31
December 2017.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group did not
have any significant investments.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures by the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties
regarded as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting
principles. These mainly relate to contracts entered into by the
Group in the ordinary course of business, which contracts were
negotiated on normal commercial terms and on an arm’s length
basis. Further details are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Some of these transactions also constituted “"Connected
Transaction” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” under
the Listing Rules, as identified below.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 7 September 2017, the Company and Space Management,
a company incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin
Islands, being a controlling shareholder of the Company
holding 17.73% of the existing issued share capital of the
Company at that time, entered into the subscription agreement
in relation to the subscription of PSCS in the principal amount
of HKD50,000,000 convertible into conversion shares at the
initial conversion Price of HKD3.54 per conversion share
(subject to adjustments) in two tranches at the face value of
HKD30,000,000 and HKD20,000,000 respectively. Since Space
Management is a controlling shareholder of the Company and
the sole ultimate beneficial owner of Space Management is Mr.
Lam, who is an executive Director and the controlling
shareholder of the Company. The Subscriber is therefore a
connected person of the Company and the subscription
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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On 10 November 2017, the Company and the Space
Management entered into the supplemental agreement,
pursuant to which the Company and the Space Management
agreed to amend certain terms of the subscription agreement
which include, among others, amendments, to the material
effects that the call for the Space Management to subscribe for
the second tranche of the PSCS shall be subject to the
independent shareholders’ approval. The subscription of the
first tranche of PSCS was completed on 28 December 2017.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 7 September 2017 and 10 November 2017, and the
circular of the Company dated 29 November 2017.

Details of above subscription of PSCS are set out in note 21 to
the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed herein, during the year ended 31 December
2017, the Group entered into a number of transactions with
entities which will be regarded as connected parties of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the announcements dated 15 June 2015, 27
March 2017, 31 March 2017, 30 June 2017, 1 September 2017,
30 November 2017 and 14 December 2017, the annual cap of
the concession fees, rental expenses and service fee payable
for the year ended 31 December 2017 include:

i. the agreement dated 12 June 2015 with Henan Airport
Group Company Limited (“Henan Airport Group”) and its
associates is RMB148.1 million. Henan Airport Group is a
substantial shareholder of an indirect subsidiary of our
Company, and each of the Henan Airport Group and its
associates is thus a connected person of the Company.
The concession fee payable for the year ended 31
December 2017 was approximately RMB113.3 million;

ii. the cooperation agreement dated 6 January 2017 with
Tianjin Metro Resources Investment Company Limited
(“Tianjin Metro Resources”) and its associates is RMB33.0,
Tianjin Metro Resources is a connected person of the
Company at subsidiary level. The concession fee payable
for the year ended 31 December 2017 was approximately
RMB30.7 million;
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vi.

the tenancy agreements dated 30 June 2017 with Asiaray
China Media Limited (“Asiaray China”) and Billion China
International Limited (“Billion China"”) is RMB2,767,800.
Asiaray China and Billion China are both wholly-owned by
Mr. Lam, an executive Director and controlling
shareholder of the Company, and thus Asiaray China and
Billion China are both connected person of the Company.
The rental expense payable under the tenancy
agreements for the year ended 31 December 2017 was
RMB2,767,800;

the tenancy agreements dated 1 September 2015, 1
February 2016 and 1 September 2017 with Peaky Limited
is HKD568,000. Peaky Limited is wholly owned by Mr.
Lam, an executive Director and controlling shareholder of
the Company, thus Peaky Limited is a connected person
of the Company. The rental expense payable under the
tenancy agreements for the year ended 31 December
2017 was HKD568,000;

the framework agreement dated 26 November 2016 with
Shenzhen Airport Asiaray Media Company Limited (the
“Shenzhen Airport Asiaray”). The annual cap for service
fee payable to Shenzhen Airport Asiaray for the
advertising services provided by Shenzhen Airport Asiaray
to the Group is RMB120.0 million and the annual cap for
service fee payable to the Group for the advertising
services provided by the Group to Shenzhen Airport
Asiaray is RMB6.8 million. Shenzhen Airport Asiaray is a
connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level.
The service fee payable by the Group to Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray for the year ended 31 December 2017
was approximately RMB117.6 million and the service fee
payable to the Group by Shenzhen Airport Asiaray for the
year ended 31 December 2017 was approximately
RMB2.4 million; and

the framework agreement dated 21 October 2014 with
Yunnan Airport Group Limited Liability Company
("Yunnan Airport Company”) is RMB140.0 million. Yunnan
Airport Company is a substantial shareholder of an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
and each of Yunnan Airport Company and its associates is
thus a connected person of the Company. The concession
fee payable for the year ended 31 December 2017 was
approximately RMB124.9 million.
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The Group has established internal controls and procedures to
ensure the compliance of the continuing connected
transactions with the requirement of the Listing Rules. Finance
department has prepared monthly transaction reports to ensure
the annual caps not to be exceeded. The Board, including the
independent non-executive Directors, has reviewed and
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions have
been entered into and the fees paid were:

i. in the ordinary course of business of the Group;

ii. either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third party; and

iii. in accordance with the terms of the Contract that are fair
and reasonable and in the interest of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed
upon procedures in respect of the continuing connected
transactions and the auditor has reported the factual findings
on these procedures to the Board committee.

The auditor of the Company has confirmed to the Board in
writing that the continuing connected transactions have been
entered into and the fees:

(@) was approved by the Board;
(b)  was in accordance with the pricing policy of the Group;

(¢) was entered into in accordance with the terms of the
agreements, governing the transactions; and

(d)  did not exceed the relevant cap amount for the year ended
31 December 2017 as set out on the announcements
dated 15 June 2015, 27 March 2017, 31 March 2017, 30
June 2017, 1 September 2017, 30 November 2017 and
14 December 2017.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 1
March 2018, on the same date, the Group entered into a
number of tenancy agreements. (1) Hong Kong Asiaray
Advertising Limited ("Hong Kong Asiaray”) entered into a
tenancy agreement as tenant to lease a warehouse in Hong
Kong from Peaky Limited as landlord, for HKD16,000 per
month until 30 June 2020; (2) Zhuhai Asiaray Newspaper Media
Company Limited* (Zk /8 7 - # W ¥ FE H B R 2 7]) (“Zhuhai
Asiaray”) entered into a tenancy agreement as tenant to lease
an office in PRC from Mr. Lam, as landlord, for RMB39,000 per
month until 30 June 2020; and (3) Genesis Printing and
Production Limited (“Genesis Printing”) entered into a
supplemental tenancy agreement with Peaky Limited as
landlord to reduce the rent and size of the premise rented of
their previous tenancy agreement, for HKD28,000 per month
until 30 June 2020.

Hong Kong Asiaray and Genesis Printing are both indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Zhuhai Asiaray was
established in PRC with limited liability and 60% of its equity
interest is held by the Group. Mr. Lam is an executive Director
and controlling shareholder of the Company, and Peaky
Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Lam, thus both Mr. Lam and
Peaky Limited falls within the definition of connected person
under 14A.07 of the Listing Rules, therefore each of the
transactions under each of the tenancy agreements constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change in
information on Director is as follow:

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of C-MER Eye Care
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 3309) since 13 December 2017.

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP, an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company has been appointed by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as the chairman of
the Protection of Wages on Insolvency Fund Board for a term
of two years with effect from 1 April 2018.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association or the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this annual report, there was sufficient public float of
not less than 25% of the Company'’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HKD86,000 (2016: HKD90,000).

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017 have been audited by Pricewaterhouse
Coopers who will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution will be
submitted to the forthcoming AGM for the re-appointment of
Pricewaterhouse Coopers as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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To the Shareholders of Asiaray Media Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Asiaray Media Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 81 to 216, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2017;

e  the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

J the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

J the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

L EBRBATAEN 2
Tih: +852 2280 8888 {HE: +852 2810 9888

© 20/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2289 8888  Fax: +852 2810 9888

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2017 Annual Report 73



¥IT1Z ZEM#ER e  INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

RRHNER
BACRBEFE GO AERMNETBZR
ZR([HBZREER ) ETEZ - RIIRE
ZERANAENEECEARS 2B
EZAMHMBRERAENET] BOPIEE
— Rt -

BPEE RAIMESHEZEIETER
BEWERBRMBERAER

B
REFBEHMAGEMACEREHEER
STADUATER [STRIL) - BB B%
CWEETTAIPHEMERERET -

FAREXSE
BMREREERRERMOELALE  BA
HABSHUBRERNELRREENEE -
RERERERMBRERS M BRRL
HABRBEEMN RATEYREERR
HEBOER -

BAERZT R HEREZSEMMNT

o RUERSURERE

s HRETHSHEE

HOEHEEEEBRAT 2017F8 74

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

. Provision for impairment of trade receivables

] The recognition of deferred income tax assets
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Key Audit Matter

— BRRIFBERE

— Provision for impairment of trade receivables

B2 IS RERM T 4) RHIEE16 -
Refer to note 4(a) and note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

2017 12 A31 8 - EIERFR & #87% 440,580,000 % 7T
HHBEEN33.7% o EUERFUREREE 23,189,000 87T ©
As at 31 December 2017, the balance of trade
receivables was HKD440,580,000, representing 33.7%
of total assets. The provision for impairment of trade
receivables amounted to HKD23,189,000.
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ZEREBREXIUE BEFBFR FRUBRAZERN
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Management reviewed the ageing report regularly

and provided particular bad debt allowance for

impairment, taking into consideration of specific

individual credit risk analysis including the nature of

transactions, relationship with customers, the financial

position of customers etc.
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RRREBEESREEBNAE MERERABETETE
M ATRE N RIR B AMEET ©

Impairment of trade receivables was made based on
an assessment of the recoverability of trade
receivables. Provision for impairment of trade
receivables involved management’s judgement and
uncertainty of the actual outcome which may be
different from original estimates.

B EERZEE TR EH A 00 15 3R R E T B UGR
HE ] BRSSO AR RHEIBERX -

We focused on this area because of its significance to
the consolidated financial statements and the
estimation and judgement involved in the
determination of the recoverable amounts of trade
receivables.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

SRR EZEE - RMETUA TR
In responding to the key audit matter, we performed the
following procedures:

ERNUAERF -
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RHEAES « AT HE 2 R 52 BB I MBS 2 5 R
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We understood and evaluated the design of
internal controls over the provision for impairment
of trade receivables process including credit
control, data collection and analysis, determination
and approval for impairment provision, etc. We
validated key internal controls on a sample basis
and obtained audit evidence over the operating
effectiveness of these key controls.

BPEERE N R AR R ERRRGTAE
We discussed with management and assessed the
reasonableness of the provision policy of trade
receivables.

B EBERFR A RRIERN - XY EEHR R ED
RHREEERN BRI - HFIBLZ ZERGHEREE
HIEMAIEWEERERE  BBHBXELRERPR
FESRERARE -

We analysed the aging profile on trade receivables,
focusing on those long aged outstanding balances
for which no provision had been made. We
challenged management as to the recoverability of
these unprovided amounts, corroborated
explanations with underlying documentation and
correspondence with the customers.

HFITREEEA TR - SHERMPERENTEASSH - i
BREREFAEREHE  UFERSRERTH
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We also interviewed supervisors in finance
department, sales department and legal
department to corroborate their explanations on
the doubtful account on a sample basis to evaluate
the appropriateness of these provisions.

B E R W 2 SRIAE R AETELLE - A E
2 EA R ER R A R (A5 R B R SEE R R -
We compared the subsequent collection with the
original estimation to evaluate the reliability and
accuracy of management judgement and estimates
on provision of impairment.
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Based on the procedures above, we found that the
judgment and estimates applied by management was
supported by the evidence we obtained.
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Key Audit Matter

— WREERSHEE

—  The recognition of deferred income tax assets

FLHA PSRRI 4(b) RMIEE15 -
Refer to note 4(b) and note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

R201T7FENANBMNELEFRSEHEENEH A
83,860,000 7T ' (5B EER) 6.4% °

The balance of deferred income tax assets as at 31
December 2017 was HKD83,860,000, representing
6.4% of the total assets.

B ETORIB ] ROR IR A] B A B S ER A v A PR X I 2
RE)FABIAE TR N AT HURCE A 2 5R 2 (b 5T T MERR IR PR TS
MEE - RIEMSHEEZHERTBE S NEREREEH
TRES R R AR BRI & 1 B0 8 X S REPEROHIE K b=t
Management recognised deferred income tax assets
based on estimates that it is probable to generate
sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future
against which the unutilised tax losses and the
deductible temporary differences would be utilised.
The recognition of deferred income tax assets mainly
involved management’s judgments and estimations
about the timing and the amount of taxable profits of
the companies which had tax losses.
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Management prepared 5-year profit forecast to assess
the probability of generating sufficient taxable profits
in the foreseeable future involving complex
assumptions of revenue growth rate, profit margin and
significant input of concession fee charges with
inherent uncertainties of forecasting and sensitivity
due to the uncertainty of macroeconomic, out-of-
home media industry and the profitability of the
Group's business. Management also involved
judgement over the temporary difference between
accounting and tax bases due to the complex and
various deferred income tax categories.

BB TN A SR TN & O B Bk R RIE LT
FSTREES REEt RABHBERX -

We focused on this area because of its significance to
the consolidated financial statements and the
estimation and judgement involved in recognition of
deferred income tax assets .
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HEBAREZEE  RMETUTER
In responding to the key audit matter, we performed the
following procedures:

ST R AR B BB R E AR SR R AT
BB E 2 TR SR8 F) 2 MBRHE B 2 3R 7T o FAF
Tt T T IO 4R P R A ) K R 15 5% B R SR 1R O R 1 3K
BB -

We understood and evaluated the design of
internal controls over the preparation and approval
of the forecast taxable profits used to support the
recognition of the deferred tax asset. We validated
key internal controls on a sample basis and
obtained audit evidence over the operating
effectiveness of these key controls.

BB AFEERERBEFERRMENTRRE
RIREIBELE - UFTRTRARESIE -

We compared the current year actual results with
the forecast taxable figures included in the prior
year forecast to assess the reasonableness of
forecasts.

BAIHFULAIE £ 3 J M) R B O ER AR B [ 1T S TR AIE
L - NEAEBENABRR - W RERBBENE
FHSE BT HNBERBABIE °

We challenged management’s assumptions of
revenue growth rate and profit margin by
comparing them against external economy and
industry forecasts and corroborated the significant
input of concession fee charges to underlying
agreements.

BHPBEENAEEEENRIEMSHEER MM
FEMER RAEL - DO ER Z D -

We tested the accuracy of temporary differences by
recalculating management'’s deferred income tax
assets schedules and reviewed the underlying
documents and contracts on a sample basis.

HAIRE BREARERTOERERTOEN - W ULIE
BURE T FHAREBERRBED ©

We also considered and performed sensitivity
analysis of the forecast taxable profits to key
assumptions such as the revenue growth rate to
evaluate the profitability of the Group.

HERUERRF  BAER  BRABEHBERAISHERER
FA &Y FI A B2 fh 5t o

Based on the above, we found that the judgment and
estimates applied by management was supported by the
evidence we obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concemn. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Lam Sung Wan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Construction-in-progress
Land use rights
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Investments in associates
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets
Deferred income tax assets
Non-current portion of other
receivables

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Short-term deposits
Restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

O 00 N O~

—_
w O

11
15

16

16
17
18
18

19
20

R2017 5§
12A31H

As at

31 December
2017

TR
HKD'000

2016 F
12A31H

As at

31 December
2016

THET
HKD’000
(E51)
(Restated)

R 20164
1H1H
As at

1 January
2016
FHET
HKD'000
(K& &%)
(Restated)

89,006 100,118 63,984
- - 16,776
25,547 22,931 15,583
8,520 7,408 6,557
1,614 1,842 1,187
27,391 26,997 37,938
5,953 4,537 3,877
8,418 8,346 56,926
83,860 78,075 78,418
15,569 13,697 18,248
265,878 263,951 299,494
2,799 1,326 1,343
636,183 543,621 525,616
31,628 46,737 114,757
71,768 63,552 81,807
299,188 217,336 241,946
1,041,566 872,572 965,469
1,307,444 1,136,523 1,264,963
44,000 44,000 44,000
493,477 511,925 608,453
537,477 555,925 652,453
41,701 31,739 52,645
579,178 587,664 705,098
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R201745 R 20164 R 20164
12H31H 12A31H 1A1H
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016
TET FHET TR
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000
(#=&=%)) (/=&7)
(Restated) (Restated)
&E& Liabilities
FREAE Non-current liabilities
a3 Borrowings 22 14,146 5,310 6,863
EEFETREE Deferred income tax liabilities 15 - = =
14,146 5,310 6,863
REAE Current liabilities
JER AR R EMENTIE  Trade and other payables 23 568,183 471,909 477,327
BIEFTE TR B E Current income tax liabilities 15,733 10,002 10,669
f& Borrowings 22 130,204 61,638 16,694
BREBRLRE Provision for compensation loss - - 48,312
714,120 543,549 553,002
BmeE Total liabilities 728,266 548,859 559,865
BEZNEE Total equity and liabilities 1,307,444 1,136,523 1,264,963

FE8E2I6 BN T AZEA MU EHREN The notes on pages 88 to 216 are integral parts of these
—&5 o consolidated financial statements.

FBIE2IENAHMBHRERACKLESTIR
2018F3 A27 BHLETIEE  WAHMU TESRK

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 216 were
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2018

KEBE and were signed on its behalf.
MEE MRE
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent Lam Ka Po
FE HITEE
Chairman Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BZE12HA31BILLFE
Year ended 31 December

2017 F 2016 4F

2017 2016

THET FET

HKD'000 HKD'000

(&=75)

(Restated)

1 ON Revenue 5 1,759,244 1,470,795
W A BK R Cost of revenue 24 (1,396,511) (1,180,312)
EF Gross profit 362,733 290,483
HEMMSHEERS Selling and marketing expenses 25 (135,372) (126,638)
TEAX Administrative expenses 26 (153,278) (149,909)
E U A Other income 28 12,509 12,257
Hith (E518),/WzS - JF58 Other (losses)/gains, net 29 (1,063) 24,315
K FH Operating profit 85,529 50,508
BB YA Finance income 30 3,620 2,869
B A B AN Finance costs 30 (7,143) (2,545)
& (RA) WA - FEE Finance (costs)/income, net 30 (3,523) 324

DIEREEE AT EEE  Share of results of investments

in associates 13 8,584 5,255
BR Fr 5% B Profit before income tax 90,590 56,087
FEHiA X Income tax expense 31 (19,388) (14,925)
FEFE Profit for the year 71,202 41,162

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2017 Annual Report 83



()i =]

#a< CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Hitm & W

TREFIEERHBENEE

— A ESREEATE
gl (BEMB)

—HEARNESREE
(BFH)

—ERBREEE

FEFEREAE

AT & 75 BAE R -
ZAN/NEIEZ 2SN
TR S

FEFNE

LT &5 ELGRE RS
(E518) 4 88 :
ZA/NEIE? 2SN
TR

FEFAWBAE

LN PN
TEEZRAR
(AR ILIR)

— &5
— g

%88121659’%; BRREAHMBHREN

— &7

HAREREBEFRARF 2017 F#

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss

— Net gains from changes in fair value
of available-for-sale financial
assets, net of tax

— Disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets, net of tax

— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company
for the year
(expressed in HK cents per share)

— Basic
— Diluted

BZE12A31BLFE

Year ended 31 December

2017 &
2017

FET
HKD’000

20164
2016
FET
HKD’000
(#=&E7)
(Restated)

47 343

- 835

31,236 (34,940)

31,283 (33,762)

102,485 7,400

44,690 16,883

26,512 24,279

71,202 41,162
78,458 (14,158)

24,027 21,558

102,485 7,400

32(a) 10.16 3.84
32(b) 10.15 3.84

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

R2016 1 A1 B&# (R5)
BRI ERENROESBREL

#2016 51 A 1 B &8 (BEF)

Faki
EEHE
Rfbira (58)/ ll&ﬁ

Yoss (B30%)
—HETHLESREAE (BNH)

—ERREEE
54 (BR)/WEeR

(ERFRRERE
—EERBEEMWZS)
R EEIE

B (W2 33)
BATRIER (Hit36)

ERNERRIRRRANRZAH

120165 12 A 31 BEER (RET)

Balance 1 January 2016,
as previously presented

Changes of accounting policy with respect to
the measurement of investment properties

Balance 1 January 2016, as restated

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

— Gains from changes in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax

— Disposal of available-for-sale financial assets,
net of tax

— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive (loss)/income

Employee share option scheme

— Value of employee services (Note 35)
Capital injection by non-controlling interests
Dividends (Note 33)

Issuance of warrants (Note 36)

Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity

Balance at 31 December 2016, as restated

A

Share
capital
A7

HKD'000

AN
Attributable to owners of the Company

]

Reserves
THL
HKD'000

Total
THT
HKD'000

controlling
[IEIEN
THAL
HKD'000

equity
T
HKD'000

44,000 604,024 648,024 52,645 700,669
- 4,429 4,429 - 4,429
44,000 608,453 652,453 52,645 705,098
- 16,883 16,883 24,219 41,162
- 343 343 - 343
- 835 835 = 835
- (32,219) (32,219) (2,721) (34,940)
- (14,158) (14,158) 21,558 7,400
- 11,355 11,355 - 11,355
- - - 5309 5309
- (96,800) (96,800) (47,773) (144,573)
- 3,075 3,075 - 3,075
- (82,370) (82,370) (42,464) (124,834)
44,000 511,925 595,925 31,739 587,664

Asiaray Media Group Limited

2017 Annual Report

85



EOt1E5%EEh3R  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

ONGE 2PN L
Attributable to owners of the Company
K& e @ FRmRER fER
Non-
Share controlling Total
capital Reserves interests equity
T#n T#n j T#x T#x
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
R2017E1 B 1 BEH(KET) Balance 1 January 2017, as restated 44,000 511,925 555,925 31,739 587,664
GAKE Comprehensive income
EEFIE Profit for the year = 44,690 44,690 26,512 71,202
Hthira ks Other comprehensive income
— it ESHEEATEED — Gains from changes in fair value of
Wi (BH#) available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax = 47 47 = 47
—REnREES — Currency translation differences - 33,721 33721 (2,485) 31,236
RAREAH Total comprehensive income = 78,458 78,458 24,027 102,485
FERERTE Capital injection by non-controlling interests - - - 4,785 4,785
BEERRER RS Transaction with non-controlling interests - (12,506) (12,506) 9,990 (2,516)
R& (Wit 33) Dividends (Note 33) - (114,400) (114,400) (28,840) (143,240)
BT R RRES (Wt 21) Issue of perpetual subordinated convertible
securities (Note 21) - 30,000 30,000 - 30,000

HERNERRARREANR 288 Total transactions with owners,

recognised directly in equity - (96,906) (96,906) (14,065) (110,971)
R2017512 A 31 BER Balance at 31 December 2017 44,000 493,477 537,471 41,701 579,178
FB8EI6BEMMEAZESHMEHREN The notes on pages 88 to 216 are integral parts of these
—Z 5 o consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
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Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash generated from
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and
equipment

Purchases of land use rights

Payments for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Purchases of intangible assets

Payments for construction-in-progress

Proceeds from disposal of
available-for-sale financial assets

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Interest received

Dividends on available-for-sale
financial assets received

Dividends received from an associate

Decrease in short-term deposits

Net cash generated from
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Proceeds from perpetual subordinated
convertible securities

Capital injection by non-controlling
interests

Dividend paid to owners of
the Company

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

2017 & 2016 4F
2017 2016
TET FHETT
HKD’000 HKD'000
(#=&E7)

(Restated)

34 122,770 42,866
(7,143) (2,545)
(14,568) (20,600)
101,059 19,721
(25,252) (37,493)
(1,607) (9,113)
(847) (588)
(320) (1,172)
= (22,017)

= 47,849

34 352 541
3,421 3,553
486 2,536
10,715 13,745
15,109 68,020
2,057 65,861
156,860 53,833
(82,266) (8,567)
30,000 =
4,785 =
(114,400) (96,800)
(28,840) (47,773)
(33,861) (99,307)
69,255 (13,725)
217,336 241,946
12,597 (10,885)
18 299,188 217,336

consolidated financial statements.
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2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Asiaray Media Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2014 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company'’s registered office is PO Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands. The Company'’s shares have been listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
on 15 January 2015.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the development and operations of out-of-
home advertising media, including advertising in airports,
metro lines, billboards and building solutions in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and Hong Kong.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKD"), unless otherwise stated, and have been
approved for issue by the Company’s board of directors
(the “Board”) on 27 March 2018.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"”) and
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622). The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial
assets, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and investment properties, which are carried at fair value.
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2.1

(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Changes of accounting policy with respect to the
measurement of investment properties

During the year, the Group changed its accounting policy
with respect to the measurement of investment
properties. The Group now applies the fair value model,
under which investment properties were stated at fair
value and recognises the fair value changes to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in
which they arise. Prior to this change in policy, the Group
applied the cost model, under which investment
properties were stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

The Group believes the new policy is preferable as it is
more suitable to reflect the value of the investment
properties and will aid comparability. The changes have
been applied retrospectively and the comparative
amounts have been restated accordingly.
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21 @wRBEE(E) 2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) FEREYENE(EHIZE (b)  Effect of change of measurement of investment properties

AEREMENELLHASERSE
2017 R 2016512 A31 B I FE ¥
BHFE  RAEMFRERBE)FIRT

The effect of change of measurements of investment
properties on the Group's results for the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2016 by line items presented in the

BB IO

FTRIREYHE MH2017 &
R2017 F Wbz 12A31H
12A31H %3 (251)
Effect of
changes of At
At measurement 31 December
31 December of investment 2017
2017 properties (as presented)
F& T FET F& T
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
THAX Administrative expenses (153,363) 85 (153,278)
HibE1E - 558 Other losses, net (1,636) 573 (1,063)
ey Income tax expense (19,223) (165) (19,388)
T &AEEFE : Profit attributable to:
ViN/NETE =N Owners of the Company 44,197 493 44,690
FEFEAR R RS Non-controlling interests 26,512 - 26,512
ARATEEAEILEE Earnings per share attributable
BREFN (AEEBI  to owners of the Company
5IR) for the year (expressed in
HK cents per share)
—HXK — Basic 10.04 0.12 10.16
— g — Diluted 10.04 0.11 10.15
STEIREYE 72016 4F
2016 4F - 12A31H
12A31H %= (231)
Effect of
changes of At
At  measurement 31 December
31 December  of investment 2016
2016 properties  (as presented)
FET FET T T
HKD’'000 HKD’000 HKD’'000
TE X Administrative expenses (149,995) 86 (149,909)
Hiblzs - JF58 Other gains, net 22,992 1,323 24,315
i Income tax expense (14,573) (352) (14,925)
T &FEEFE : Profit attributable to:
ViN/NGIE 2 =N Owners of the Company 15,826 1,057 16,883
eI R Non-controlling interests 24,279 = 24,279
ARATEEAEIEE Earnings per share attributable
EREFN (AEEBI  to owners of the Company
5I7R) for the year (expressed in
HK cents per share)
— EBEAXREE — Basic and diluted 3.60 0.24 3.84

HAHEEREBERAF

2017 F 3}

consolidated income statement (extracts) are as follows:

90



S{HEAFEIRFPHIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1
(b)

EXEHBERBE®) 2.
RBEE () 2.1
FEREYFNE T E (B) (b)

(Continued)

F£12H318 R2016F12 8431884
HHBEMRRAR (BE)MTE  RT\8
BEF T

IRBEE Non-current assets
LAY Investment properties
BRI EE Deferred income tax assets
s Equity

w15 Reserves

HrER Total equity

kREBEE Non-current assets
REME Investment properties
RICFTISIE = Deferred income tax assets
£ Equity

R Reserves

R Total equity

R2017 &
12A31H

At

31 December

2017
TERT
HKD’000

476
85,871

487,444
531,444

N20164
12A31H

At

31 December
2016

FHIT
HKD'000

528
79,796

506,766
550,766

Asiaray Media Group Limited

STRREYHE
k- | e
=g

Effect of
changes of

measurement
of investment
properties
FHET
HKD’'000

8,044

(2,011)

Effect of
changes of
measurement
of investment
properties
FHET
HKD'000

6,880
(1,721)

5,159
5,159

2017 Annual Report

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)
Effect of change of measurement of investment properties

The effect of change of measurements of, investment
properties on the consolidated statement of financial
position of the Group (extracts) as at 31 December 2017
and 31 December 2016 by line items are as follows:

2017
12A318
(27%)

At

31 December
2017

(as presented)
F#& T
HKD'000

8,520
83,860

493,477
537,477

R 2016 F
12A31H
(275)

At

31 December
2016

(as presented)
FATT
HKD'000

7,408
78,075

511,925
555,925

21
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Amendments to HKAS 12

BB ERIE 75 (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 7

BB BRELERZE 125 (IBFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 12
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IABRERERARLCHRAEE

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(c)  New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The following amendments to standards have been
adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial
year beginning on or after 1 January 2017:

AUTEHSEZ2%&
BB SR ER
Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

20171 H1R
1 January 2017
for Unrealised Losses

T E 20171 A1 H
Disclosure initiative 1 January 2017
BB B ERER2014-2016 FFEHGE 201741 A1H

1 January 2017
2014-2016 Cycle

The adoption of these amendments did not have any
impact on the current period or any prior period and is
not likely to affect future periods.

(d)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The following new standards, amendments and
interpretations have been issued but are not effective for
the financial year beginning 1 January 2017, and have not
been early adopted by the Group.

. Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 on sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture were originally intended
to be effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016, but the effective date has now
not been determined.
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2.1
(d)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018. The new standard addresses the classification,
measurement and derecognition of financial assets
and financial liabilities, introduces new rules for
hedge accounting and a new impairment model for
financial assets.

While the Group has yet to undertake a detailed
assessment of the classification and measurement of
financial assets, equity instruments currently
classified as available-for-sale investment, for which
a fair value through profit or loss election is
available.

There will be no impact on the Group's accounting
for financial liabilities, as the new requirements only
affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are
designated at fair value through profit or loss and
the group does not have any such liabilities.

The new hedge accounting rules will align the
accounting for hedging instruments more closely
with risk management practices. As a general rule,
more hedge relationships might be eligible for
hedge accounting, as the standard introduces a
more principles-based approach.

The new impairment model requires the recognition
of impairment provisions based on expected credit
losses rather than only incurred credit losses as is
the case under HKAS 39. It applies to financial
assets classified at amortised cost, contract assets
under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, lease receivables, loan commitments
and certain financial guarantee contracts. While the
Group has not yet undertaken a detailed assessment
of how its impairment provisions would be affected
by the new model, it may result in an earlier
recognition of credit losses.

The new standard also introduces expanded
disclosure requirements and changes in
presentation. These are expected to change the
nature and extent of the Group’s disclosures about
its financial instruments particularly in the year of the
adoption of the new standard.

At this stage, the new standard is not expected to
apply until the financial year of 2018.
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2.1
(c)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

HKFRS15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018. This will replace HKAS 18 which
covers contracts for goods and services and HKAS
11 which covers construction contracts. The new
standard is based on the principle that revenue is
recognised when control of a good or service
transfers to a customer. The standard permits either
a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach for the adoption.

Management is currently assessing the effects of
applying the new standard on the Group's financial
statements and has estimated the following area
that is likely to be affected:

. revenue from service — the application of
HKFRS 15 may result in the identification of
separate performance obligations which could
affect the timing of the recognition of revenue;
and

o accounting for certain costs incurred in
fulfilling a contract — certain costs which are
currently expensed may need to be
recognised as an asset under HKFRS 15.

At this stage, the Group is not able to estimate the
impact of the new rules on the Group's financial
statements. The Group will make more detailed
assessments of the impact over the next twelve
months. The new standard is not expected to apply
until the financial year of 2018.



S OtEAFEERFTHMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1
(d)

KR HARE (1)

BRI HREERE 1657 [HE ]
MR2019F1 A1HS 2B RBERN
EEHMA -

SZEMEAEERLETAHEE
REERBERER RERKE
HERREEENE H D BM
Bre HIERT  REE(E
RAERE &M kxfHl2
ZEMBE - E—PISMER/RE
HREEERED -

ST SRR ETE T
REARD) -

IERIBEEZEARERBMEER
EZeEE - RERAH &
£ E A 3,690,633,00078 7T (Ff 5
38) Z AT AC TR E R IE o
SR+ RSB (M R B O Ut AR
e B RAERE E R R RATHK
ZEBERE  URHRAEEF
BRIRERENENTE -

BoAEARRERPREEE
HHWPISMER - TEb D AFER
AREET S ERERMEITH
%8

RULPEER - TEEIR 2019 A E
BTG T & EFR RZ 3T ZE R o

2.1
()

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The new standards will result in almost all leases
being recognised on the balance sheet, as the
distinction between operating and finance leases is
removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the
right to use the leased item) and a financial liability
to pay rentals are recognised. The only exceptions
are short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for
Group's operating leases. As at the reporting date,
the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of HKD3,690,633,000 (Note 38).
However, the Group has not yet determined to what
extent these commitments will result in the
recognition of an asset and a liability for future
payments and how this will affect the Group's profit
and classification of cash flows.

Some of the commitments may be covered by the
exception for short-term and low value leases and
some commitments may relate to arrangements that
will not qualify as leases under the new standard.

At this stage, the new standard is not expected to
apply until the financial year of 2019.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the group has control. The group controls an
entity when the group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(a)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are measured at either fair
value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 39 in profit. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the group's
accounting policies
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(b)  Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries

without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with
the owners in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(c)  Disposals of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequent accounting for the
retained interest as an associate or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. It means
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee's net assets including goodwill.
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2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the group has
significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The group’s investments in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference
between the cost of the associate and the group'’s share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in profit or loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that investments in
associates are impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to
“share of results of investments in associates” in profit or
loss.
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2.3

(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and its
associate are recognised in the Group's financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
are recognised in profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company
("Executive Directors”).

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKD, which is the
Company's functional currency and the Group's
presentation currency. The Company’'s Hong Kong and
PRC subsidiaries regard HKD and Renminbi (“RMB”) as
their respective functional currencies.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented
in profit or loss within ‘finance income or cost’. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in profit
or loss within ‘other gains/(losses), net'.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-
monetary financial assets, such as equities classified as
available for sale, are included in other comprehensive
income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that balance sheet;

(i)  Income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(i)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised as
a separate component of other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations are taken to other comprehensive
income.
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2.5
(c)

2.6

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation), all of
the currency translation differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the
Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, the proportionate share of
accumulated currency translation differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
costs less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment charge. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:
Leasehold improvements  Shorter of remaining

lease term or useful lives

Motor vehicles 5 years

Furniture and office 3-5 years
equipment

Advertising fixtures 3-10 years

Buildings 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
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2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.11).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within ‘other (losses)/gains, net’ in profit or
loss.

Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress represents advertising fixtures
under construction and is stated at cost. This includes the
costs of construction, and interest charges arising from
borrowings used to finance these assets during the period
of construction or installation and testing. When the
assets concerned are available for use, the costs are
transferred to property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policies as stated
above.

Land use rights

Land use rights represents payment of land use rights to
the PRC’s land bureau. Land use rights is carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impaired losses.
Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of land use
rights on a straight-line basis over the periods of right
which is 40 years.

Investment properties

Investment properties is initially measured at cost,
including related transaction costs and where applicable
borrowing costs. Subsequently, they are carried at fair
value. Changes in fair values are presented in profit or
loss as part of other income.

Intangible assets

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use
the specific software, and are amortised over their
estimated useful lives of five years.
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2.12
(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet
available for use are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired, management’s intentions
and whether the assets are quoted in an active market.
Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are those designated at fair value through profit or
loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this
category if so designated by the directors of the
Company. Assets in this category are classified as
current assets if expected to be settled within 12
months; otherwise, they are classified as non-
current.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Classification (Continued)

(i)  Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They are included in
current assets, except for the amounts that are
settled or expected to be settled more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period. The
Group's loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and
other receivables excluding prepayments’, ‘short-
term deposits’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in
the consolidated balance sheet.

(i)  Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any other category. They are included
in non-current assets unless investment matures or
management intends to dispose of the investment
within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of investments are
recognised on trade-date — the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are
initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for
all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit
or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction
costs are expensed in the statement of comprehensive
income. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2.

2.12
(b)

2.13

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
category are presented in the statement of
comprehensive income within other gains/(losses), net in
the period in which they arise. Dividend income from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as
part of other income when the Group'’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary
securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale financial
assets are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in other comprehensive income
are included in profit or loss as net losses from available-
for-sale financial assets.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using
the effective interest method is recognised in profit or
loss as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-
sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss as
part of other income when the Group's right to receive
payments is established.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis or realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.



S OtEAFEERFTHMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

(a)

214 SREERE

EXRETBRBEE)

HEREFERE
EERBERN AR AR EELER
B BHEEEVRERAREE—ALS
RAEMH(TRESMF]) MR EN R
BBy aesmn] e fbat R E = Y
KEoREEX —HEMEENGR
KESREBKHNTZER - TEREX
HemEES—HeREERTREY
ELERERR -

REEBRXBRBER R —ARBA
HHBBARMBRE - ORI EK
Ae AR BRERWES L HEMPHE
ANPR - RBERASRERSRE

AT A 08 A (40 R 36 R FRIA X 32
HWBRBEIOR A EE)) A EIRBUE -

HRERREWFER  REBRSER
ZEENRRERAZEREENRE
BAMEFPBENBARKASRENRE
(TERAARELENRREEBR) ZH
MERTHE ZEEREES TNUA
B R EERERAERERER o
BFBMEER - QAR ERERSR
MR ESEANA TEENE M ER
MK - AERAITHRETDE - NEET]
REFAAIBEHESLNTARFE
FHERE -

FEHEBERE - R EBENSERD
i Zom D R E B T3 M =1
(WEB AR LA e REHE
BI % [6] LA 7 R SR B0 R (B S R A B S
TR ©

2.

2.14
(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment
losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss
event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where
observable data indicate that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a loan
has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical
expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the
basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable
market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.

2.14
(b)

2.15

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assets classified as available-for-sale financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence exists the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity and
recognised in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the
fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-
sale financial assets increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

For equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the security below its cost is also
evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such
evidence exists the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss — is removed from
equity and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognised in profit or loss on equity instruments are not
reversed through profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers or
agents for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and
other receivables is expected in one year or less, they are
classified as current assets. Otherwise, they are presented
as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.
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2.

2.16

2.17

2.18

2.19

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less. Bank deposits with original maturities over three
months but less than one year are classified as short-term
deposits.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or share
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities
Perpetual subordinated convertible securities issued by
the Company gives the right to the holder to convert
those securities into a fixed number of the Company’s
shares at any time at a fixed exercise price per share. The
perpetual subordinated convertible securities have no
maturity date and are redeemable at the option of the
Company. These securities are equity instruments.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
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2.

2.20

2.21

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost. Any difference between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over their period using
the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

For a borrowing that is specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset, the amounts of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation are the actual borrowing
costs incurred on that borrowing during the year less any
investment income on the temporary investment of these
borrowings.

For the other borrowings related to acquisition,
construction and production of a qualifying asset, the
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation shall
be the lower of the actual borrowing costs incurred and
the amount of qualifying asset not financed by specific
borrowings multiplying capitalisation rate. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average interest rate of
these borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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2.22

(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if
it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss is
affected. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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2.

2.22
(b)

(c)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred income
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to
control the reversal of the temporary difference for
associates. Only when there is an agreement in place that
gives the group the ability to control the reversal of the
temporary difference in the foreseeable future, deferred
tax liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is not
recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and associates only to the extent that it is
probable the temporary difference will reverse in the
future and there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is
an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group's PRC subsidiaries and Hong Kong subsidiaries
contribute on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution plans and the mandatory provident fund plan
in Hong Kong, respectively. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due. Assets of the plans of
the PRC subsidiaries are held and managed by the
relevant PRC government authorities; while assets of the
plans of the Hong Kong subsidiaries are held in separate
trustee-administrated funds in Hong Kong. The assets of
the plans are separated from those of the Group.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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2.

2.24
(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments of the Group. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant of
the options is recognised as an expense. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to
the fair value of the options granted:

o including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period);
and

o including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(for example, the requirement for employees to
save or holding shares for a specified period of
time).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on the non-marketing performance and
service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with
a corresponding adjustment to equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the
purposes of recognising the expense during the period
between service commencement period and grant date.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new
shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital
and share premium.
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2.25

2.26

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

If an equity award is cancelled by forfeiture, when the
vesting conditions (other than market conditions) have
not been met, any expense not yet recognised for that
award, as at the date of forfeiture, is treated as if it had
never been recognised. At the same time, any expense
previously recognised on such cancelled equity awards
are reversed from the accounts effective as at the date of
forfeiture.

Share-based payment transactions among group entities
The grant by the company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair
value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over
the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity accounts.

Warrant Reserve

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by a
fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of the Company's
own equity instruments are equity instruments. The
consideration from the issue of warrants are recognised in
equity (warrant reserve). The warrant reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share premium accounts
upon the exercise of the warrants. When the warrants are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the warrant reserve will be
transferred to accumulated profits.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.
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2.26

2.27

(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow of resources will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if
the likelihood of an outflow of resources with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

The Group's revenue is primarily derived from rendering
advertising display and production, installation and
dismantling services on the Group’s media networks,
primarily in airports, metro lines and billboards and
buildings solutions. Revenue is measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable, and
represents amounts receivable for services rendered,
stated net of discounts and value-added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities as described
below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type
of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Advertising display services

Revenue from advertising display services is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the performance period for
which the advertisements are displayed.

Advertising production, installation and dismantling
services

Revenue from advertising production, installation and
dismantling services is recognised when the related
services are rendered.
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2.27
(c)
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(e)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Multiple element arrangements

The Group offers certain arrangements whereby a
customer can purchase advertising display services
together with the related advertising production,
installation and dismantling services. Where such multiple
element arrangements exist, the total arrangement
consideration is allocated to each element based on their
relative fair values, as determined based on the current
market price of each of the elements when sold
separately.

When the Group is unable to determine the fair value of
each of the elements in an arrangement, it uses the
residual value method. Under this method, the Group
determines the fair value of the delivered element by
deducting the fair value of the undelivered element from
the contract consideration.

To the extent that there is a discount on the arrangement,
such discount is allocated between the elements of the
contract in such a manner as to reflect the fair value of the
elements.

Rental income

Rental income from operating lease of properties is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

Principal versus agent consideration

The Group derives certain revenue from advertising
display and production, installation and dismantling
services through agents, and pays fixed percentages of
revenue as commissions to these agents. The Group has
evaluated the roles and responsibilities of the Group and
the agents in rendering the relevant services and
concluded that the Group takes the primary
responsibilities in rendering services and has the sole
latitude in establishing prices. Accordingly, the Group
records the revenue derived through the agents on a
gross basis, and the commissions paid to the agents are
recorded as sales commissions included in selling and
marketing expenses.
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2.28
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2.30

2.31

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the
Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable
amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted
at the original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired loans and receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Government grants

Grants from government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grants will
be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Advertising consulting service
Revenue from rendering consulting service is recognised
when the services are rendered.
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2.32
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2.34

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Concession fee charges for advertising spaces

The Group enters into concession right agreements with
media resources owners such as metro lines and airports,
under which the Group obtains the right to use the media
resources owners’ spaces for the display of the
advertisements. The concession rights agreements under
which significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by media resources owners are
treated as operating lease arrangements.

The concession fees payable to media resources owners
were typically comprised of a minimum guaranteed
amount with yearly escalation and/or a percentage share
of the revenue earned from the operations (the
commission fees). The minimum guaranteed concession
fees with yearly escalation are charged to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the agreement periods and the
commission fees were recognised in the period in which
they are actually incurred.

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by lessors are classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

Lease income from operating leases where the group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. The respective leased assets are included
in the balance sheet based on their nature.

Dividends distribution

Dividends distribution to the shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the consolidated financial statement in the
period in which the dividend is approved by the
shareholders or the Board, where appropriate.
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risk factors: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk
management is carried out by the senior management of
the Group and approved by the Board.

Market risk

0]

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries carried out their
operations activities in the PRC with all of the
transactions denominated in RMB. As the
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government, the
directors of the Company consider no significant
exposure on the foreign exchange risk. The
exchange differences arising upon translation of net
assets of subsidiaries with functional currencies in
RMB to HKD are recognised as currency translation
differences and recorded as part of other
comprehensive income.

As less than 10% of the Group's foreign currency
transactions are denominated in other foreign
currencies, the directors are of the view that foreign
exchange risk in relation to transactions
denominated in other foreign currencies is low.
Therefore, no sensitivity analysis for these currencies
is presented.
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3.1
(a)

Borrowings at fixed rate
Borrowings at floating rate

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-
bearing short-term deposits and bank borrowings.
Short-term deposits and bank borrowings issued at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. Bank borrowings at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Other than interest-bearing short-term deposits, the
Group has no other significant interest-bearing
assets. The directors of the Company do not
anticipate there is any significant impact to interest-
bearing assets resulted from the changes in interest
rates, because the interest rates of short-term
deposits are not expected to change significantly.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group's
interest-bearing borrowings at variable rates and
fixed rates were as follows:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December

2017 F 20164
2017 2016
THET FET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
55,226 32,420
89,124 34,528
144,350 66,948
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3. UHEBREE@E) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 HXEBREZE(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) TEER &) (@)  Market risk (Continued)

iy BWMERERAFEFEZRRR(E)
HZE2017F % 2016F 12 A31 H
IFFE - MERNZEFE L
Ft/ TR0 EE R - MmATH b
BEHBTE  BREEMBES
2F) TEHRNEZFBFERERD
FBRX EFTREATE - B4t
EL NS

(ii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (Continued)
For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016,
if the floating interest rate on borrowings had been
higher/lower by 50 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the post-tax profit would
have changed mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expenses on floating rate borrowings.
Details of changes are as follows:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2017 &

2016
2017 2016
FE&T T 7T
HKD’000 HKD'000

CRid),/#hn (Decrease)/increase
— FFF50{EEZL — 50 basis points higher (58) (141)
— P& 50 {EEE, — 50 basis points lower 58 141

B E2017F K2016F 12 A31H
IEFE MERNEERME L
Ft/ RS0 EEE - ATA EAb
BEHFTE  EROIFER
¥ FEARTEEBROF
BRAX LA TR - #bF
EmT

For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016,
if the fixed interest rate on borrowings had been
higher/lower by 50 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the fair value of the
borrowings would have changed mainly as a result
of higher/lower interest expenses on fixed rate
borrowings. Details of changes are as follows:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2017 &

2016
2017 2016
FE&T T 7T
HKD’000 HKD'000

CRd), /18 (Decrease)/increase
— EFHSOfEEE, — 50 basis points higher 253 120
— NRESOEE S — 50 basis points lower (253) (120)
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3.1
(a)

(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk because of
investments held by the Group, which are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and available-for-sale financial assets. The Group is
not exposed to commodity price risk.

The sensitivity analysis is determined based on the
exposure to price risk of the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale
financial assets at the end of each reporting period.
If the fair values of the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss held by the Group had been
5% higher/lower, post-tax profit would be
approximately, HKD249,000 and HKD 189,000
higher/lower, for the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2016, respectively. If the fair values of the
available-for-sale financial assets held by the Group
had been 5% higher/lower, the other
comprehensive income would be approximately
HKD351,000 and HKD348,000 higher/lower, for the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Credit risk

Credit risk mainly arises from short-term deposits,
restricted cash, bank balances, trade and other
receivables excluding prepayments, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial
assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial
asset in the consolidated balance sheets.

The credit risk of short-term deposits, restricted cash and
bank balances is limited because the counterparties are
state-owned or reputable commercial banks which are
high-credit-quality financial institutions in the PRC and
Hong Kong.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2017 Annual Report 123



S OtEAFEERFRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1
(b)
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3.1
(b)

(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customers’ past history of making payment when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer. The Group does not
obtain collateral from customers. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the default risk is considered
to be low.

For other receivables excluding prepayments,
management makes periodic collective assessments as
well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables based on historical settlement records
and past experience. The directors of the Company
believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in the
Group's outstanding balance of other receivables.

The credit risk on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets is
limited because the counterparties are reputable and
creditworthy banks.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group's finance department maintains
flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate cash and
cash equivalents.
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3.1
(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the

contractual undiscounted cash flows.

PR1E

Less than

1225
Between 1

2E5%F S5FLE ot
Between 2 Over
5 years Total
FHET FAET
HKD'000 HKD'000

1year and 2 years and 5 years

TaT
HKD'000

TAT
HKD'000

TR
HKD000

At 31 December 2017
Borrowings

M2017512A31H
B (AL MFE)

3.2

(principal plus interest) 134,836 11,341 3,741 - 149,918
FERTBRAX L MBS Trade and other payables
FIE(FREEWE  (excluding advances
HPEEMNFRREA received from customers
FERIRLTE) and other taxes payable) 411,571 - - - 411,571
Bt Total 546,407 11,341 3,741 - 561,489
# 20165128318 At 31 December 2016
&S (AL MFS)  Borrowings
(principal plus interest) 63,103 1,329 3,594 858 68,884
FERTER R EMERS  Trade and other payables
FE(TEEEWE  (excluding advances
REBEMATRK received from customers
HipENTiE) and other taxes payable) 334,077 = = = 334,077
Kt Total 397,180 1,329 3,594 858 402,961
EARERE 3.2 Capital management

ARBEEREAN B RRREANEELRE
SEEE - URBRGERE R L REA
M ERE S RN - LRSI
BARRBUREEARRA ©

RERFSCIRERRE - RSB A EH
BEXNTRRORESHE  MRRED
BAR  BITHBROHREEEENRDE
% o

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns to the shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the
shareholders, return capital to the shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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3.3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Capital management (Continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt
is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and
non-current borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet) less liquid investments, cash and cash
equivalents. Liquid investments comprise current
investments that are traded in an active market, being the
group's financial assets held at fair value through profit or
loss. Total capital represents the equity attributable to
owners of the Company and non-controlling interests.

The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from the
prior year. The net gearing ratio is 26.7% as at 31
December 2017 (2016: 25.6%). The increase was mainly
caused by the increase in total borrowings.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at
fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have
been defined as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

. Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

U Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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BEREEE &) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
ANFEMLE(E) 3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

R2017412 A31 8 » AKEFE T The following table presents the Group's assets that are
BRAFEFENEE : measured at fair value at 31 December 2017:

F1R FE28R B3I #st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

TR TR TERT TR
HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000

BATEHAEZRER  Financial assets at fair value

TREE through profit or loss
—BEABASREN  — Non-quoted investment
FmERE in key-man life
insurance policies - - 5,953 5,953
EHESHMEE Available-for-sale financial assets
—HTEFEEH — Non-quoted investments in
FERERE certain bond funds - - 8,418 8,418
REM% Investment properties - - 8,520 8,520
- - 22,891 22,891
R20165 12831 B - REERFE T3 The following table presents the Group's assets that are
BATEAEBNEE - measured at fair value at 31 December 2016:

F1H 28 F3 e
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

THET TRT THT THAT
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

BAEESABZEN  Financial assets at fair value

TREE through profit or loss
—BRABASRERN  — Non-quoted investment
FwmBIRE in key-man life
insurance policies = - 4,537 4,537
EHESHEE Available-for-sale financial assets
—ETEREEN — Non-quoted investments
FEHREIRE in certain bond funds - - 8,346 8,346
HEYME Investment properties - - 7,408 7,408

= - 20,291 20,291
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3. UHEBREE@E) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 AFEREE#E) 3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
it — B 5% %% T8 & A B A BRI SEEL A A] If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
BRMGHEE - BIZITAEBASEIR - observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.
BIREEIRRAFERBRDEZHEIL There were no significant transfers of financial assets
BMERNCRMEEER - between level 1 and level 3 fair value hierarchy
classifications.
T3 2% 8 £2017F %2016 12 A The following table presents the changes in level 3
BMBIEFEMNEIRTANEL instruments for the year ended 31 December 2017 and
2016:

BE12AMBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 20164
2017 2016
THET TET
HKD'000 HKD'000

BEAEASRENRE Investment in key-man life insurance policies:
R1A1H At 1 January 4,537 3,877
wNE Additions 847 588
N EE Fair value gains 569 72
R12A31H At 31 December 5,953 4,537

K& FEART [EAM (&18), Kz © Total gains included in profit or loss for
FR BT RE AR assets held at the end of the reporting year,
Ik 1a%a under ‘other (losses)/gains, net’ 569 72

HZ12A3MBILEE
Year ended 31 December

2017 20165
2017 2016
THET FET
HKD’000 HKD'000
ETEFESHRE ! Investment in certain bond funds:
W1B18 At 1 January 8,346 7,899
NHERE Fair value gains 72 447
MW12A31H At 31 December 8,418 8,346
RBEFRABEE Total gains included in the other
AR RS RE K comprehensive income for assets held
I zs 1A s at the end of the reporting year 72 447
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The carrying values less impairment provision of the
current portion of receivables and payables are a
reasonable approximation of their fair values. The fair
value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows
at the current market interest rate that is available to the
Company for similar financial instruments, unless the
effect of discounting is immaterial. Details of the valuation
technique and significant assumptions utilised in
determining the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial
assets are set out in Note 11.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is made based
on an assessment of the recoverability of trade and other
receivables. The identification of doubtful debts requires
management’s judgment and estimates. Provision is
made when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect the debts. Where the actual
outcome or further expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying
value of the receivables and the amount of doubtful debt
expenses or write-back of provision for impairment of
receivables in the period in which such estimate has been
changed. Based on the Group’s assessment on the
collectability of trade and other receivables, impairment
provision of approximately HKD24,928,000 and
HKD24,584,000 was provided against them as at 31
December 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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(b)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are many transactions and events for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Significant judgment is
required from the Group in determining the provision for
income taxes in each of these jurisdictions. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

The Group recognises deferred income tax assets based
on estimates that it is probable to generate sufficient
taxable profits in the foreseeable future against which the
unutilised tax losses and the deductible temporary
differences would be utilised. The recognition of deferred
income tax assets mainly involved management'’s
judgments and estimations about the timing and the
amount of taxable profits of the companies which had tax
losses.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has approximately
HKD174,569,000 (2016: HKD161,187,000) deductible
losses, for which HKD40,726,000 (2016: HKD37,512,000)
deferred tax assets had been provided. Assuming
revenue decreased by 10% compared with management's
5-year profit forecast, the deferred tax assets that should
be recognised as at 31 December 2017 will be decreased
by approximately HKD281,000. Assuming revenue
decreased by 5% compared with management’s 5-year
profit forecast, no impact on the deferred tax assets that
should be recognised as at 31 December 2017.

As at 31 December 2017, the retained earnings of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries not yet remitted to the holding
companies incorporated outside PRC, for which no
deferred tax liability had been provided, were
approximately HKD135,359,000 (2016: HKD80,374,000).
Such earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC
subsidiaries for reinvestment purposes and would not be
remitted to their holding companies incorporated outside
PRC in the foreseeable future based on management’s
estimation of overseas funding requirements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Executive Directors. The Executive Directors review
the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on these
reports.

The Executive Directors considered the business from
product perspective, and determined that the Group has
the following operating segments:

— Airports business — operation of advertising
services in airports;

—  Metro lines business — operation of advertising
services in metro lines; and

—  Billboards and building solutions — operation of
advertising services on billboards and building
solutions.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the
operating segments mainly based on revenue and gross
profit of each operating segment. All of the businesses of
the Group are carried out in Mainland China and Hong
Kong during the year. Selling and marketing expenses
and administrative expenses are common costs incurred
for the operating segments as a whole and therefore they
are not included in the measure of the segments’
performance which is used by the chief operating
decision-maker as a basis for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
Other income, other (losses)/gains, net, finance (costs)/
income, net and income tax expense are also not
allocated to individual operating segment.

There are no segment assets and liabilities information
provided to Executive Directors.
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pal (& 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
EAEENTHNDHERNT - The segment information for the operating segments is as
follows:

EERE

S kRKE

HIZ R ¥k RIEES
Billboards

Metro and

Airports lines  building
business  business solutions Others Total
FHET FET FHET FET FHExT
HKD’'000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’'000

HZE2017 % Year ended

12A31HLEE 31 December 2017
WA Revenue 843,515 574,660 138,882 202,187 1,759,244
WA B AR Cost of revenue (616,570) (477,508) (125,094) (177,339) (1,396,511)
EF Gross profit 226,945 97,152 13,788 24,848 362,733

THE R T5HE Selling and marketing

FX expenses (135,372)
TR Administrative expenses (153,278)
EHbUg A Other income 12,509
HibE1E - F58 Other losses, net (1,063)
&R Operating profit 85,529
EE WA Finance income 3,620
A KA Finance costs (7,143)
BEKA - EEE Finance costs, net (3,523)
DIRABEE ATIA)  Share of results of

WEXE investments in

associates 8,584 - - - 8,584
CYRET y-TR Profit before income tax 90,590
FriSfipa Income tax expense (19,388)
FEEFE Profit for the year 71,202
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5. 2HER®) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
B e
Hh 242 RARE
5575 *% RIEES
Billboards
Metro and
Airports lines  building
business business  solutions Others Total
THT AT THT AT FET
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000
(re=3%1))
(Restated)
BZ2016F Year ended
12A31HIEEE 31 December 2016
A Revenue 685,434 457,843 157,867 169,651 1,470,795
NN Cost of revenue (541,974) (353,131) (138,312) (146,895) (1,180,312)
EX Gross profit 143,460 104,712 19,555 22,756 290,483

HE RS HE Selling and marketing

X expenses (126,638)
TR S Administrative expenses (149,909
HA A Other income 12,257
e - JFEE Other gains, net 24,315
&R Operating profit 50,508
EE WA Finance income 2,869
BhE A A Finance costs (2,545)
REWA - F58 Finance income, net 324
DIRABEE A TIA  Share of results of

WEHEE investments in

associates 5,255 - - - 5,255
BRET S B A RE Profit before income tax 56,087
iR Income tax expense (14,925)
FERE Profit for the year 41,162
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5. ZEER @)
WA B TSR :

R U ON
BEERME - ZERIFERA

REFEWP AR HAT

B ARE
e

AEBBAERERF  HEECANEFRE

BAASEEAB AN 10%HIA L -

AEENFERDEE (SR TARRLE
PEREERINURPEARERE

B AR

hEIARE
5
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue consisted of the following:

HBE12A3MBLEFE

Year ended 31 December

2017 & 2016 5

2017 2016

F#&x TF&TT

HKD’000 HKD'000

Adbvertising display revenue 1,589,651 1,333,390
Adbvertising production, installation and

dismantling revenue 169,593 137,405

1,759,244 1,470,795

The geographical distribution of the Group's revenue was
as follows:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 F 2016 4F

2017 2016

FHET FHIT

HKD’000 HKD’000

Mainland China 1,450,654 1,150,118
Hong Kong 308,590 320,677
1,759,244 1,470,795

The Group has a large number of customers, none of
which contributed 10% or more of the Group's total
revenue.

The Group'’s non-current assets other than financial
instruments and deferred income tax assets were located
in Mainland China and Hong Kong as follows:

MW12A31H

As at 31 December
2017 £ 20164
2017 2016
FHET FATT
HKD'000 HKD’000
(F2E%)
(Restated)
Mainland China 157,862 165,314
Hong Kong 9,785 7,679
167,647 172,993
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6. ME- WMERRE

R2016E181A
AR
ZithE

REFE

BE2016512A31R
d:3:4

PNEEFE

hE

AERIEER

i
HE
REBEER

HARREFE

R2016E12A31R
A
ZitHTE

HEHE

BZ2017512A318
LLEE

HEEFE

AE

ik

e

EriagEg

PREEFE
R2017%127318
N

2itE

REFE

At 1 January 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2016

Opening net book amount

Additions

Transfer from
construction-in-progress

Depreciation

Disposals

Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2017

Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BEN

Buildings
7
HKD'000

RERE

Advertising
fixtures
7
HKD'000

RENEEE

Leasehold
improvements
T
HKD'000

Motor
vehicles
T
HKD'000

BRR
WARME &t

Furniture

and office
Total
FHT
HKD'000

equipment
TAT
HKD'000

18,052 148,369 7,083 11,008 25,997 210,509
(1,296) (116,446) (4,105) (9,051) (15,627) (146,525)
16,756 31923 2,978 1,957 10,370 63,984
16,756 31923 2,978 1957 10,370 63,984
11,386 21,636 1,056 1,659 1,756 37493
- 38,415 - - - 38,415
(838) (25,526) (1,843) (806) (4,568) (33,581)
- - (169) (407) (151) (727)
(1,503) (3,263) (118) (108) (476) (5,466)
25,801 63,185 1,904 2,297 6,931 100,118
27,818 196,712 7,606 10,428 25,660 268,224
(2,017) (133,527) (5,702) (8,131) (18,729) (168,106)
25,801 63,185 1,904 2,297 6,931 100,118
25,801 63,185 1,904 2,297 6,931 100,118
1,939 15,179 5,233 1,219 1,682 25,252
(1,424) (29,603) (2,309) (780) (4,024) (38,140)
(185) (3,199) (132) (13) (618) (4,147)
1,820 3,539 114 130 320 5,923
27,951 49,101 4,810 2,853 4,291 89,006
31,583 217,969 11,533 11,899 26,057 299,041
(3,632) (168,868) (6,723) (9,046) (21,766) (210,035)
27,951 49,101 4,810 2,853 4,291 89,006
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6. YM¥E BENRSZEE) 6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
HMEYHYREMHEAWEEPE N5 Depreciation charges were expensed in the following
RIEER S ¢ categories in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income:
BE12A3MHLEE
Year ended 31 December
2017 F 20164
2017 2016
FHET T4
HKD’'000 HKD'000
NN Cost of revenue 27,607 25,976
THEX Administrative expenses 10,317 7,583
SHE R TIGHER Selling and marketing expenses 216 22
38,140 33,581
MH20175E12 A 318 © 24&## 11,519,000 As at 31 December 2017, buildings of net book value of
BT (20164 : 11,377,000/ 7T ) Ay iR £E HKD11,519,000 (2016: HKD11,377,000) was pledged as
WIE R 5,682,000 7T (2016 4F : 6,428,000 security for bank borrowings of HKD5,682,000 (2016:
BIT) MERTTIE FNAVIK IR (PIRE 22) © HKD6,428,000) (Note 22).
7. EEIR 7. CONSTRUCTION-IN-PROGRESS
BZ12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
2017 F 2016 %F
2017 2016
THET FHIT
HKD’'000 HKD'000
REA) At beginning of the year - 16,776
NE Additions = 22,017
EEREYE - REREE Transfer to property, plant and equipment - (38,415)
HEBBRE=E Currency translation differences - (378)
RELR At end of the year = =
R 2016 4F » 7 £ [B] 80 | 37 86 B B i 152 The construction of advertising facilities in Zhengzhou
TN ES S ME S L E RS Xinzheng International Airport Terminal 2 of the Group
W - HE RRE o completed and transferred to property, plant and
equipment in 2016.
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8.

1 i fsF FA#E 8. LAND USE RIGHTS

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 F 20164
2017 2016
F#ET FHT
HKD'000 HKD’'000
BIYIEREFE Opening net book amount 22,931 15,583
NE Additions 1,607 9,113
5 Amortisation (632) (414)
Bk e =5 Currency translation differences 1,641 (1,351)
HARERMFE Closing net book amount 25,547 22,931
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2017 2016 4F
2017 2016
THET FHIT
HKD'000 HKD'000
B X Cost 27,198 23,863
Sty Accumulated amortisation (1,651) (932)
BREFEE Net book amount 25,547 22,931
HZE2017F K2016F12A318 IEF Amortisation charges were expensed in administrative
& BHRA X TER A RAIERX - expenses during the years ended 31 December 2017 and
2016.
T E AR NP BIRRE - WIFE - Land use rights are located in Mainland China and for
2017412 4318 - 2## 14,809,000 self-use. As at 31 December 2017, land use rights of
7B 70 (2016 4F : 14,217,000/ 7T ) By £ i HKD14,809,000 (2016: HKD14,217,000) was pledged as
= F # {E /&5,682,000% 7T(2016%F : security for bank borrowings of HKD5,682,000 (2016:
6,428,000/ 7T ) HISRTT 18 SR AR (P 5 HKD6,428,000) (Note 22).
22) °
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9. REMWHE 9. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
HABN
Office units
FH&TT
HKD'000
R20165E1 818 (KEF) At 1 January 2016 (Restated) 6,557
N EES Changes in fair value 1,323
BEHhEER Currency translation differences (472)
201612 31 B (KE5) At 31 December 2016 (Restated) 7,408
Mn201751 818 (BEH) At 1 January 2017 (Restated) 7,408
N EES Changes in fair value 573
EBBREEE Currency translation differences 539
R2017%12H31H8 At 31 December 2017 8,520

(a) MNERPEINREVESH (a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment

properties

BE12A3MBLEE
Year ended 31 December

20175 2016
2017 2016
FET FH&TT
HKD’000 HKD’000
REMFEHHSWA Rental income from investment
(K12%28) properties (Note 28) 264 213
EAHSRANIREDE Direct operating expenses arising
EENEELERX from investment properties that
generate rental income - (86)
264 127
R2017F K&2016F12A831H K& As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group had no un-
BB R B4 E R I MR AR provided contractual obligations for future repairs and
BREE - maintenance.
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(b)

(c)

BREWF (#)

BEZH
REMEMRREARE - HRIRERE
M EsSFHEEROLETES A
SEBARN - WAMETTRMBEE
RER THEREERSWOT :

(b)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Leasing arrangements

The investment properties are located in Mainland China
and leased to tenants under operating leases of
approximately 1 to 5 years with rental payable monthly.
Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases of investment properties are receivable
as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December
2017 F 2016 4F
2017 2016
FTHET TR
HKD’'000 HKD’000
1R Within one year 292 268
HBiB 1 FEARBIBSF Later than one year but not
later than 5 years 201 461
493 729

REYENDTE
2017 F K% 2016512 8318 » NEE
M EWE A FED R4 58,520,000
T (AR ¥7,122,0007T ) K 7,408,000
BT (AR 6,627,0007T) © JhEAR
RIEE2BBIAERBEEGBEMLR
PREBETHARE AR RETHGE
BET - HEFRAEELRBRET I
B Z M E AR EIR AL A b
KNEBERTREHE  UR2BEED
% ERI AR AL IHE R 5 - REWER
AFEFEFERARTFEBLETNE
3% -

(c)

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of the Group's investment properties was
approximately HKD8,520,000 (RMB7,122,000) and
HKD7,408,000 (RMB6,627,000) as at 31 December 2017
and 2016, respectively, as determined by the directors of
the Company with reference to the valuation performed
by Beijing Zhong Tian Hua Asset Appraisal Company
Limited St R P XRE B EFHBRE E 2 A, an
independent qualified professional valuer. Valuation was
performed using the direct comparison method on the
assumption that the property can be sold in its existing
state subjected to existing tenancies or otherwise with the
benefit of vacant possession and making references to
comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant
market. The fair value measurement of the investment
properties is categorised within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy.
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10. B EE

MH2016FE1H81H

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 1 January 2016

BB
Computer
software

TAT
HKD’000

AR Cost 2,587

RETHEEE Accumulated amortisation (1,400)
BT FE Net book amount 1,187

BZE2016F12A831HLLEE Year ended 31 December 2016

HYIEREFE Opening net book amount 1,187

INE Additions 1,172

o Amortisation (462)
BERmEEE Currency translation differences (55)
BRER M FE Closing net book amount 1,842

R2016F12A31H At 31 December 2016

P AR Cost 3,601

B Accumulated amortisation (1,759)
BRTERE Net book amount 1,842

BZ2017%F12B831HILEE Year ended 31 December 2017

BRYIER T A Opening net book amount 1,842

NE Additions 320

5y Amortisation (589)
BEBHREEE Currency translation differences 41

HRAREFE Closing net book amount 1,614
M2017%12831H At 31 December 2017

XA Cost 4,087

S Accumulated amortisation (2,473)
BRTEFE Net book amount 1,614

HE2017F K2016F12 A31H IE4F
€ T HRTRAZ R IIERY -

Amortisation charges were expensed in administrative
expenses during the year ended 31 December 2017 and
2016.
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11.

(a)

BAFEIAEHZFENEHME 1.
ERATHEESHEE
BAFEFIAASRNESHEE (a)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS AND AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 F 2016 4F

2017 2016

FTHERT TR

HKD’'000 HKD'000

REHD At beginning of the year 4,537 3,877

NE Additions 847 588

RERERHO R FEMKES Fair value gains recognised in

(K1a%29) profit or loss (Note 29) 569 72
REL > YRFERS At end of the year, all non-current

R¥FLEm and unlisted 5,953 4,537

BAFEIIABSENSREERMN
BARABASRE - AEBLHRENR
@mA c FARABASRENRERYIIE
ERBEATEIABRRNSRHEE -
BATEINAERRNSREERFE
BB AGZ S RERTH [ Hh(F
18), ez - FE] -

ETREBRABASRENRENA
FEERARRASRE ([BRRRER
BNEA -BBRASREEACHANE

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
represented two key-man life insurance policies. The
Group is the beneficiary of the insurance policies. The
investments in key-man life insurance policies were
designated as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss at inception. Changes in fair values of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in
‘other (losses)/gains, net’ in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Discounted cash flow (“DCF"”) model was applied to
determine the fair value of the investments in key-man life
insurance policies. The significant assumptions and inputs

KBEMEABEDT : used in the DCF model were as follows:
®12A31H
As at 31 December
2017 F 2016 %
2017 2016
TR Mortality adjustment 90% 90%
BHIR & Discount rate 3.80% 4.13%
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11.

(b)

BAVEIABRERNEHE
ERTHEHESREE @)

AHfHEESRMEE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS AND AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 £ 2016 4F

2017 2016

TET THETT

HKD’'000 HKD’000

REA At beginning of the year 8,346 56,926

He Disposals - (48,976)
REAARE W R Fair value gains recognised in

NP EWRER other comprehensive income 72 396

REL  HRFERD

AHhESREERS THFREGRRE
T ZEXHUERENRAFHETDERER
TTARENEE - BFESCERATR
TERAASERHETRENER -
ARBEERR  ERRITREZEER
Wt AFEBARE  ARNEERARR
BEMEE-

BAFEIARSRA S BEE R AT H#
HESREEBANETIIE -

RS B EN SRR EERRAE
NEEIABERNEREERATHE
ETREENREE -
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At end of the year, all non-current
R¥FLEm and unlisted

8,418 8,346

The available-for-sale financial assets represented certain
unquoted bond funds. The fair values of these traded
investments are based on the statements provided by the
bank. The bond funds were pledged to the bank as
securities for certain facilities granted to the Group. The
directors of the Company believe that the estimated fair
values based on the statements provided by the bank are
reasonable, and that they are the most appropriate values
at the balance sheet date.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in
HKD.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial
assets.



ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

. RENEsNEMITA 12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

BRATLEFIA
EXK B RN AHHE
FE W FRIE SREE CREE
Financial
assets Available-

at fair value for-sale

Loans and through financial
receivables profit or loss assets Total
TET FET FET FHET
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

M2017F12831H At 31 December 2017
JFE Ukt B 0 K L 4th FE Uk Trade and other receivables
FIE(TRIEBEMEE  excluding prepaid taxes and

AE M TER FRIE) other prepayments 544,572 = = 544,572
BAFEYAIBZRERA  Financial assets at fair value
TREE through profit or loss - 5,953 = 5,953
At ESREE Available-for-sale financial
assets - - 8,418 8,418
ZRE|IRE Restricted cash 71,768 - - 71,768
SEERER Short-term deposits 31,628 - - 31,628
B FIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 299,188 - - 299,188
947,156 5,953 8,418 961,527

M2016%F12H831H At 31 December 2016
J7E Wi BR 2 K LA R Uk Trade and other receivables
FIE(TEEEMNTBIE  excluding prepaid taxes

A TEN FRIH) and other prepayments 447,853 — - 447,853
BAFEYIAIBZRERA  Financial assets at fair value
TREE through profit or loss - 4,537 - 4,537
A ESmEE Available-for-sale financial
assets - - 8,346 8,346
SREHIRE Restricted cash 63,552 - - 63,552
HEATFER Short-term deposits 46,737 = = 46,737
RNENRREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 217,336 - - 217,336
775,478 4,537 8,346 788,361
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12. ZERESHWEMIAE) 12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)
RE A
ABRHERE
Liabilities at
amortised cost
T
HKD’'000
M2017F12831H At 31 December 2017
EE Borrowings 144,350
JE S BRE 3k K b B A5 FROR Trade and other payables excluding advance
(TBREEREFPENFIAER received from customers and
HAh e FIR) other taxes payable 411,571
555,921
R2016%F12H31H At 31 December 2016
EE Borrowings 66,948
FEAT BRFR I EL A FE A 3R IE Trade and other payables excluding advance
(TMEREREFENRER received from customers and
HAbERTIE) other taxes payable 334,077
401,025
13. REFELQARINRE 13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
BE12A31HLEE
MW12A31H
Year ended/As at 31 December
2017 2016 4F
2017 2016
THET T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
REH At beginning of the year 26,997 37,938
S Share of results 8,584 5,255
f% B Dividend (10,715) (13,745)
B =R Currency translation differences 2,525 (2,451)
REK At end of the year 27,391 26,997
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13. REE QTN E (&)

LA AAREEN 2017412 A 31 B a5
ZAal e NBE AR RHASEERER
A HaAMKZBRIAABEEBEEH
2o

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Set out below were the associates of the Group as at 31
December 2017. The associates as listed below were held
directly by the Group, their country of incorporation is
also their principal place of business.

BEEAH TR B

Name of entity Date of incorporation

BEIKAEREGRAR] 20064 A 29 A
(ME2kAMES D)

Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 29 April 2006
Company Limited

(BRKAESAERAF)
(“Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising”)

EATEREEETERAFR 20126 6 A20H

(TEATEIR))

Guangxi Top Source Media 20 June 2012

Company Limited
(RAERRERREARAR)

("Guangxi Top Source”)

YIS A EHEAR AR 201349298

(MR A 1)

Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 29 September 2013

Media Company Limited
(RIBSREEEEARAT)
(“Shenzhen Airport Asiaray”)

ZEBERARAEENRKEAIER
o REEETETRRmHES LT
BEEE o

BERB2HMABLART » RIALEA
BHE - BEAEAKEREZ X FH
BamEASREE  BBEQAER
BEXBMNEAEETES KRS -

EXRENBERAREEEAERXS
M HENEEIBAAAREEERS
R X R TR E K -

ARAREERR  BEIAERSE R
BERTHEAEEMSBEKN  ME
FAIRRAAEERNL AEX -

mens/

R FARERLS REME

Place of business/ Percentage of

country of ownership  Nature of

incorporation interest  business

Y 30% RBERLESI
s e

The PRC 30%  Development and

operations of out-of-
home advertising media

Y 40% RBERLEPIN
EERE
The PRC 40%  Development and

operations of out-of-
home advertising media

Y 49% RBERLEPIN
EERE
The PRC 49%  Development and

operations of out-of-
home advertising media

These associates are strategic partners of the Group,
providing access to new customers and markets in
different cities in PRC.

All of the associates are private companies and there are
no market values available for the associates. There are
no significant contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interests in the associates and there are no significant
restrictions on the transfer of assets or earnings from the
associates to the Group.

The English names of the above associates referred to
above represented the best efforts by management of
the Company in translating their Chinese names, as they
do not have official English names.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Fujian
Zhaoxiang Advertising and Shenzhen Airport Asiaray are
material to the Group, while Guangxi Top Source is
immaterial to the Group.
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13. REFEQATNRE () 13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
(a) FEEEARESHUBENHE: (@) Summarised financial information for Fujian Zhaoxiang
Advertising:
(i) BEBEXEE (i)  Summarised balance sheet
MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2017 20164F
2017 2016
FHET T4
HKD'000 HKD’'000
B Current
BE Assets 82,660 65,526
af& Liabilities (127,381) (98,460)
BB EFEE Total net current liabilities (44,721) (32,934)
IERE Non-current
BE Assets 36,038 40,705
=L Liabilities (6,560) (7,006)
FkRBEEFEAS Total net non-current assets 29,478 33,699
(BfE) EEZE Net (liabilities)/assets (15,243) 765
(i)  HEEEXHE (i)~ Summarised statement of comprehensive loss

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 % 20164

2017 2016

THERT T

HKD'000 HKD'000

WA Revenue 152,046 92,777
FEEIE Loss for the year (15,521) (31,812
FEFSERER Total comprehensive loss for the year (16,008) (32,599)
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13. REFEDAINRE (#) 13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
(a) TBEKFESHNHBEREE: (&) (a) Summarised financial information for Fujian Zhaoxiang
Advertising: (Continued)
(i) B BERGFEL R (iii)  Reconciliation of summarised financial information
27 Er B EERERR Reconciliation of the summarised financial
BRI ELSIEREmEYE information presented to the carrying amount of the
m Group's interest in Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising is
as follows:

BZ12H8318LEE/

R12H31H
Year ended/As at 31 December
2017 F 20165
2017 2016
F#ExT FHT
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FHNEEFE Net assets at beginning of the year 765 33,364
FEEE Loss for the year (15,521) (31,812)
ERHMEEE Currency translation differences (487) (787)
FER(AEB) EERE Closing net (liabilities)/assets (15,243) 765
B E R R RS (30%) Interest in the associate (30%) = 230
[ Goodwill - 3,989
BREE Carrying value - 4,219
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13. RBEEQRINRE (&)
(b) RYIBSIE OB ERME -

() BEREXHZE

RBEEFEAST

FERE

FRBEEFEAT

BEERE

(i) AEKBEREE

YA
FE I
FREEFE KRR
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13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b) Summarised financial information for Shenzhen Airport
Asiaray:
(i) Summarised balance sheet

M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2017 & 20164
2017 2016
FHET FHIT
HKD’000 HKD’000
Current
Assets 166,098 140,372
Liabilities (119,102) (97,124)
Total net current assets 46,996 43,248
Non-current
Assets 35,075 18,285
Total net non-current assets 35,075 18,285
Net assets 82,071 61,533

(i)  Summarised statement of comprehensive income

BZ12831HLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 F 2016 4F

2017 2016

FHET FHIT

HKD'000 HKD'000

Revenue 585,464 514,771

Profit for the year 37,546 36,638
Total comprehensive

income for the year 42,405 32,670
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13.

(b)

RBEQRBNRE (&)
RY BB OB ERE ()

(i) BB ERLZER

25 B ER R BAEER
RYI SRR SREEY

FREAE -

FHNEERE
F R
&8
BERMEEE

FREEZRE

AR & A B Y 23 (49%)
HApFHE (%)

IREE

HZE2017F & 20165F 12 A31H
LIEFE - iR EREMiER
RYIE IS Hett 4 BRI AL
BRAR(HEEHRE] - H55%
MRS BRI IS M B
B LR SZFHIA

*)

13.
(b)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information for Shenzhen Airport
Asiaray: (Continued)

(ili)  Reconciliation of summarised financial information
Reconciliation of the summarised financial
information presented to the carrying amount of the
Group’s interest in Shenzhen Airport Asiaray is as

follows:

BZ12H8318LEE/

M®12H31H

Year ended/As at 31 December

2017 2016 4F

2017 2016

F#ExT FHT

HKD'000 HKD’'000

Net assets at beginning of the year 61,533 56,915
Profit for the year 37,546 36,638
Dividend (21,867) (28,052)
Currency translation differences 4,859 (3,968)
Closing net assets 82,071 61,533
Interest in the associate (49%) 40,215 30,151
Other adjustments (*) (12,825) (7,373)
Carrying value 27,390 22,778

(&) Other adjustments mainly represented elimination of
upstream transaction between Shenzhen Airport Asiaray
and Shenzhen Yashi Metro Company Limited (“Yashi
Metro”) (7 I % £+ % 8 4 FR 2 &), whose 55% equity
interest was directly held by Shenzhen Airport Asiaray
for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.
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13. RBEEQRIMNRE &) 13.
(€ EARRNHBENEEMNT (c)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information for Guangxi Top
Source:

BZ128318LEE/

MW12A31H
Year ended/As at 31 December
2017 20164
2017 2016
FHET BRI
HKD'000 HKD’'000
BHIMBRERT 2 REE Carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements - =
WA Revenue 70,227 59,341
ERBERIRE EBIRAE Share of loss and total

comprehensive loss - -

R2016F 12 A318 * ARAEEE(S
EEREBEERERIBERAER © it
REABRNEERABERIES -
FE 1 85 #8 4,940,000 7T R R E =
201712 A31 B IEFEMR(20164F ¢
6,311,000/ 7T) °
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The carrying amount of the investment in Guangxi Top
Source was reduced to nil as at 31 December 2016 as the
Group's share of loss had exceeded its interest in Guangxi
Top Source. Share of loss HKD4,940,000 was not
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2017. (2016:
HKD6,311,000).



ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. B AT 14. SUBSIDIARIES
THAR2017E12 831 B2 EKB The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31
NG December 2017.
847 FER
B TEEBA EEREH AEERAN REEEN AEERAN
RtEREEE HES BRIRAHE  EERUA%)  EEREAIC)  EEREAC)  BERLA%
Proportion of
Proportion of Proportion of ordinary Proportion of
Place of incorporation ordinary shares ordinary  shares held by preference
and kind of Principal activities and Particulars of issued directlyheld ~ sharesheldby  non-controlling  shares held by
Company Name legal entity place of operation share capital by parent (%)  the Group (%) interests (%) the Group (%)
ARTERRE:
Directly held by the Company:
B AERERERAR ZBRAEE BREMANT REBK EERRES 50000727 100% - - -
Asiaray Media Holdings Limited BVI, limited Investment holding, BVI HKD50,000
liability company
ARAEERE
Indirectly held by the Company:
Asiaray Metro Media Limited £ BRELAT PHELHERE 54 1% - 100% = =
Asiaray Metro Media Limited Hong Kong, limited Out-of-home advertising HKD1
liability company media services, Hong Kong
EthEERRERAA £t BRELAR PHEERRIRE B 2,500,007 - 100% - -
Asiaray Advertising Media Limited Hong Kong, limited Out-of-home advertising HKD2,500,000
liability company media services, Hong Kong
Asiaray Outdoor Media Limited £ BRELAT FINELHERE 54 10,000/7 - 100% = =
Asiaray Outdoor Media Limited Hong Kong, limited Out-of-home advertising HKD10,000
liability company media services, Hong Kong
Asiaray Megamedia Limited &k BREAAR Fit B BIR 10,0007 - 100% - -
BERY B
Asiaray Megamedia Limited Hong Kong, limited Design, consultancy, HKD10,000
liability company construction and
maintenance services,
Hong Kong
Genesis Printing And Production Limited &% * AREEAE BE - £E TEN 10,0007 = 100% - -
MR - 2R
Genesis Printing And Production Limited  Hong Kong, limited Advertising, production, HKD10,000
liability company installation and dismantling
services, Hong Kong
RBESARAT B5 ARAMLA e 10000870 - 100% - -
Asiaray Advertising Limited Hong Kong, limited Inactive, Hong Kong HKD10,000
liability company
BERTERRERLA B ARAMLA REER &R 9900370 - 100% - -
Hong Kong Asiaray Advertising Limited  Hong Kong, limited Investment holding, HKD9,900
liability company Hong Kong
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14. BT &) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
807 FER
R AeE EEEEH FEERAN REFEN AEEREN
RiteREEE BRIRAHE  EERUA%N)  EEREAC)  EEREAC)  BERLA%
Proportion of
Proportion of Proportion of ordinary Proportion of
Place of incorporation ordinary shares ordinary  shares held by preference
and kind of Principal activities and Particulars of issued directly held ~ sharesheldby  non-controlling  shares held by
Company Name legal entity place of operation share capital by parent (%) the Group (%) interests (%) the Group (%)
Tt AEBERAR BE ARELAA PHESRBRE ik 10%71 - 100% - -
Asiaray Media Limited Hong Kong, limited Out-of-home advertising HKD10
liability company media services, Hong Kong
Tt &RRARAR &t BRELAA PHESRRRE Bt 10,0003
Asiaray Screen Aliance Limited Hong Kong, limited Out-of-home advertising HKD10,000 - 100% - -
liability company media services, Hong Kong
LERtEEEARAA(LERILR]) T8 BRELAA PHESRRR 6 ARH50,000,000 7 - 100% - -
Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Company  The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB50,000,000
Limited ("Shanghai Asiaray") liability company media services, the PRC
(LERtARERRAR)
LEXUERRERERLT RE - BRATAR PESRERY =8 ARH2,3655307C - 100% - -
Shanghai Meidlisi Advertising Media The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB2,365,530
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(LERIEREERARAR)
IR ERRRRAA RE - AREAEAR PINEERRRS 8 AR#$10,000,0007C - 100% - -
Zhejiang Asiaray Advertising The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(FIRRREERAA)
MIEEREERAT hE - EREARA FHEERRRE S8 ABH1,0000007 - 100% - -
Shenzhen Yatie Advertising The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(RHIEAREERAR)
LERtREEERERAR hE - ERELAA PHESRRRE =6 ARH40,000,000 T - 100% - -
(e
Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Media The PRC, limited QOut-of-home advertising RMBA40,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
("Shanghai Advertising Media")
(LERtAREERERAH)
BARARRSRRAT RE - BRATAR PONESRERY =8 ARH1,0300007C - 100% - -
Guangzhou Asiaray Advertising The PRC, limited QOut-of-home advertising RMB1,030,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(EMELREEERAA)
ERTERTAEEERERAT hE - BRELAA FHEERRRE  HE AB#50,000,0007C - 51% 49% -
(k)
Yunnan Airport Asiaray Information The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB50,000,000
Media Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
("Yunnan Airport Asiaray”)

(ERZRRAERERARDA)
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14. B AT (&)

Company Name

MIELEEEERAA

Shenzhen Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited
(MIBLREEERAA)

BRETEEEARLA

Hainan Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited
(GERLEREERAR)

Tt

Yashi Metro

RBEEERSERAA

Chengdu Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited
(RAREREARAT)

IREHERERRAR

Beijing Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited
(EREHARERRAR)

BB AREARAT

Xi'an Asiaray Advertising Company
Limited
(RRRRREERAA)

EERIARSERAR

Qingdao Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited
(EBRLRELARAA)

ABEARTERRERLA
(TAmEARLE])

Henan Airport Asiaray Media
Company Limited
("Henan Airport Asiaray")
(TEZERTEERERLT)

LEEtAREERARAA

Shanghai Asiaray Media Communication
Company Limited
(BBt REERARAA)

AR
REERERY

Place of incorporation
and kind of
legal entity

hE - BRAFLR
The PRC, limited
liability company

hE - ERAEAR
The PRC, limited
liability company

HE - BRERLA

The PRC, limited liability
company

HE - BRERLA

The PRC, limited
liability company

hE - AREAAR
The PRC, limited
liability company

hE AREMAR
The PRC, limited
liability company

hE - BRAELR
The PRC, limited
liability company

hE - BRELAA

The PRC, limited
liability company

hE - AREAAR
The PRC, limited
liability company

14.

FEREA

EXuE BRIRREE

Principal activities and Particulars of issued

place of operation share capital

BHNBEEBRE  HE AR 10000007

Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
media services, the PRC

FAMEERERE  T& ABR#2,0000007

Out-of-home advertising RMB2,000,000
media services, the PRC

FAMEERERE P& AR 1,000,000

Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
media services, the PRC

FAMEERERE T8 AR 1,200,000

Out-of-home advertising RMB1,200,000
media services, the PRC

FMELEERE w8 ABR#105000007

Out-of-home advertising RMB10,500,000
media services, the PRC

PAEERERRE w8 AR 1,000,000

Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
media services, the PRC

FABEEERE AR 100000007

Out-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000
media services, the PRC

FAMEERERE P& ABRH5,000,0007

Out-of-home advertising RMB5,000,000
media services, the PRC

FAMEERERE w8 AR 1,000,000

Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000

media services, the PRC

817
ERERN
EERLA (%)

Proportion of
ordinary shares
directly held
by parent (%)

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AEEERN
EERLA (%)

Proportion of

ordinary
shares held by
the Group (%)

100%

100%

12%

100%

100%

100%

100%

51%

100%

Asiaray Media Group Limited

FER
REEEN
EERIA (%)
Proportion of
ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling
interests (%)

2%

49%

2017 Annual Report

AREERN
BERLA (%)

Proportion of

preference
shares held by
the Group (%)
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14. BT &) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
84T FER
AR IHE ERREN AEEREN REEEN AEEREN
REpERER BRRARE  BERHAC)  EERUA  EEREAC)  BERLH
Proportion of
Proportion of Proportion of ordinary Proportion of
Place of incorporation ordinary shares ordinary  shares held by preference
and kind of Principal activities and Particulars of issued directly held ~ sharesheldby  non-controlling shares held by
Company Name legal entity place of operation share capital by parent (%)  the Group (%) interests (%) the Group (%)
AR RRERAA HE ARALLE RERS T8 AR%1,0000007 = 100% - -
Shenzhen Baimoshi Advertising The PRC, limited Advertising services, the PRC RMB1,000,000
Company Limited liability company
(MR EEERAR)
EORCBIAERERAA(EHELE PR FRELAR PHEERRES =8 AR3,6000007 - 75% 2% -
Waxi Asiaray Metro Media Company The PRC, limited QOut-of-home advertising RMB3,600,000
Limited ("Wuxi Asiaray”) liability company media services, the PRC
(ESECREERARAR)
IREEREBRARAA HE - BRATAT PHRERERS 78 ARE1,0000007T - 100% - -
Beijing Yatie Media Communication The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(LREHESERARAR)
ERNRRLARSERAR(ERNR)) 78 ERELAA PHESRRRE 6 AR 1442440070 - 9% 31% -
Qingdao Chengtou Asiaray Advertising  The PRC, limited QOut-of-home advertising RMB14,424,400
Company Limited (*Qingdao Chengtou")  liability company media services, the PRC
(FEARELEREARAR)
IREEBRREARAA hE - ERELAA EERY & AR1,000,00070 - 100% - -
Beijing Chuangshibowei Advertising The PRC, limited Advertising services, the PRC RMB1,000,000
Company Limited liability company
(LREtBEREARAR)
REREEEEEARAT hE FREMAA PAEEHRRS =8 AR#10,0000007 - 60% 40% -
Tianjin Yatie Media Communication The PRC, limited QOut-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(RRRHESERARLT)
ML RRERAA HE BRALE PONEERERY 8 AE#10,000,0007 - 100% - -
Zhejiang Yatie Advertising The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000
Company Limited liability company media senvices, the PRC
(RTEEREERAR)
RIXREAREEERLA HE ARAMELT RERH 8 ARH5,0000007 - 100% - -
Shenzhen Skynet Creative Media The PRC, limited Advertising services, the PRC RMB5,000,000
Advertising Company Limited liability company

(R ERIRRERRAR)
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14. B2 E (&)

(a)

ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ% BN E B - REENH
RAIF A RS AR L ) B P AO AR AR
% SLE I —B o

R2017F12 A31 8 & I 4= B% # 25
43,803,0003% 7T (2016 4F : 34,950,000
BIT) BN ER S AR IEE H&ﬁ’i
2B - 72017512 A 31 BHIFEIEAR

e 251,135,000 JT(2016% :

3,186, ooo,%rz)éﬁi/‘frﬁ SE MR IE
PR AR - R 2017512 A31 BHY
JE 172 B B At 4,483,000 7 JT B K =2 HE 4
BEEEARATMIEEREREH -

ARG B A R 5] B AR R OR8]
BREERR SRFERRIEALE
B AGI=NSIVNG

REBEMIERENIE A RO IFEE
SHAEELFER -

EARE

2017 F K 2016512310 @ £ &
BEAEHENES REHERD A
251,274,000 7T % 198,383,000/ 7T
WAREHINEE HERETRR - 2%
= Hh NG B IR R PR )38 18 1 F A% B A
INFREECELPE -

BERBEAFERERAME QRN
BRI
THZEBTEAHESEERNEZ

() BEAREXRHE

14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a)

All subsidiaries are included in the consolidation. The
proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiaries held by
the Group does not differ from the proportion of equity
interests held.

The non-controlling interest of HKD43,803,000 as at 31
December 2017 (2016: HKD34,950,000) was relating to
the non-controlling interest in Yunnan Airport Asiaray.
The non-controlling interest of HKD1,135,000 as at 31
December 2017 (2016: HKD3,186,000) was relating to the
non-controlling interest in Henan Airport Asiaray. The
non-controlling deficit of HKD4,483,000 as at 31
December 2017 was relating to the non-controlling
interest in Tianjin Yatie Media Communication Company
Limited.

As the Group had the power to control the financial and
operating policies of the above two entities, they had
been accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group.

The non-controlling interests of the Group’s other non-
wholly owned subsidiaries are not material to the Group.

Significant restrictions

Cash and short-term deposits of HKD251,274,000 and
HKD198,383,000 were held in Mainland China as at 31
December 2017 and 2016, respectively, and are subject
to local exchange control regulations. These local
exchange control regulations provide for restrictions on
exporting capital from the country, other than through
normal dividends.

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
material non-controlling interests

Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
Asiaray:

(i) Summarised balance sheet

M12H831H
As at 31 December
2017 & 2016 4F
201 7 2016
FETT
HKD'000
TRE Current
BE Assets 262,449 200,052
afE Liabilities (220,841) (174,687)
REBEEFEEA Total net current assets 41,608 25,365
FEFE Non-current
BE Assets 47,786 45,963
ERBEEFEL Total net non-current assets 47,786 45,963
EEFE Net assets 89,394 71,328
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14. B E (&) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEE AEERERSKHE A=K Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
RS () material non-controlling interests (Continued)
() EEEERENEEREE | () (a)  Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
Asiaray: (continued)
(i) EZREWERBE (i) Summarised statement of comprehensive income

HZ12A31MHILEE
Year ended 31 December

YA
BR P15 Bt A A1)
PSR

HREEXBNE
Hiv#r & &8

REWEAE

[RE: PayEisediies Faly)
e et H R

) FE 4% A s R < AU RS
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2017 F 2016 5
2017 2016
F#&x FHIT
HKD’'000 HKD'000
Revenue 311,367 260,706
Profit before income tax 82,957 75,488
Income tax expense (12,527) (11,796)
Profit from continuing operations 70,430 63,692
Other comprehensive loss (6,881) (5,515)
Total comprehensive income 63,549 58,177
Total comprehensive income
allocated to non-controlling
interest 31,139 28,507
Dividend paid to non-controlling
interest 28,323 45,733
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14.

(a)

MELR &)
BERERGFERERAME QRN TE
BERBE(F)
TRZEBHRMANNBEENRE - (B)

(il BHeREXRME

14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(a)  Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
Asiaray: (continued)
(i)  Summarised statement of cash flows

BZE12A3MBLEE
Year ended 31 December
2017 & 2016 4F

2017 2016
TR THAT

EETHRENEERE

RERERE
EHHAEH

LERPAFREFR
REEH (A FER:
R
BMERDITRESFE
RERBEEEY

#@h,/ (Rd) B
FNNRERREFEY

RekRSEEMNER
Wess,/ (B5H8)

FRORERBESEEY

HKD’000 HKD’000

Cash flows from operating

activities
Cash generated from operations 16,463 60,161
Income tax paid (10,994) (13,442)

Net cash generated from

operating activities 5,469 46,719
Net cash (used in)/generated from

investing activities (5,080) 25,855
Net cash used in financing activities - (92,512)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash

and cash equivalents 389 (19,938)
Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of the year 42,005 65,248
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash

and cash equivalents 2,958 (3,305)

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year 45,352 42,005
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14. BT &) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
EEERFERESNKE QTN Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
ERBE (&) material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(b) JARZEEAAENTEERBEE (b)  Summarised financial information of Henan Airport

Asiaray:
iy EBEABERHME ()  Summarised balance sheet
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2017 F 20164
2017 2016
FHET F&T
HKD’000 HKD’'000
E Current
BE Assets 76,031 53,091
=R Liabilities (139,467) (106,893)
REEEREER Total net current liabilities (63,436) (53,802)
FERE Non-current
BE Assets 70,238 65,615
aE Liabilities (4,486) (5,310)
ERBEEFEA Total net non-current assets 65,752 60,305
BEEE Net assets 2,316 6,503
iy HZEWERBE (i)  Summarised statement of comprehensive income

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 F 20164

2017 2016

FHET T

HKD'000 HKD'000

WA Revenue 155,690 118,808

KPS LRI ES 18 Loss before income tax (6,142) (13,923)

FrEfHE R Income tax credit 1,657 3,627

BEREEERE Loss from continuing operations (4,485) (10,296)

Hihsr & B8 Other comprehensive loss (2,921) (678)

REERAE Total comprehensive loss (7,406) (10,974)
EE DA IR Total comprehensive loss allocated

A EBEEE to non-controlling interest (3,629) (5,377)
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14. BT (&) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEE ARSI E A =& Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
BREE () material non-controlling interests (Continued)
b) ST ERE RS EREE (1) (b)  Summarised financial information of Henan Airport
Asiaray: (Continued)
iy BEREREE (i)  Summarised statement of cash flows

BZE12A3MBLEE
Year ended 31 December
2017 & 2016 4F

2017 2016
TR THAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

EETHENRSRE Cash flows from operating

activities
KERSIRE Cash generated from operations 19,913 18,737
BAF) B Interest paid (360) (441)
DTSR Income tax paid (1,993) (1,911)
EERBMERS R Net cash generated from
operating activities 17,560 16,385
B EEF RS FE Net cash used in investing activities (888) (17,829)
BEEBFTAR R Net cash used in financing activities - (1,167)
HeERBLEEY Net increase/(decrease) in cash
#hn, CRd) B8 and cash equivalents 16,672 (2,611)
FUNRe NELEFED Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 19,193 23,164
RERFSEBEYER Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and
Wz, (E518) cash equivalents 1,926 (1,360)

FRNREREASEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year 37,791 19,193
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14. BT (&) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
EEEARFERESNHE QTN K Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
BRI () material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(c) KPEBREESZEERN M EER (c)  Summarised financial information of Tianjin Yatie Media
i Communication Company Limited:
iy EBEABERHE ()  Summarised balance sheet

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
2017 £ 2016 4F
2017 2016
F#&T T
HKD’000 HKD’000
TRE Current
BE Assets 33,630 -
afE Liabilities (52,627) -
REBAETFEALTT Total net current liabilities (18,997) -
IEFE Non-current
BE Assets 7,790 -
kB EEFEA Total net non-current assets 7.790 =
BEEH Net liabilities (11,207) -
(i) fHREWERBE (i) Summarised statement of comprehensive income

HBE12A3MBLEFE

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016 4F

2017 2016

FHBT F&T

HKD'000 HKD’'000

WA Revenue 20,183 =

M ETS BRI ES 8 Loss before income tax (29,829) -

st e Income tax credit 7,439 -

RFEREXBER Loss from continuing operations (22,390) =

HEira Eia Other comprehensive loss (779) -

LAERAE Total comprehensive loss (23,169) -
B 5 eI R R ) Total comprehensive loss allocated

FeEBiReE to non-controlling interest (9,268) -
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14. BT (&) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEE REIERESVKHE D B/ Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
BERE (&) material non-controlling interests (Continued)

() KREFREESEEEGRAFANMBEER (c)  Summarised financial information of Tianjin Yatie Media
PLE : (48) Communication Company Limited: (Continued)
iy REMERBE (i)  Summarised statement of cash flow

BZE12A3MBLEE
Year ended 31 December
2017 &

2016 4F
2016
F&T
HKD'000

2017
FERT
HKD’000

EETHRENEERE

LELHEREFHE

REDHMAESIFE
REEBAERESFE

RERRESEEY
b= IlIDEE
FUNNRERREEFEY
R MREFEYHER
Yoz
FRNBEERREEEY

Cash flows from operating
activities
Cash generated from operations

Net cash generated from
operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash generated from financing
activities

Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of the year
Exchange gains on cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year

Asiaray Media Group Limited

7,328

7,328
(86)

11,354

18,596

647

19,243
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15. EEMRBH 15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX
BB EAERBBHONTT : The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is
as follows:
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2017 F 20164F
2017 2016
FHET T4
HKD'000 HKD’'000
(F&&=751)
(Restated)
EEEREE : Deferred income tax assets:
— 12 1E8 A Rk E — to be recovered within 12 months 45,176 43,054
— R 12 & A& Uk — to be recovered after 12 months 40,726 37,512
85,902 80,566
BEEFBREsE Deferred income tax liabilities:
—R12EARNEE — to be settled within 12 months (2,042) (2,491)
83,860 78,075
EEFAS AR B R Z BT The net movement on the deferred income tax account is
as follows:

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 20165

2017 2016

THERT FAT

HKD’000 HKD'000

(FeE31))

(Restated)

FH) Beginning of the year 78,075 78,418
RIBa PR (M e 31) Recognised in profit or loss (Note 31) 911 4,634
BENER R MR Charged directly to equity (10) (53)
HEARNESHEE Disposal of available-for-sale financial assets - (240)
B E 5 Currency translation differences 4,884 (4,684)
FIR End of the year 83,860 78,075
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15. EIEFTISHE (&)
EEFSHATRE |

15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
Deferred income tax assets:

MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2017 2016 4F
2017 2016

THET FET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
(F&&=75)

(Restated)

UT&EEGEFEEHEZEEN The balance comprises temporary

- 3 differences attributable to:
HIEEE Tax losses 40,726 37,512
TERBH Accruals 40,053 37,829
JE W GRIE R B B Provision for impairment of receivables 4,355 4,235
BERTF—MEE 58 Discounting effect of loans to an associate

METE 669 849
AHHESRMEERN Fair value change on available-for-sale

NEEEDY financial assets 89 99
EERE Depreciation allowance 10 _
FIABRENESREE Fair value change on financial assets

NP ER through profit or loss - 42
BIETIAE ERE Total deferred tax assets 85,902 80,566
RIBIR SR 7E #1088 Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant

FEIEFRIA A E to set-off provisions (2,042) (2,491)
BIET A& EIFE Net deferred tax assets 83,860 78,075
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15. ELEFRBB () 15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
BIEREHREERBENE S (KT R Movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
R R A RRIEENER) AT ¢ without taking into consideration the offsetting of

balances within the same tax jurisdiction is as follows:

RIEFTSTHEE - Deferred income tax assets:

LESY AfHE 5 AR

BUzE —EBEAE  SREEN SREE

REE#R REER HERR  NEEFE  AVESD AYERE
Fair value Fair value

change on change on

Discounting available- financial
Provision for effect of for-sale assets  Provision for
impairment of  loans to an financial  Depreciation through  compensation
Tax losses Accruals  receivables associate assets allowance  profit or loss loss Total
TR TR TR TER TR TR TR TER TR
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

BE2017512A3ALEE  Year ended 31 December 2017

REA(EES]) At beginning of the year (Restated) 37,512 37829 4,235 849 99 - 42 = 80,566
RERFTA/ (%) Credited/(charged) to profitor loss 940 (170) (17 (231 - 10 (42) - 33
REMEFERE 0 Charged to other comprehensive

income - - - - (10) - - = (10)

LETREESRHER Disposal of available-for-sale

financial assets - - - - = = o = -
EhREEE Currency translation differences 2,274 2,394 Ll 51 - = o o 5,010

RER Atend of the year 40,726 40,053 4,355 669 89 10 - - 85,902

BZ2016F12A31ALEE  Year ended 31 December 2016

REY (EEF) At beginning of the year (Restated) 21,466 40,347 5012 1,183 392 - 49 11,605 80,054
RNESPIA/ (1) Credited/(charged) to profit o loss 17,855 (160) 479) (270) - - [0l (11,343) 5,59
REMEGERED Charged to other comprehensive

income - - - - (83) - - - (53)
HETREESRHER Disposal of available-for-sale

financial assets - - - - (240) - - - (240)
ERREZE Currency translation differences (1,809) (2,358) (298) (64 = = = (262) 4,791)
WER (&) Atend of the year (Restated) 31512 31,829 4,235 849 99 - [} - 80,566
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15. EIEFTIEHE (&)
EEFTERHALE

15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
Deferred income tax liabilities:

UT&EEGEFEEHEZEEN The balance comprises temporary

o5
BAHES A B R
BREWMELATFERE

EENVIR R ERE

RIFE SE AR E
EEHARE

EERIARBEFER

differences attributable to:
Depreciation allowance
Fair value gains on investment property
at fair value through profit of loss

Total deferred tax liabilities

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities
pursuant to set-off provisions

Net deferred tax liabilities

Asiaray Media Group Limited

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2017 &

2017

FTExT
HKD’000

2016 4F
2016
FHETT
HKD’000
(Fe=3%1))
(Restated)

31 770
2,011 1,721
2,042 2,491

(2,042) (2,491)
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15. EEREH (&)

BZ2017%12H831H

IR

REY(REF)

REzET (GTA)HkR

ERHmE T

RER

BE2016%12H31H

IEFE

REN(RE)

KRB
Bl E

RER(RED)

15.

Year ended
31 December 2017
At beginning of the year

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

BRAFETIA
BEERNESHE

TEER EEAFENKSE
Fair

value gains

on financial

assets at fair

Depreciation value through
allowance  profit or loss Total
T T T
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

(Restated) 770 1,721 2,491
(Credited)/charged to

profit or loss (739) 164 (575)
Currency translation

differences - 126 126
At end of the year 31 2,011 2,042
Year ended

31 December 2016
At beginning of the year

(Restated) 160 1,476 1,636
Charged to profit or loss 610 352 962
Currency translation

differences - (107) (107)
At end of the year (Restated) 770 1,721 2,491

R2017F K2016F 128318 A&
2 5> B HE 7] A5 o AR N AR R FB AR AR
I A #958,503,00078 Jt K 45,098,000
BLIREBERRECENMSHEE
14,027,000 7% 7T 5 9,780,000/ T °

HAHEEREBERAF

2017 F 3}

166

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of HKD 14,027,000 and HKD9,780,000 in respect of tax
losses amounting to HKD58,503,000 and HKD45,098,000
that can be carried forward against future taxable income
as at 31 December 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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15. EEFTSH (&) 15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
R R AR EENTIEGE R R The expiry date of the tax losses for which deferred
HEAMT : income tax assets were not recognised is as follows:
R12A31H
As at 31 December

2017 F 2016 4F

2017 2016

FTHERT TR

HKD’'000 HKD'000

1 FARE W Expire within 1 year 3,733 4,164

R E2FAER Expire in 1 to 2 years 1,408 3,733

R2ZIFANER Expire in 2 to 3 years 8,576 1,792

RIEAFREm Expire in 3 to 4 years 9,072 8,749

RAZESFARER Expire in 4 to 5 years 11,513 9,072

S5ELERPRERTE Over 5 years and not subject to expiration 24,201 17,588

58,503 45,098
20174 K 2016128318 » A& The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
P16 % 53 31| ot P 45 88 DAL AT) R SR PR AR of HKD2,013,000 and HKD1,659,000 in respect of other
Y A #8,643,00078 TT K 6,634,000 deductible temporary differences amounting to
T A TR B = AR SRR P S B HKD8,643,000 and HKDé,634,000 that can be carried
&E2,013,000/8 7T % 1,659,000/ 7T ° forward against future taxable income as at 31 December

2017 and 2016, respectively.
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16. FEUNBR X I H th FE W R IR 16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2017 F 2016
2017 2016
THET FET
HKD’000 HKD’'000
STARBEE Included in current assets
FEULBR FX (a) Trade receivables (a) 440,580 354,610
— FEUR @ 7 708 — Due from related parties (Note 37(b))
(K% 37(b)) 6,048 10,428
— B E = F0E — Due from third parties 434,532 344,182
Rk FEUER FORE B (b) Less: allowance for impairment of
trade receivables (b) (23,189) (23,494)
JEURBRTX » JFE8 Trade receivables, net 417,391 331,116
H b B I FRIE (o) Other receivables (c) 112,244 98,801
— FEUNRE S R IE — Due from related parties (Note 37(b))
(Kt5E37(b)) 15,447 6,625
— EWE=FRE — Due from third parties 96,797 92,176
Y80 ELqth FEUR ZOERE Less: allowance for impairment of
B (d) other receivables (d) (1,739) (1,090)
E eI - JF R Other receivables, net 110,505 97,711
JiE I F) 8. Interest receivable 1,107 857
B FIE Prepaid taxes 27,960 14,197
H A FETFRIE (e) Other prepayments (e) 79,220 95,268
— Xt FREES — Paid to related parties (Note 37(b))
(K75E37(b)) 4,914 3,088
— YR FE=H — Paid to third parties 74,306 92,180
m—REBEARERA Loans to an associate (f) - 4,472
636,183 543,621
STAERBIEE Included in non-current assets
m—EEEATERD Loans to an associate (f) 15,569 13,697
@t Total 651,752 557,318
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16. FEUSRRSR I H ft B R 5K IR (42)

() AEEYERTEFIREGES - NS
EE BIRBIRARER B 290 e AR R AR
BBRE DHTINT

=% 618A
6EAZE121@A
1FE2F
2FE3F
3FMU

720174 K2016F 12318 - & @
HERXRENREKERD B QA
417,391,000/57C % 331,116,000/ 7T °
IS RIBE BEE T W ES AN KR
MBI B - BIRBALER - B
SRR AR o % REURER AR IR 2
W

5% 618A
6EA=121EA
1FE2F
2FE3F

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(@)  The Group has no specified credit terms for its customers.
Ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables based on
revenue recognition date at the respective balance sheet
dates is as follows:

MW12A31H
As at 31 December

2017 F 20164
2017 2016
FET FHETT
HKD’'000 HKD'000
Up to 6 months 331,480 256,304
6 months to 12 months 58,786 49,791
1 year to 2 years 26,030 32,306
2 years to 3 years 8,481 5,499
Over 3 years 15,803 10,710
440,580 354,610

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, trade receivables past
due but not impaired were approximately
HKD417,391,000 and HKD331,116,000, respectively.
These mainly relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there were no significant financial
difficulties and based on the past experience, the overdue
amount can be recovered. The ageing analysis of these
trade receivables is as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December

2017 2016 4F
2017 2016
FHET FHTT
HKD’000 HKD'000
Up to 6 months 331,447 254,829
6 months to 12 months 58,786 48,187
1 year to 2 years 23,970 26,859
2 years to 3 years 3,188 1,241
417,391 331,116

Asiaray Media Group Limited
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16. FEWERR R HiFEWFRIE (&)

@ (&)
R2017F Kk2016F 12318 © B
AR 23,189,000 % 7T & 23,494,000 5 7T
EVERERIE ° 122017 F K% 2016F 12
A318 ' ## < %5 5 A23,189,000
FETT M 23,494,00078 7T © %S R IGRIA
RURRERZAT :

%% 618A
6EAZE121EA
1FE2F
2FE3F
3FMU

REEEBARBRFORERENZ ST
™

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(@) (Continued)
As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, trade receivables of
HKD23,189,000 and HKD23,494,000 were impaired. The
amount of the provision were HKD23,189,000 and
HKD23,494,000 as of 31 December 2017 and 2016. The
ageing of these receivables is as follows:

MW12A31H

As at 31 December
2017 20164
2017 2016
FET FH&TT
HKD’000 HKD'000
Up to 6 months 33 1,475
6 months to 12 months - 1,604
1 year to 2 years 2,060 5,447
2 years to 3 years 5,293 4,258
Over 3 years 15,803 10,710
23,189 23,494

(b) Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of

trade receivables are as follows:

BZ12831HLEE

Year ended 31 December

20175 20164

2017 2016

TFE T FATT

HKD'000 HKD’000

REA] At beginning of the year 23,494 23,911
(BERR),SRERE (Reversal of)/provision for impairment (1,582) 1,134
EBBREEE Currency translation differences 1,277 (1,551)
RELR At end of the year 23,189 23,494

g

ERERKFIRNBEED AR GRS
WHERAN [THAX] - EBHTE
WEEZREHE  RMERRPNGRNE
R T AMIEH -
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The provision for impaired receivables had been included
in ‘administrative expenses’ in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the
allowance account are generally written off, when there is
no expectation of recovering additional cash.
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16. BRI K E b YRR (&)

(© HiERFRERERATRREERE
BAXMNOERRE S REKE TE
73 A - 7R2017 6 KR 20164F 12 A 31
A EEHERBRENEGEKFIRD
A 4945 15,447,0007% 7T [ 6,625,00078
JC e WERIBT BEE T EBERU
REHRELRER  REBEBELR
B RATAKD o %5 H A EURIR
ERRE D ITIAT

[=5)

180 HE LA
180 HIA

2017 2016412 A318 » 180 B A
Ay H h E Uk 3R IE 1,739,0007% T K&
1,090,000 TEA/ERERE - #iES
%8 5 Bl /41,739,000 JT & 1,090,000
BT e

AEEBBEMERIUERERENE
E NN

REA
B
B E

RER

50 {2 R M R TR ) Bk 1 e R e )
B AGHEEKERAMNTTHRHA
X BEMTEROELREH  ©
BERP GRS R T AME

. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Other receivables mainly represent guaranteed deposits
paid to various media resources owners and amounts due
from certain related parties. As at 31 December 2017 and
2016, other receivables past due but not impaired were
approximately HKD15,447,000 and HKDé,625,000,
respectively. These mainly relate to certain related
companies for whom there were no significant financial
difficulties and based on the past experience, the overdue
amount can be recovered. The ageing analysis of these
other receivables is as follows:

M®12H831H

As at 31 December
2017 F 2016 4
2017 2016
TEx T T
HKD’000 HKD’'000
180 days or less 9,066 6,486
Over 180 days 6,381 139
15,447 6,625

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, other receivables of
HKD1,739,000 and HKD1,090,000 over 180 days were
impaired. The amount of the provision were
HKD1,739,000 and HKD 1,090,000, respectively.

Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of
other receivables are as follows:

MW12A31H

As at 31 December
2017 2016 4F
2017 2016
TFHET T
HKD'000 HKD'000
At beginning of the year 1,090 1,028
Provision for impairment 559 133
Provision written off (6) -
Currency translation differences 96 (71)
At end of the year 1,739 1,090

The provision and reversal of provision for impaired other
receivables have been included in ‘administrative
expenses’ in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the
allowance account are generally written off, when there is
no expectation of recovering additional cash.
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16. FEUSRRTR I H At B R FRIR ()
() EtBEMFESFTMT :

RS Sauky
BERIA
HAith

R LEELERERIARERSRMN—
J8.18,245,0007% 7T ( A K # 15,251,000
TT) REMFHN R BB - RIBEER
L D HEER A B ARRITHEM
MIRITEENE 6.55% T H M B RIFH
MREREERE °

MR2014F - EBFEFHEAEFfINESE
EBRARR 1 ERNRES E D ®
F—piaEm s ((ZE5mE]) R
BZEha o BEKIESN20145F6
A 30 BE{REE B 49% (47 18,245,000
BT (AR#15,251,0007T)) B EARR
BEIRT LEHELH WS B
ERTHEAERLZHERTREKD
BE  (EAHBEREBNES -

(@) 7SR MR SRR EL A P W SR IR Y R T
SRATIEREEHE -

AR¥
BT
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(e)

Analysis of other prepayments is as follows:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2017 &

2016
2017 2016
FE&xT T 7T
HKD’000 HKD'000

Prepayments for concession fee
charges for advertising spaces

74,764 88,160
4,456 7,108
79,220 95,268

It represented an interest-free loan HKD18,245,000
(RMB15,251,000) from Shanghai Asiaray to Fujian
Zhaoxiang Advertising with a term of 2 years. The initial
fair value of the loan was based on cash flow discounted
using interest rate based on the prevailing borrowing
rates of 6.55%, promulgated by the People’s Bank of
China.

In 2014, Shanghai Asiaray entered into a formal equity
transfer agreement and a related supplemental
agreement with Xiamen Iport Group Co., Ltd. (EFI1%
£ B B B 2 7)) (the "Agreements”). Pursuant to the
Agreements, approximately HKD18,245,000
(RMB15,251,000) representing 49% of the retained
earnings of Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising as at 30 June
2014 was declared as dividends to Shanghai Asiaray,
which was immediately loaned to Fujian Zhaoxiang
Advertising through entrusted loan arrangement with
commercial banks for funding its business expansion.

The carrying amount of the Group's trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

MR12H831H

As at 31 December
2017 & 2016 €
2017 2016
THxT T
HKD'000 HKD'000
558,933 462,832
92,819 94,486
651,752 557,318
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17.

18.

EHER

B E2017F %2016 12 A31 8 IEF
B AEENSFHANTEAENF
WEBEFNEEFNESRA1.70% K
1.96% o

AEBEE IR TIA TIIERFHE

AR RMB
BT HKD

RETFREARAHIRE - ARFES
RBA - R2017FK2016F 128318 -
EPTROEmELEQAFERS -

ERFRASRASRASEE

17. SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS
The effective interest rate for the short-term deposits of
the Group with initial terms ranging from 6 months to 1
year for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016
was 1.70% and 1.96%, respectively.

The Group's short-term deposits were denominated in
the following currencies:

M®12H831H

As at 31 December
2017 F 20164
2017 2016
THET FET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
31,427 46,537
201 200
31,628 46,737

Short-term deposits were neither past due nor impaired.
The directors of the Company considered that the
carrying amount of the short-term deposits approximated
their fair value as at 31 December 2017 and 2016.

18. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH

/)] EQUIVALENTS
®12A31H
As at 31 December
2017 F 2016 5
2017 2016
TExT FETT
HKD’000 HKD’'000
SRITHER N FEIRS Cash at bank and on hand 370,956 280,888
B ZRFIIRE (b) Less: Restricted cash (b) (71,768) (63,552)
ReRREEEY () Cash and cash equivalents (a) 299,188 217,336
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18. TR BEEREERELEE 18. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH
Yl () EQUIVALENTS (Continued)
(@ AHEREERBSEBYWATIEET (@) Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the
& following currencies:
R12A31R
As at 31 December
2017 F 20164
2017 2016
THERT T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
AR RMB 219,836 152,519
BIT HKD 79,352 64,817
299,188 217,336
b) EREIREAAREE - ZRFHIRE (b) Restricted cash was denominated in RMB. An analysis of
AT restricted cash is as follows:
R12A31R
As at 31 December
2017 20164
2017 2016
TE T FAT
HKD'000 HKD’000
=T IRTTATE R K EY Guaranteed deposits for letter of
ERRES guarantee issued by certain banks 71,768 63,552
AN R ETHE B A 84 IR R INE R4t The conversion of RMB denominated balances into
Hh B KBk B HH 2 B AN SHE R SRTT A 84 foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign
kB & - AEFHBAREBRFSEGEIN currencies denominated bank balances and cash out of
HE B AR Al SR AR o the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.
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19. B

19. SHARE CAPITAL

HEERBE HEEREE
Number Nominal value
of ordinary of ordinary

shares shares
(Fh) (F%7T)
(thousand) (HKD'000)

R2016%12H31H -

2017F1B1HR
2017%12A31H

BT :

R2016%12H318 -

20171818 R
20175128311

Authorised:

At 31 December 2016,
1 January 2017 and
31 December 2017

Issued:

At 31 December 2016,
1 January 2017 and
31 December 2017

1,000,000 100,000

440,000 44,000
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20. f#& 20. RESERVES

HRBA
qtHE Ef7 RED KARB
RitiEE EREE BMEE i TRREZ KBREZE At
Available - Share- Perpetual
for-sale based subordinated Currency
Share financial -~ compensation Warrant  convertible  translation Other Retained
premium assets reserve reserve securities  differences reserves earnings
TEL TAL TAL T AL TEL TEL AT ﬂf(%

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKDiOOO HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD"’

R2016F1A1A (FAEF)  Balance at 1 January 2016,

as previously restated 557,813 (1,937) 14,854 - - (11,612 (10,821) 55,721 604,024
BB BRENEN Changes of accounting policy
Lhe with respect to the measurement
of investment properties - - - - - - - 4429 4429
W06 1 A1 B Balance at 1 January 2016,
(=5 as restated 557,813 (1937) 14,854 - - (11,612 (10821) 60,156 608,453
el Comprehensive income
EEHH Profit for the year - - - - - = = 16,883 16,883

Htleh (B8)/ s Other comprehensive (loss)/income
TRHECHEENTERD  Gains from changes in fair value

Wi (B 10%7) of available-for-sale financial
assets, net of tax - 343 - - - - - - 33
LEMLESHEE Disposal of available-for-sale
(E15) financial assets, net of tax - 835 - = = = = - 835
EHaEEE Currency translation differences = = = = = (32219 = = (32219
LA (BE)/RB4E Total comprehensive (loss)/income = 1178 = = = (32,219 = 16,883 (14,158)
ERERE Employee share option scheme
—EERBREW) — Value of employee services (Note 35) = = 11,355 = = - - - 11,355
RAATEEAZKE  Dividend paid to owners of
the Company (96,800) - = = = = = - 96,800)
BTRBEE (1 3s) Issuance of warrant (Note 36) - = = 3,075 = - - - 3075
ERNEREIEREA Total transactions with owners,
HRHAT recognised directly in equity (96,800) - 11,355 3075 = = = = (82,370)
R2016512831B4#%  Balance at 31 December 2016,
(&&5) as restated 41,013 (759) 26,009 3,075 - (43831) (10821) 77,039 511,925
ROITE1A1REH Balance at 1 January 2017,
(BE5)) as restated 461,013 (759) 26,209 3,075 - (43,831) (10,821) 77,039 511,925

Gabs Comprehensive income

EEHA Profit for the year - - - - - - - 44,690 44,690
Hitizh (BB)/ s Other comprehensive (loss)/income

AEHESHAEATHESES  Gains from changes in fair value of

g (B a8) available-for-sale financial assets,
net of tax - 4 - - - = B = 4
EMBEER Currency translation differences = = = - = 33721 = = 33721
B4 (BR)/haes Total comprehensive (loss)/income = 47 = - = 33,721 = 44,690 78,458
BETRELRH Transaction with non-controlling
interests - . - - - - (12,506) - (12,506)
WARREEAZMERE  Dividend paic to owners
of the Company (114,400) - - - - - - - (114,400)
KIKARBUARES  lssueof perretual subordinated
(Hi#21) convertible securites (Note 21) - - - - 30,000 - - = 30,000
ERNEREIEREA Total transactions with owners,
g recognised directly in equity (114,400) - - - 30,000 - (12,506) - (96,906)
R2017512A 31 ALH Balance at 31 December 2017 346,613 (712) 26,209 3,075 30,000 {10,110) (23,327) 121,729 493,477

HEHEREBERARF  2017F#H 176



S{HEAFEERFTHISE  NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20.

21.

&2
R2017F8 A EHHEERER R
AIEB A SR EB AT HERND T LS
BEERE - WERS% - BB EK
ALBESERE2EBRBNHEBAR -
PEEEERS N WERERREE
AEG ML 2%FEEFETMEZM
MEBEREMERBTER -

KRR T IR 35

2017469 HA78 © & A 7 HSpace
Management Limited ([R5 |) (A
RIRER Z —) AT RBWE - Bt - R
NEIABRHREETMRE S B GG
= R 8 A € % 550,000,000 7T Z 5K
ARFARBRES - RIS BRRES
BRI AR IR 19 3.54 B T D M BL R B R
NEVE R, (ARG 1) - mED
7l £$30,000,000% 7T £ 20,000,000 7%
TT o ARBARBWE - BITRST TN
ERHRIEE 1) BB AR
17 A~ & # /350,000,000 7T Z K A R
MATMBRE S R2) AR AVB YRR
RIRER A FHERE R ZE - Rk E
HRBEFAEAN  ARARBEEE
BE  ERENBTEREENERRE
5 38 88 78 & 8 /520,000,000 7 7T BY 28
—HES

R2017F 11 B10H » " ARIERBES
AR R MET ERRE T RBE
ZHEOK AR B AT E S —F UL
R E K AR B AT R B AT A
RNEVES IR R AL AL ATHELT o

MR2017F12 B15 BRI ZRERERIKX
et E% - F—HA$%8 530,000,000
B IT 2 K AR R AT R FE 5 B 7R 2017
F12H28H8 %17 IR2017F 12 A 31
B ok AR R AR E 5 M R S
SN/ VA - NI E = 8 i
EREREMNZ  BEAERFE - H
AARBIBEL -

K AR AR TR 5 3 4 B0 B R
BT KRR ZHEF -

20. RESERVES (Continued)

(a)

21.

In August 2017, Wuxi Metro Group Limited transferred its
25% share of Wuxi Asiaray to Shanghai Advertising
Media. Upon this transaction, Wuxi Asiaray became the
100% subsidiary of Shanghai Advertising Media. The
difference between the acquisition consideration paid by
Shanghai Advertising Media and the carrying value of the
25% net assets of Wuxi Asiaray as at the acquisition day
was recognised in other reserves.

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES

On 7 September 2017, the Company entered into a
Subscription Agreement with the Space Management
Limited (the “Subscriber”), one of the shareholders of the
Company, pursuant to which, the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue, and the Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Perpetual
Subordinated Convertible Securities (the “PSCS”) in the
principal amount of HKD50,000,000 that is convertible
into the ordinary shares of the Company (“Conversion
Shares”) at the initial Conversion Price of HKD3.54 per
Conversion Share in two tranches at the face value of
HKD30,000,000 and HKD20,000,000 respectively.
Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the issuance is
conditional on the fulfilment of the following conditions:
1) approval of the issue of the PSCS (with principal
amount of HKD50,000,000) by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange; and 2) approval of the Subscription Agreement
by the independent shareholders of the Company at the
general meeting. Within 5 years from the completion of
the first tranche subscription, the Company shall have the
right, at its sole discretion and through its board of
directors meetings, to call for the Subscriber to subscribe
for the second tranche of the Securities in the principal
amount of HKD20,000,000.

On 10 November 2017, the Company and the Subscriber
entered into a Supplemental Agreement to amend the
call for the Subscriber to subscribe for the second tranche
of the PSCS, pursuant to which the subscription of the
second tranche of PSCS shall be subject to independent
shareholders’ approval by the Company.

The first batch of PSCS HKD30,000,000 has been issued
on 28 December 2017 after the approval of the EGM held
on 15 December 2017. As at 31 December 2017, the
second batch of PSCS has not been approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company. It is the
intention of the Company that all the cash flow payments,
including principal and interests, will be made at the
Company'’s discretion.

The PSCS has no maturity date and does not confer a
right to receive distributions.
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22. & 22. BORROWINGS
R12A31R
As at 31 December
2017 F 20165
2017 2016
FTERT T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FEENHARIT AR Non-current bank borrowings
— B (a) — secured (a) 5,682 6,428
B - JERNEAME IR BN ER D Less: current portion of non-current
borrowings (1,196) (1,118)
— EEA — unsecured 19,000 =
B JERNEATE IR BN ER D Less: current portion of non-current
borrowings (9,340) =
14,146 5,310
BNHASRIT AR Current bank borrowings
— AiEH (@) — secured (a) - 8,100
— SERNEARE SRV BN ED — current portion of non-current
borrowings 10,536 1,118
— — unsecured 119,668 52,420
130,204 61,638
RITIETABE Total bank borrowings 144,350 66,948
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22. BRR(E) 22. BORROWINGS (Continued)
(@) ABEBPEZXOFBOT : (@) The details of the secured borrowings are as follows:
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2017 F 2016 4F
2017 2016
THET FET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
DRI HEESREE R Secured by the pledge of
—REM B AT MIRITIE R available-for-sale financial assets
1E R IR and bank deposits of a subsidiary - 8,100
VAR 0 R 2 B B 4 O Secured by the pledge of certain
T YEERER properties of Henan Airport
(a6 X 8) Asiaray (Notes 6 and 8) 5,682 6,428
5,682 14,528
b) RELEEBHNMETHOERMEMNT (b) The weighted average effective interest rates at each

balance sheet date are as follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
2017 2016 4F
2017 2016
FERNERfE X Non-current borrowings 4.38% 5.88%
BNEAfE X Current borrowings 3.93% 4.22%
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22. BRR(E) 22. BORROWINGS (Continued)
(© 20174 K20165F12H318 - A% () At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group's borrowings
EEERERNT are repayable as follows:
R12A31R
As at 31 December
2017 F 20164
2017 2016
THERT T
HKD’'000 HKD’000
1F AR Within 1 year 130,204 61,638
1FE2F Between 1 and 2 years 10,856 1,118
2FZR5F Between 2 and 5 years 3,290 3,354
S5FLAE Over 5 years - 838
144,350 66,948
®12A31H
As at 31 December
2017 20164
2017 2016
TFE T FAT
HKD'000 HKD’000
BARSEREIER Wholly repayable within 5 years 144,350 61,638
ANSFiaEER Wholly repayable after 5 years - 5,310
144,350 66,948
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22.
(d)

EENC D) 22.
RER  AEBEZIEGBONESEK d
BHEHEELHMT

BORROWINGS (Continued)

The exposure of the Group's borrowings to interest rate
changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of
the year are as follows:

R12A318
As at 31 December
2017 20164
2017 2016
FEx THETT
HKD’000 HKD’000
6@ A AR 6 months or less 129,008 57,029
6AAZ=121EA 6 months to 12 months 1,196 4,609
15 ESF 1 year to 5 years 14,146 4,472
5N E Over 5 years - 838
144,350 66,948
EIHERN A FEEAREERS B (e)  The fair value of current borrowings approximated their
RERETETK o carrying amount as the impact of discounting was not

FEENME R REER A FENT

significant.

The carrying amount and fair value of the non-current
borrowings are as follows:

M12H31H

As at 31 December
2017 2016 4F
2017 2016
THET FHIT
HKD'000 HKD'000
BRHEE Carrying amount 14,146 5,310
NFEE Fair value 15,376 5,344

FEENBE R R FEDERARTEE
MEFENRSRBURMAE - WK
ARFEERPHOFEIR -

The fair values of non-current borrowings were based on
the cash flows discounted using a rate based on the
prevailing borrowings rate and were categorised within
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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22. &R (&) 22. BORROWINGS (Continued)
(e) (#&) (e) (Continued)
AEEBERNEEEATIES The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are
& denominated in the following currencies:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2017 2016 4F
2017 2016
FTERT TAET
HKD’000 HKD'000
AR RMB 41,332 38,848
BT HKD 103,018 28,100
144,350 66,948

23. BEARAREMENRKIE

FEATERFX ()

— FESRAE DT IR (HTaE 37(b))
— ENE=7T50R
EEtES =R E RS ()

— FESRAE T3 IR (Mt 37(b))
— ENE=73A
EEPANKIEA

H At e TEIR

AN

R #FHE kB TEHM

HoAth FE A FRIR ()

— FESRAE T IR (HTaE 37(b))
— BNE=T50R
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables (a)

— Due to related parties (Note 37(b))

— Due to third parties

Accrued concession fee charges for
advertising spaces (b)

— Due to related parties (Note 37(b))
— Due to third parties

Advances received from customers
Other taxes payable

Dividends payable

Salary and staff welfare payables
Other payables ()

— Due to related parties (Note 37(b))
— Due to third parties

MR12H831H

As at 31 December
2017 F 2016
2017 2016
THxT T
HKD'000 HKD'000
117,580 83,536
33,698 24,250
83,882 59,286
193,796 210,278
192,141 149,849
1,655 60,429
149,697 133,077
6,915 4,755
29,309 =
22,770 16,245
48,116 24,018
4,283 1,666
43,883 22,352
568,183 471,909
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23. EARRREMENRIEE) 23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
(@) M20174 %2016F 128318 ER (@) Asat 31 December 2017 and 2016, the ageing analysis of
BEAHNEMRTRESITAOT the trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2017 F 20164
2017 2016
FERT TET
HKD’000 HKD'000
=% 61EA Up to 6 months 88,999 42,633
6EAZE1218A 6 months to 12 months 953 17,396
15524 1 year to 2 years 26,710 22,225
2FFEIF 2 years to 3 years 226 184
3EM E Over 3 years 692 1,098
117,580 83,536
(b) FEIRBRZHMEUEGENIBSHER (b) This mainly represented the differences between the
B ER AR BB AT AR 2 B S BARIB A AT minimum guaranteed concession fee charges recognised
EEERREMNERERTEERX in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the beneficial
2 =8 - periods and the minimum guaranteed concession fee
charges paid payable according to the concession rights
agreements.
(@ HEMAZXEEEEDRESBRRSE ()  Other payables mainly represented guarantee deposits
S REFREMAEESZIE - received from customers and certain amounts due to

related parties.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2017 Annual Report 183



ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. WARE 24. COST OF REVENUE
FAWARKRARFZ T Expenses included in cost of revenue are analysed as
follows:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016 4F
2017 2016
FTERT TAET
HKD’000 HKD'000
BEEREFTEEETH Concession fee charges for
advertising spaces 1,194,033 1,032,974
18 B 28 RIFHpCA Project installation and
dismantling costs 78,055 67,062
A MK INE (a) Tax and surcharges (a) 32,285 20,736
M - BB MREITE (At s) Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment (Note 6) 27,607 25,976
BEEYM Utilities 23,832 13,045
Hi Others 40,699 20,519
1,396,511 1,180,312
(@) EARAEENBBENMMENT (@ Tax and surcharges that are applicable to the Group are
as follows:
5l = BEEE
Category Tax rate Basis of levis
XegERE 3% TRt 5 AR B9 W AR 5 B S2
Culture and construction fees Revenue from rendering advertising services
deduct advertising expenditures
W R TIR 7% ERGHNEED (MEER]D
City construction tax Actual Value Added Tax (“VAT") payment
BEWME 3% BERBAIBER
Educational surcharges Actual VAT payment
A E W INE 2% BERBMIBER
Local educational surcharges Actual VAT payment
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. HERTHERMX 25. SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES
EAHE RIS HER MRS AT Expenses included in selling and marketing expenses are
T analysed as follows:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 F 20164

2017 2016

FTHERT TR

HKD’'000 HKD'000

EERAMAX Employee benefit expenses 102,139 84,177

ERMEBBAERAS Travelling and entertainment

expenses 26,210 16,749

3% S 5l 2 Marketing research expenses 3,514 19,045

WAERI Office expenses 1,589 1,418

MAEHESHX Office rental expenses 609 611

SHEMS (HaF37(a)) Sales commissions (Note 37(a)) 522 544
W% - BEMREITE (Hats) Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment (Note 6) 216 22

RIREEE R (HE36) Warrant expenses (Note 36) = 3,075

Hity Others 573 997

135,372 126,638
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26. TTHAAX 26. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
BATERAIHNAI ST : Expenses included in administrative expenses are
analysed as follows:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 20165
2017 2016
THERT T
HKD’'000 HKD’000
(&)
(Restated)
EERFAXZ Employee benefit expenses 76,309 78,560
EIR R FBBEREZ Travelling and entertainment expenses 16,846 11,915
MAEHERE Office rental expenses 15,799 12,560
MAERE Office expenses 11,080 13,155
HhBEERKE Other professional service fees 10,936 12,467
ME - BEREEITE (Mfit6) Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 6) 10,317 7,583
IRITFEE Bank charges 4,354 3,590
Z B R B & Auditors’ remuneration 3,868 4,142
— Fat RS — Audit services 3,468 4,025
— JERETARTS — Non-audit services 400 117
FRIE R NE Taxes and surcharges 2,468 2,529
T3k AR 8H (A7t 8) Amortisation of land use rights
(Note 8) 632 414
B EEEHE (M 10) Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 10) 589 462
JE LT B 35K R L At FE W SR IR (Reversal of)/Impairment provision
(BetEs#m) RE RS for trade and other receivables (1,023) 1,267
Hith Others 1,103 1,265
153,278 149,909
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27. EERAEX SBEEEMS 27. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
(a) EEEAMAX (a) Employee benefit expenses

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

20175 2016
2017 2016
FET T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
I%& - e hita Wages, salaries and bonuses 149,405 127,399
RRE KA — EREREE Pension costs — defined
contribution plans 24,009 20,211
MEFREESR THERE Share options granted to
directors and employees - 11,355
B - BEREA Welfare, medical and others 5,034 3,772
178,448 162,737
BERANFANE RS KMARTET Employee benefit expenses were charged in the following
HFRRI AL categories in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income:

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 5% 2016

2017 2016

THxT T

HKD'000 HKD’000

HE RIS R Selling and marketing expenses 102,139 84,177
TERX Administrative expenses 76,309 78,560
178,448 162,737
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27.

(a)

(b)

HAHEEREBERAF

EEEAEL BREEMHS
(&)

EEEANMAX(E)
AEEFEHBEARNIES ELEmi
F BRI E AN P00 E SRR S
FTE) o NEBILRM T HBTRENE
ELOI(NFREF SN I13%E21%
BAE ETR) Eth 5 ST 8B
AREEBNRKNEMEHES -

REBREEEMASZH KB QR & E
—HEBRHNGE - REE-RINAX
FEAERNBLESARE - ZEMNB
N AR R E B 5 € 5% B E E L § A%
ERHRE BN EREN -

TEREHMAL
HE2017F12A31BILFEE - K&EEH
FEReHFMALTBIERE (2016 F ¢
ZHIRTES  HENWEEEMNT
AMEDITHR D RIRM - B ZE 2017 612
A31BIEFE - E#H =% (20165 :
—&) ATHES @RS T

27.

(a)

(b)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by the
local municipal governments. The Group contributes
funds which are calculated on fixed percentage ranging
from 13% to 21% of the employees’ salary (subject to a
floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to
each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees.

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong
operate a defined contribution plan, the assets of which
are generally held in a separate trustee-administered
fund. These subsidiaries pay fixed contribution into such
defined contribution plan on a fixed percentage of 5% of
the employee’s salary.

Five highest paid individuals

The 5 individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
included 2 (2016: 3) executive directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
Note 41. The aggregate amounts of emoluments for the
remaining 3 (2016: 1) individuals for the year ended 31
December 2017 are set out below:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 20164

2017 2016

THERT TR

HKD’'000 HKD'000

IERE® Wages and salaries 4,567 1,614

M {E B &% T Share options granted to employees - 256

TEAL Bonuses 112 44
RINE KA — ERHHETE Pension costs — defined

contribution plans 54 18

4,733 1,932
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27. EERFBEX BEEEMS
(#&)
(b) EEBREFMAL(E)
HE2017F K2016F12 A318 I
EERAZEATINOMESBR T 5%
:

27.

(b)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments payable to these individuals for the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 fell within the
following bands:

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
20164

2017 &
2017 2016

& 8 E

1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000 8 7T
1,500,001 8 7T % 2,000,000 8 7T
2,000,001 /& T = 2,500,000 7T

Emoluments band

HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 2 -
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 - 1
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 1 -

KB ZE2017F k2016F12 318 1k
FEAN  AEESEREFEERTSL
REFMA TN ERME - (EAINEA
765 18 35 0 B2 12 RO B2 B 3K 1F A B BBk
& MEEREECHEXARERELE

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office, no directors waived or

{AIEFE -
28. Hfg A

have agreed to waive any emoluments.

28. OTHER INCOME

BZE212A31HILEEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 % 2016 F
2017 2016
F#ET T
HKD’000 HKD'000
& & ARSI A Advertising consulting service income 6,987 2,700
BT BE WA (a) Government subsidy income (a) 1,359 2,414
BEXT ML ARMFIBU A  Interest income on loans to an
(K17 34) associate (Note 34) 925 1,080
RIHTERERE Compensation from counter parties
for breach of contracts 892 906
TREHZ S M MERE R AN Reimbursement of installation
and maintenance costs 788 722
B & R ARSI A Advertising design service income 757 981
At ESMEEMKREUWA  Dividend income on available-for-sale
(Kt 34) financial assets (Note 34) 486 2,536
FEYENTA S KA Rental income on investment properties 264 213
At ESREENF BIRA Interest income on available-for-sale
(K17t 34) financial assets (Note 34) 51 705
12,509 12,257
(a) HEITHREW AIE R BT =& & (@) Government subsidy income represented various

FIERAEARREETRHENSE
B -

tax refunds granted by the relevant government
authorities with no future obligations.
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29. Hitt(&E) W FE

29. OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016 4F
2017 2016
TE T FAT
HKD'000 HKD’000
(F&31)
(Restated)
& 5 Uezs,(E1B) F58 Net exchange gains/(losses) 581 (24)
BAFEIABRENRE Fair value gains on investment properties
MERNFERE at fair value through profit or loss 573 1,323
AT EHAEZRANSEIERE Fair value gains on financial assets at fair
N ERE(HaE11(3) value through profit or loss (Note 11(a)) 569 72
BB 18 B[] (a) Written back compensation loss (a) = 24,662
HEAHEESREERNE]E  Losses on disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets - (1,127)
HEME  BERBHERERE  Losses on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (3,795) (186)
Hitp Others 1,009 (405)
(1,063) 24,315

(@) T2015%F10H @ AEERFERATZ I
RERBEIRERPI0FNERE
RRRFEAY - RREREAACEAN
AREBERERREMRIESHNMELNA
%o

M2015412 A318 - KRAREEEN
BEKIRAIR LA NAERENSEEE
BERER NETHRHBEFER - B
RNEBBANFBERZRERBERRER
BER ARREERE  ZBENRS
SR AT—F 7 £48,312,00078 T
(AR #38,890,00070) - HEEKIEE
REZE 2015412 A 31 B L FE B2
f& o

M2016%5 8248 KR REEE#E
ERHBEER BETEKRBEEREAR
20,441,000 7t( A K %15,173,000
TL) o M At e ERARERER
M ") = 827,871,000 jT( A R #
23,717,0007T ) © B R E £20165F 12
A31BIEFEARBBIRA [E e -
SRR HER e
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In October 2015, the Group decided to early terminate
the 10-year concession contract for operation of the
media resources at Ningbo Metro Line No 1. The owner
of the media resources has informed the Group to
compensate for the loss occurred due to the early
termination of the contract.

As at 31 December 2015, the management of the
Company were still negotiating with the media resources
owner in the arbitration procedure to agree the amount
of the compensation of the early termination contract.
Based on the legal advice from the Group's legal advisor
on the laws of the PRC, the directors of the Company are
of the view that the maximum amount of the
compensation will be one year rental payment of
HKD48,312,000 (RMB38,890,000). The amount was fully
provided for during the year ended 31 December 2015.

On 24 May 2016, the management of the Company
received the arbitration award which determined the final
compensation to be at HKD20,441,000 (RMB15,173,000).
The difference of HKD27,871,000 (RMB23,717,000)
between the initially estimate and the final outcome of
the arbitration was written back and recognised in “other
gains, net” during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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30.

31.

MERA(KA) - FEE

BME WA
RITERMBIEA

BE R
RITRERF B X

BERAE(BA) - RE

R
AEBH E2017F K 201612 A 31
AIEFEMAERAZ ST

30. FINANCE COSTS/(INCOME), NET

Finance income
Interest income on bank deposits

Finance costs
Interest expense on bank borrowings

Finance costs/(income), net

31.

BZ12A31HIEEE

Year ended 31 December
2017 &

20164
2017 2016
FET TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

(3,620) (2,869)
7,143 2,545
3,523 (324)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The income tax expense of the Group for the years ended
31 December 2017 and 2016 is analysed as follows:

BZ12A3MALFE

Year ended 31 December
2017 £ 20164
2017 2016
T
HKD'000
(F2E%)
(Restated)

TET
HKD’000

BUERFTIS R Current income tax
— RIS — PRC corporate income tax 20,524 16,387
— EEFEF — Hong Kong profits tax (225) 3,172
20,299 19,559
EIEFTSR (Hfat 15) Deferred income tax (Note 15) (911) (4,634)
19,388 14,925
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31.

(a)

(b)

(c)

A EEREBERAA

FriS BB (4)

FERBAEH
ARARFASHSREMNSHBAE
SR RERSERAR - Bt
RIS BAEH -

EBANEH

HRAEERB BRSBTS HNE
BEEE - MERBBFEHHERE
AEEBBREHZE 2017 F KX 2016F 12
A31 8 IEFESFRNEERE A E
12 16.5% KT RETHREE o

Bl PT S

AEBCRERITEN 2BELERIE
PIstE AP BREE RN S F RO EEHE
AR A T 4% 25% O T R G 4R P 15 A B
B FRIFBEERNBEHXAERR -

AEENRBRREEEBREER T E
ERAKY - FEERARG B ARG
REMRNBERREERER  H=F
15% W BEMEHRBE -
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31.

(a)

(b)

(c)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is
exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for as there was
business operation that is subject to Hong Kong profits
tax. It had been provided for at the rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits for each of the years ended
31 December 2017 and 2016.

PRC corporate income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in Mainland China has been calculated at the
tax rate of 25% on the estimated assessable profits for
each of the years ended, based on the existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof, unless
preferential tax rates were applicable.

Yunnan Airport Asiaray, a subsidiary of the Group, was
established in Yunnan Province, PRC. It was eligible for
preferential tax policies applicable for the development
of western regions in Mainland China, and was entitled to
a preferential income tax rate of 15%.
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31. FAEBAX )

(d) FERMH
REBERTBEBREER - R BEAREERK
MEVARIBE2008 51 A1 B ZIRELR
MBESNEIREE DRSS - —RA
BI0%RERBHNMAEHR - WRBETE
AL INE R B E A P EAERE
BRI R R E BRI LB IR (T AR
E - BRATEMB R H10%FEE
5% °

N5 B B TS 5 A R 0 B TE ER AR R SE
ARUATEHEREGEREERMG
MEEMEFEFHERGENRERSED
[A] :

31.

(d)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

PRC withholding tax

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations,
dividends distributed by a company established in
Mainland China to a foreign investor with respect to
profits derived after 1 January 2008 are generally subject
to a 10% withholding income tax. If a foreign investor
incorporated in Hong Kong meets the conditions and
requirements under the double taxation treaty
arrangement entered into between Mainland China and
Hong Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be
reduced from 10% to 5%.

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of
consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as
follows:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 F 20164
2017 2016
F#ET FHT
HKD’000 HKD’000
(F&&=75)
(Restated)
B B 15 % B KU 8 Profit before income tax 90,590 56,087
S DIEREEE D RIMIRE LS Less: share of results of investments
in associates (8,584) (5,255)
82,006 50,832
LR 25% T EMFIE Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25% 20,502 12,708
BARAEETEMNBATAR  Effect of different tax rates applicable to
TR R T E different subsidiaries of the Group (7,142) (6,546)
BIARF AU A Incomes not subject to tax (428) (469)
AAHF A Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3,171 4,876
FEEFRIEE EMARERIIEEE Tax losses not recognised for
deferred income tax assets 3,855 2,986
RERELEFTSREER Temporary differences not recognised
| for deferred incom tax assets 119 1,556
BRBTEFEAERNTIIEERE Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised in prior years (523) (186)
AL ARERNER =5 Utilisation of temporary difference
previously not recognized (166) -
i8R Income tax expense 19,388 14,925
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32. BREF

(a) EHX
SRERBFTIIREADBEE ARG
FIE - BAFEAB BT BRI
BEHE -

32.

(a)

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basics

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

BZ12831BLEE
Year ended 31 December

2017 F 20164
2017 2016
FHBxT FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
(ReE%)
(Restated)
RNAFIHA ARG FE Profit attributable to owners of

the Company 44,690 16,883

BT E B IAE I8 Weighted average number of ordinary
(LATFB&ET) shares in issue (thousands) 440,000 440,000
FREFR (CAFREWTR) Earnings per share (HK cents per share) 10.16 3.84

(b) #H
FREERN HRREBRAQR MK
FERAE - SRRAERE SO AR AR AR AR
SMELMMAECEHETERBR(ER
AEESRESRANNS ) HOETE
AN BER B E -

AR5 B R (P2 35) M R Rt e (fY
iE36) BRAIE S EEBRELRATN -
BRNEMZIFEALERETNE
BEFESRETRINK I RFTEE
A o
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(b)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
by the assumption of the conversion of all potential
dilutive ordinary shares arising from share options granted
by the Company, warrants and PSCS (forming the
denominator for computing diluted earnings per share).

The Group’s share options (Note 35) and warrants (Note
36) could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the
future, but were not included in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share because they are anti-dilutive for the
years presented.
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32. FRBRN#® 32. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
(b) #E(#E) (b) Diluted (Continued)
BETROMIEFEEEERAE B The weighted average number of shares on issue has
WK AR AR PR 78 25 E B © K AR been adjusted as if PSCS were converted. The weighted
AN B ST ] TR 1T 2 A% D average number of shares that could have been issued
HINEFHEEMADE - upon the exercise of the conversion of the PSCS is added

to the denominator.

2017 & 2016 £
2017 2016

FEx T

HKD’'000 HKD'000
(F&&E75)
(Restated)

RNREEEER ARETE Profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company 44,690 16,883

BIEsTEEREARRER 2 L @I Weighted average number of ordinary

B IntEF 8 (FAR) shares used to calculate basic earnings
per share (thousands) 440,000 440,000
P Adjustments for:

— 201712 A28 HE 20174 — conversion of PSCS between
OF 45 A R B R K KON AR 28 December 2017 to
ATARR S 5 (FR%) 2017 year-end (thousands) 93 =

REsTEEREERN 2 L@ Weighted average number of ordinary
B o 88 (T A%) shares for diluted earnings
per share (thousands) 440,093 440,000

BREERFN (AERBILF]R) Diluted eamnings per share
(expressed in HK cents per share) 10.15 3.84
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33. KR

33. DIVIDENDS

BZE12A31MHIEEE

Year ended 31 December
2017 & 20164

2017 2016
FET TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

EERARPREEMR010/8TT Proposed final dividend of HKD0.10

(20164 : 0.10/87T) (a) (2016: HKDO0.10) per share (a) 44,000 44,000

FREARR B ZR0.16 87T Interim dividend of HKDO0.16
(20164 : 0.137%7T) (2016: HKDO.13) per share 70,400 57,200
114,400 101,200

@@ M2018FE3A27BRTr@H% &
EeEFRNEE2017F12A31 81t
FEHRARKREFK0.10% (2016
F:0.10%87T) + 4% /544,000,0007%8
7£ (2016 4F : 44,000,000 7T ) » 3%
B B AR SR A A B FEJE AR R IA K
T EHbE o ZEMHIRERI R R E
RIS -
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(@)

At the meeting held on 27 March 2018, the Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKDO.10 (2016: HKDO.10) per share for the year ended
31 December 2017, amounting to a total of
HKD44,000,000 (2016: HKD44,000,000). This proposed
dividend is to be approved by the shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
These financial statements do not reflect this dividend
payable.
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34. BEeREER 34. CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) HEMBERES (a) Cash generated from operations

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

20175 2016 %
2017 2016
FET FHETT
HKD'000 HKD'000
(K&&E75)
(Restated)
B PSR IFE Profit before income tax 90,590 56,087
FE Adjustments for:
JE WS AR R % B At P MR IR (Reversal of)/provision for trade and
(BERE) B (BfaE26) other receivables (Note26) (1,023) 1,267
RITHE A B R Interest expenses on bank
(KtzE30) borrowings (Note 30) 7,143 2,545
SRITE A B WA Interest income on bank
(H1&#30) deposits (Note 30) (3,620) (2,869)
BT R R anFE Interest income on loans to an
WA (K1 7E28) associate (Note 28) (925) (1,080)
AtHEEREENT R Interest income on available-for-sale
WA (K17£28) financial assets (Note 28) (51) (705)
AftHEEREENKRE Dividend income on available-for-sale
WA (K17£28) financial assets (Note 28) (486) (2,536)
ME - WEMRENITE Depreciation of property, plant and
(Htate) equipment (Note 6) 38,140 33,581
TP R REE S (7 8) Amortisation of land use rights (Note 8) 632 414
B EERE (M 10) Amortisation of intangible
assets (Note 10) 589 462
HEWE  BEKERED Losses on disposal of property,
Ea plant and equipment 3,795 186
HEITHEESRHEED Loss on disposal of available-for-sale
BE financial assets - 1,127
BATEYABZRERR Fair value gains on financial assets at
TREEQFENS fair value through profit or
(H1aE11(a) loss (Note 11(a)) (569) (72)
BATEYABRERR Fair value gains on investment
REMENTERES (F7F9) properties at fair value through
profit or loss (Note 9) (573) (1,323)
DIEREE R RINIRE EE Share of results of investments in
(Htat13) associates (Note 13) (8,584) (5,255)
RERAEAEED Written back of provision of
(K17 29(a)) compensation losses (Note 29(a)) = (27,871)
125,058 53,958
HEEREY Changes in working capital (excluding
(TEREREHARRELD the effects of currency translation
EMHmEEENTE) differences on consolidation):
—FE — Inventories (1,472) 17
— FEURBR ZN B EAth fE Uk 5108 — Trade and other receivables (76,625) (20,290)
— BRI E b e 3R — Trade and other payables 84,025 (9,074)
— XRHEE — Restricted cash (8,216) 18,255
LEFIRES Cash generated from operations 122,770 42,866
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34. BHEREER (&) 34. CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) HEREBRL(E) (a) Cash generated from operations (Continued)
TAHEESTRERT  LEVYE  HE In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds
MBS HRIERRE from disposals of property, plant and equipment

comeprise:

BZE12A31MHIEEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 & 20164
2017 2016
FHET FATT
HKD’'000 HKD'000
BREFE (Wit é) Net book amount (Note 6) 4,147 727
HEEE (faE29) Losses on disposals (Note 29) (3,795) (186)
HE SR Proceeds from disposals 352 541
(b) RMETFHELEZEBHER (b) Reconciliation of liability arising from financing
activities
RETp B A2 7R L FAERFE This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the
BB 2D © movements in net debt for each of the periods presented.
2017 F 2016 F
2017 2016
FET FH&T
HKD'000 HKD’'000
ReERFELZEY Cash and cash equivalents 299,188 217,336
BR— AR 1 FREER Borrowings — repayable within one year
(BFEER) (including overdraft) (130,204) (61,638)
B — AR 1 FREE Borrowings — repayable after one year (14,146) (5,310)
FRe Net cash 154,838 150,388
B MRBERE Cash and liquid investments 299,188 217,336
waE— EENX Gross debt — fixed interest rates (55,226) (32,420)
EaE— FERX Gross debt — variable interest rates (89,124) (34,528)
FIRE Net cash 154,838 150,388
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34. HEREER (&) 34. CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
(b) REFHELEZEBHIRE) (b) Reconciliation of liability arising from financing
activities (Continued)

HitEE METBAEER
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
Re/ 1EREE  1FREE  1FRDH
RTEX ZMERE ZHERE ZER

Finance

leases Finance  Borrowing
Cash/ due [EH due

bank within due after within
overdraft 1 year 1 year 1 year Total
TAT THL THET THL THEL
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

R20165181H Net cash as at

ZERE 1 January 2016 241,946 (1,194) (6,863) (15,500) 218,389
HemeE Cash flows (13,725) 1,194 - (46,460) (58,991)
INE AR Foreign exchange adjustments (10,885) 49 386 1,440 (9,010)
HidR e % Other non-cash movements = (1,167) 1,167 - -

M2016%F12A318  Net cash as at

ZERE 31 December 2016 217,336 (1,118) (5,310) (60,520) 150,388
Beng Cash flows 69,255 (8,223) (9,620) (56,751) (5,339)
HNE B Foreign exchange adjustments 12,597 (39) (372) (2,397) 9,789
Hi kR e2E) Other non-cash movements = (1,156) 1,156 = =

N2017%5128318  Netcashas at
ZEEE 31 December 2017 299,188 (10,536) (14,146) (119,668) 154,838
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35.

(a)

A EEREBERAA

DR AERNAR

B IR At &
RRRMEARET 8 ([ 5250 81)) TR
BER2014F 12 A 6 HBBH R FH IR
W XEENAREGERALTHASEE
BT X AT REVE S A B A T 78 S 4R 4 52
Bk Bl °

MR201565 8218 =4t ERE
%t E19% 111,534,875 B AR T &
EERBRARREFEREFRITENE
B ML UINES(EERER
RAE R E ) RIBB T8I L
4,400,00017 & R 4 F M8 & (T1TEA
BEREE]) - WHK2015F6 410
BERITHRRREAAS BB IREIE
R HERR o

L ERENRERERABETERE
0.6FEBAITHEIOBMERTFHMELS
FHROITHET0% IR AR 201641
A1BE2020F6A9B (RIEEEMA)
HEATFE LA E R EREN S
30%: & & A R2017F1A18 =
2020F 6 A9 B (BEHEMAB) HiFE A
TEERLERERNE#70% °

AEEY ELRIMEERT - RSO
BREEZE -
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(a)

Share Option Plan

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 6 December 2014 (the
“Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

On 21 May 2015, the Board approved to grant
11,534,875 share options under the Scheme to its
employees and directors that excluding Lam Tak Hing,
Vincent (“Mr. Lam”) the chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Company (“Employee and Contributor
Share Option Plan”) and 4,400,000 share options under
the Scheme to Mr. Lam (“Executive Share Option Plan”)
that was approved and confirmed by the independent
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held
on 10 June 2015.

The vesting schedule of above share options is 30% after
0.6 years from the grant date and 70% after 1.6 years
from the grant date. The first 30% of the above share
options granted shall be exercisable by the grantees
during the period from 1 January 2016 to 9 June 2020
(both days inclusive); and the remaining 70% of the share
options granted shall be exercisable by the grantees
during the period from 1 January 2017 to 9 June 2020
(both days inclusive).

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.
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35. URODAERNIR &) 35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)
(b) BRENESR (b) Movements in share options
BETHERESE KA IBREINET Movements in the number of share options outstanding
IEEREEERAT and their related weighted average exercise prices were
as follows:

(c)

BERERERRESE TRABRRETE
Employee and Contributor Executive
Share Option Plan Share Option Plan
FHTHRE FETHRE
(BHBRE BREZE (BOBRE BREXE ABREXE
UETat) (1) U#ETa) (1)

Average  Number of Average  Number of

exercise price share exercise price

share

(HKD per options (HKD per options
share option)  (thousands) share option) (thousands)

(F14)
Total
number of
share
options
(thousands)

R201741R1H At 1 January 2017 6.95 11,047 6.95 4,400 15,447
K Lapsed 6.95 (2,710) - - (2,710)
R2017412 A 318 At 31 December 2017 6.95 8,337 6.95 4,400 12,737
R2016F1 A1 R At 1 January 2016 6.95 11,356 6.95 4,400 15,756
3 Lapsed 695 (309) . . (309)
2016612 A31H At 31 December 2016 6.95 11,047 6.95 4,400 15,447
e R AT R AR AR R (c) Outstanding share options

MEL M RITERERRN BB K176 Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the
BT : following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Z#A —2020F6A9H Expiry date — 9 June 2020

M2017$12H831H
As at 31 December 2017

T4 R AL
ABTTETTEE

Exercise price
in HKD per
share option

BENRERBERITRAR Employee and Contributor and
B R ERT 8l Executive Share Option Plans 6.95

BRERE
(F14)

Number of

share options

(thousands)

12,737
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35.

(d)

A EEREBERAA

DR AEBRNNARE)
BREQTE
RAREEL A —BBILGHEMITEE
FEARARM EMERENSTEL A
A FEE T - BRENATE
DERZNEEET - EERERERE
RRAEETEI(GE A A A ERE AR
BALMITERE - KIE30.493% - i%E
R 1.0726% - FEEAEREFEHS1F R
R R 1.2258% © 1TIRA BB
REETEIGE R AR AN ENE AR
A ETEEE - HIE31.29% BB R
1.0726% - T8 HA % AR % F HA 5 & J2 & [&
B 4F F 2 1.3088% ° Frat = KK 18 T3 A
ZER B R AR RFIRAK R
5t e M2015F5 A21BREEE R
HENE BT L B RE A T E
£ #719,402,0007%8 7T+ M AREITEA
BERRESERENEREATEALY
7,453,000/ 7T °

REBEZE2017F EFEMERRAX
(2016 % : 11,355,000/ 7T) °
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

(d)

Fair values of share options

The directors of the Company appointed an independent
valuer, Greater China Appraisal Limited, to estimate the
fair value of the above share options as at the respective
grant dates. The fair values of the share options were
determined using the Binomial method. The significant
inputs used in the Employee and Contributor Share
Option Plan valuation method were exercise price shown
above, volatility of 30.493%, dividend yield of 1.0726%,
an expected option life of 5.1 years, and an annual risk-
free interest rate of 1.2258%. The significant inputs used
in the Executive Share Option Plan valuation method
were exercise price shown above, volatility of 31.29%,
dividend yield of 1.0726%, an expected share option life
of 5 years, and an annual risk-free interest rate of
1.3088%. The volatility measured is estimated by the
average of 5-year weekly volatility of several comparable
companies. The fair value of share options granted on 21
May 2015 under Employee and Contributor Share Option
Plan was approximately HKD19,402,000 and the fair value
of options granted under Executive Share Option Plan
was approximately HKD7,453,000.

There was no expense recognised for year ended 2017
(2016: HKD11,355,000).
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36.

R ER A
201610 A10H + KA Q 7] £ Great
World HK Media Pte. Ltd. ([ Great
World HK]) 5T 37 % B& 1 & 1E 1 &% -
# AR A A A & HL Catterton
Management Limited (F§ LVMH Moét
Hennessy Louis Vuitton S.A. »
Catterton Holdings, L.L.C 52 Groupe
Arnault SAS X FYFL AR IEIG & A R))
WEBEE AB - ANRQF HGreat
World HKET Z RE W # (B B 8 A
2016 F 10 H 13 B MR HRIERT R
) REBBEARFRNETES K
3,000,000/ sk BN RREF0.35
70 % 17 10,000,000 17 58 % 7 7 o $
A TREFEMNRITEEERR
%;ﬁ‘ﬁxfn 4. 1o,a7m %5 % 10,000, ooo
h%ﬂ 5 o BRRBIETBEITE
Hx%?i BITRIREE B PTG FIRF
%ﬁﬂﬁﬁl’v%’] 40,700,000 7T °

w,§$lﬁﬁAzo16¢ 12 A29 B ° A&
NAEEERE— B EMITEZERT
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ“ﬂfﬁﬁiﬁ%%%%Z@ﬂ?

B - RIEFH D HELER - XA
rﬁm RETHE  RREEZATE

73,075,000 Tt - F%zizowiu
A3MBIEFEzBmANR - BER
RENENRKEF0.3075F T - N
RIBEEGE R AP EANERE AR
BATEESHRAREEII0ET
18 38.0567% AR BSR4, 7483%

B FHIF RFEERRF X

1.3713% °

36.

WARRANT RESERVE

On 10 October 2016, the Company entered into a
strategic alliance agreement with Great World HK Media
Pte. Ltd.("Great World HK") to enhance the business
collaboration between the Company and L Catterton
Management Limited, a private equity firm formed by
LVMH Moét Hennessy Louis Vuitton S.A., Catterton
Holdings, L.L.C and Groupe Arnault SAS. On the same
day, the company and Great World HK entered into a
subscription agreement (as amended and supplemented
by a supplemental agreement dated 13 October 2016) in
relation to issue 10,000,000 warrants of the Company at
issue price of HKD3,000,000 in total, or HKDO.3 per
warrant. The Company entitled the subscriber to
subscribe for up to 10,000,000 warrant shares at the
exercise price of HKD4.10 per warrant share. Assuming
the warrants are exercised in full by the subscriber, the
net proceeds of the warrant issue will be approximately
HKD40,700,000.

The subscription was completed on 29 December 2016.
The directors of the Company appointed an independent
valuer, Greater China Appraisal Limited, to estimate the
fair value of the above warrants. The fair values of the
warrants were determined using the Binomial method. As
at date of issue, the fair value of the warrants was
HKD3,075,000, which was charged to profit or loss during
the year ended 31 December 2016, representing
HKDO0.3075 per warrant granted. The significant inputs
used in the warrants valuation method were exercise price
of HKD4.10 per warrant, volatility of 38.0567%, dividend
yield of 4.7483%, an expected life of 3 years, and an
annual risk-free interest rate of 1.3713%.
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37. EXBEBAERS

7K %5 B % Media Cornerstone Limited
(R R ARSI ) 26 - B
BARAMRINHI55% © Space Management
Limited (2R 5 22 BE S s A 37 ) #%5
BEARRBRMHW7.73%  EMgE T
27.27% W 1 3 BiFE B o E F 18 Media
Cornerstone Limited & 5 fi% A 7] & &
BAERR N A o AN B W s AR IR TT AR
FhE o

BN ESCE A M TR R - A E
HEBBE A NEE 2017412 A31 B4
BETTUTERRS - RARESR
B ZEREARINERERBARIR
A5 B B R B T R O AR ST o

37. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group is controlled by Media Cornerstone Limited
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, which owns 55%
of the Company’s shares. Space Management Limited
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands holds 17.73% of
the Company’s shares. The other remaining 27.27% of
the shares are widely held. The directors regard Media
Cornerstone Limited as the holding company and
ultimate holding company respectively. The ultimate
controlling party of the Group is Mr Lam.

Same as disclosed in other notes above, the following
significant transactions were carried out between the
Group and its related parties during the year ended 31
December 2017. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the related party transactions were carried out

in the normal course of business and at terms negotiated
between the Group and the respective related parties.

(a) BABBRS (a) Transactions with related parties
() EERETRELA ()  Advertising display service incomes

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2017 &

2016 £
2017 2016

FTExT TAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

B NT Associates:
— YIS T — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 2,717 4,236
— BEXPES — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 1,303 2,203
AT B2 RIRY Non-controlling interest in
FFiEpR R subsidiaries: -
— EHMBEEEFR A A — Wuxi Metro Group Limited and
EEF AT (] 5 its subsidiaries (45 th #2 5 &
MEFRFD BRAFREFRAA) (“Wuxi
Metro and its subsidiaries”) - 3,066
— EERSEEER — Yunnan Airport Group Company
EEARREFAF Limited and its subsidiaries
([EmE#E K (EmEESEEEREAARK
=g S /NCH D) H-F2]) (“Yunnan Airport
and its subsidiaries”) 592 482
4,612 9,987
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ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. ERBEHMARXS (&) 37. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(a) BBAERS (&) (a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
(i) LI AR B T (i)  Concession fee charges for advertising spaces

HBE12H831BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 F 2016 5
2017 2016
FHET FAT
HKD'000 HKD’000
il PN Associates:
— BEKAES — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 47,004 6,679
— EEIER — Guangxi Top Source 1,047 3,418
— YIS 4 — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 135,930 99,139
Y N Non-controlling interests in
FriEpR R subsidiaries:
— EEE R — Yunnan Airport and
N its subsidiaries 144,437 113,768
— IEEKISEBABR2AR  — Henan Airport Group Company
(AR # ) Limited (A& #1355 &
BR2AA]) (“Henan Airport”) 131,035 102,159
— EiFHE N E TR A — Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries - 28,062
— EEHGHEREAR — Qingdao Chengyang
ral((E5WE]) Development and Investment
Company Limited (5 5 7
BIRERRAA)
("Qingdao Chengyang”) 10,097 12,815
— B REE IR — Zhuhai Newspaper Media
BRAT([EREHRE D Holding Limited (2k/83R %&
BERERAR)
(“Zhuhai Newspaper”) 43 -
— REHFERIZEE — Tianjin Metro Resources
BRAR ([ REHE ) Investment Company Limited
(REMBEERIEEBRAF])
("Tianjin Metro”) 35,460 -
HAMELEEENEELR : Related company controlled by
Mr. Lam:
— RAERTHEESRND — Taiwan Asiaray Advertising
ERAR(AERTHE]D Holding Limited (& /& - 4 E
ERMDERAR)
(“Taiwan Asiaray”) 625 -

505,678 366,040
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37. EXBBMERS (&) 37. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(a) BBAERS(£&) (a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
(i) B IE I EES (i) ~ Sales commissions paid/payable

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 £ 2016 5
2017 2016
TET TFETT
HKD’'000 HKD’'000
e NT Associate:
— Y5 e — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 522 544
(iv) BAREHTHZT (iv)  Office rental expenses

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 20165
2017 2016
T THET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
R—EREB AR Non-controlling interest in a
FEIERR R - subsidiary:
— EEBEREF AT — Yunnan Airport and its
subsidiaries 1,188 1,492
HMEEZEFNBEELT : Related companies controlled by
Mr. Lam:
— W HERBEEEEERAR  — Asiaray China Media Company
(THEt#EPE]) Limited (M4 B4R 6E
BBR2ATA]) (“Asiaray China") 791 =
— RERRERAF — Billion China International
(M) Limited ({EEREERERAF)
("Billion China") 2,409 =
— REBRAF — Peaky Limited 568 =

4,956 1,492
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ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. EXBHERSZ (&) 37. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(a) BBAERS(£&) (a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
) B ENEES AR (v)  Utilities cost paid/payable

(vi)

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 F 2016 4F
2017 2016
THET T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
Y ALY Non-controlling interests in
FEIRpR AR subsidiaries:
— EFERSRE TR — Yunnan Airport and its
subsidiaries 6,339 4,116
— S — Henan Airport 1,110 2,594
7,449 6,710
FEEE A S (vi)  Key management compensation
MEERBENKEFETEEIE The compensations paid or payable to key
AE(BREES BEHTER management personnel (including directors, chief
HibmBITHAE) BB - executive officer and other senior executives) for

employee services are shown below:

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016 4F

2017 2016

T FET

HKD'000 HKD'000

TERF® Wages and salaries 7.240 8,362
PARR 0 AERE 2 3K Share-based payments - 7,575
RIRETEIE IR Retirement scheme contributions 63 285
14T Bonuses - 44
Bt Total 7,303 16,266
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. EXBHAERSZ (&)

(b) EEEEFHER
()  EHRERERL

-4 BN

— RYEIZ e 4
— BEIPESE
REEA RN

FEIRpR AR

— EEMBE RE T AT
— EEHEIERE T AR

(i) EHRENERL

&N

— RIS T
— REXIES
RITEA T
IR

— EMEERET AR
— i 5
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37. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(b) Balances with related parties
(i)  Included in trade receivables:

M12H831H
As at 31 December
2017 &

2017
FTERT
HKD’000

Associates:

2016 4F
2016
THAT

HKD’000

— Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 5,027 9,007
— Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 1,016 949
Non-controlling interest in
subsidiaries:
— Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries - 472
— Yunnan Airport and its
subsidiaries 5 -
6,048 10,428

(i) Included in trade payables:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2017 &

2017
TERT
HKD’000

Associates:

20164
2016
T
HKD’000

— Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 41 141
— Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 1,410 -
Non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries:
— Yunnan Airport and its
subsidiaries 6,023 1,996
— Henan Airport 26,224 22,113
33,698 24,250




ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. EREEMAERS (&) 37. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EERAELMGEX(E) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(i)  EBRREMFETHIEA : (iii)  Included in other prepayments:
MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2017 20164
2017 2016
FHET T
HKD’000 HKD'000
BE AT Associates:
— REIAES — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising = 841
— EAJAR — Guangxi Top Source 368 154
AT B 2 RI#Y Non-controlling interests in
FFiEpR R subsidiaries:
— \EBPHB R E T AT — Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries - 617
— 555 — Qingdao Chengyang 1,826 1,476
— REH — Tianjin Metro 2,720 =
4,914 3,088

(v) EGREFEZERFFEEES

(iv) Included in accrued concession fee charges for

H advertising spaces:
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2017 F 20164
2017 2016
THET FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
e NT - Associates:
— RIS — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 67,231 23,219
e NG Non-controlling interests in
FEiEpR R subsidiaries:
— EEBEREF AR — Yunnan Airport and its
subsidiaries 59,476 98,538
— S EH35 — Henan Airport 65,390 28,092
— BREmRE — Zhuhai Newspapaer a4 _
192,141 149,849
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. EXBHAERSZ (&)

(b) EEEEFHER(E)
() EREMERHE

& AT

— EAIER

— RIS T
R A R
R

— EMEIERE T AT
— EGH B R E T AR
— REHE

— HEWEG

i)  EBREMENTR :

REE QR
FEIER A
— A%
— EMBEEET AR

HMEEZRGINEELR :

— Fefbtien
— (g
— AmEte
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37. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(v)  Included in other receivables:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2017 &

2017
FTERT
HKD’000

Associates:

20164
2016
T
HKD’000

— Guangxi Top Source 120 112
— Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 13,318 3,169
Non-controlling interest in
subsidiaries:
— Yunnan Airport and its
subsidiaries 197 76
— Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries - 3,268
— Tianjin Metro 1,716 -
— Qingdao Chengyang 60 -
15,411 6,625

(vi) Included in other payables:

M®12H31H
As at 31 December

2017 &

2017
FH
HKD’000

Non-controlling interest in
subsidiaries:

2016
2016
FHETT
HKD'000

— Henan Airport - 1,666
— Yunnan Ariport and
its subsidiaries 347 -
Related companies controlled by
Mr. Lam:
— Asiaray China 818 -
— Billion China 2,493 -
— Taiwan Asiaray 625 -
4,283 1,666




ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37.

(b)

38.

39.

EXBEBIRS (&)

BEEERNER (F)

(vi) SREMEHE : (#)
L SRR MR R R R I
%R RBREKMEE -
EXREMETRENLRER
RXER  ARXEBHARA
REBERANT XERBEEM
K o

RERERRE

AEBRBETABHL LM E H=ER
ETHMAMERETHREER - LA
MEEBNESAH1FE10F1SE
BERERUBIFE10FTE - AR
DHEEGRAIRNEREREZTIZHES
BE o

AT RAKERET A R EHER
ARRH SERE AR

37.

(b)

38.

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
Balances with related parties (Continued)
(vi) Included in other payables: (Continued)
The above balances with related parties were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The English names of certain related parties referred
to above represented the best efforts by
management of the Company in translating their
Chinese names, as they do not have official English
names.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group leases certain office buildings and certain
media resources under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. The lease terms for office buildings are
negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years, and
those for media resources are negotiated for terms
ranging from 1 to 10 years, and majority of lease
agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period
at market rate.

The Group's future aggregate minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December
20175 2016 %
2017 2016
FE T T
HKD'000 HKD’'000
TEZR1F Not later than 1 year 887,656 853,071
L1 FRTZN5F Later than 1 year and not later
than 5 years 2,046,838 1,613,948
ZR5F Later than 5 years 756,139 750,371
3,690,633 3,217,390
HEEE 39. CONTINGENCIES
NEER2017F &2016F 12 A31H The Group had no material contingent liabilities
BMEEAXABE - outstanding as at 31 December 2017 and 2016.
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. ARFEEEBRREREE 40. BALANCE SHEET AND EQUITY MOVEMENT OF
THE COMPANY

M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2017 F 2016 5
2017 2016
F#&x TFETT
HKD'000 HKD’'000
% ASSETS
ERBEE Non-current asset
R—RENB AT ZEE Investment in a subsidiary 280,094 280,094
REEE Current assets
H b e U F A Other receivables 472,605 514,128
MHIE Short-term deposits 9 _
BeMREEED Cash and cash equivalents 53,225 2,442
525,839 516,570
BEE Total assets 805,933 796,664
EEREE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
AAREAAN Equity attributable to owners
bR of the Company
A% Share capital (a) 44,000 44,000
B Reserves (a) 641,481 712,131
BRER Total equity 685,481 756,131
=R Liabilities
FRBEE Non-current liability
& Borrowings 9,660 _
REARK Current liability
H b~ 308 Other payables 81,876 40,533
EEN Borrowings 28,916 =
110,792 40,533
mas Total liability 120,452 40,533
HERREE Total equity and liability 805,933 796,664
AATFEEABEREREET2//2018 The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the
F3F27 BRETIEE AR TESER Board of Directors on 27 March 2018 and was signed on
REE - its behalf.
MEHE eS|
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent Lam Ka Po
TE HITEE
Chairman Executive Director
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ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. A AT EEEBREERZREE 40. BALANCE SHEET AND EQUITY MOVEMENT OF
(%) THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) ZAQFEZEH (a) Equity movement of the Company

HRAAER XARA (ZitER)/

kA b NRERE  ARERRR TaRE% AftR% REZH
Perpetual (Accumulated

Share-based subordinated losses)/

Share Share  compensation Warrant ~ convertible Other retained
capital premium reserve reserve securities reserves earnings

Tt BT AR Tt Thn TAT Tt
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

R2016E181R At 1 January 2016 44,000 557,813 14,854 - - 249,674 (9,260) 857,081
EEER Loss for the year = = = = = = (18,580) (18,580)
B Dividends - (96,800) - - - - - (96,800
[EEBERESH Employee share option scheme:

—RERLER — value of employee services = = 11,355 = = = = 11,355
EAmES Issuance of warrant - - - 3,075 - - = 3075
R2016%125310 At 31 December 2016 44,000 461,013 26,209 3075 - 249,674 (27,840) 756,131
ROTE1A18 At 1 January 2017 44,000 461,013 26,209 3,075 - 249,674 (27,840) 756,131
FRYE Gain for the year - - - - - - 13,750 13,750
B Diidends - (114400 - - - - - (114400
KARGHARES  Perpetual subordinated

convertible securities - - - - 30,000 - - 30,000
R2017%125318  At31 December 2017 44,000 346,613 26,209 3,075 30,000 249,674 (14,090) 685,481
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. EEME
BNEENEZE20179F12A31BILE
EHMEHTIMT

Name of directors

£ Chairman

53 Mr. Lam

#iTEs Executive directors

5B Lam Ka Po

SEX (Wit ) So Chi Man (Note (3)

FuTES Non-executive directors

ETR (M) Wong Chi Kin (Note (b))

SEXMQ) Yung Chung Man (Note (c)

BukunEs Independent
non-executive directors

BRE Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

558 Ma Ho Fai

Rz 0) Mak Ka Ling (Note(d)

REEHie) Chan Chi Fai Andrew (Note (g))
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41. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31

December 2017 is set out as below:

HESEE

LGS

il PEES S

X SENHR

RER Bife

B¢ BERA  ROEN

BHEHT
SHNRY BhALHE
Other

emoluments

paid or

receivable in

respect of

director's

other services

in connection

with the

management

Employer's ~of the affairs
contribution of the
toa company
Allowances  retirement orits

Discretionary and benefits benefit  subsidiary

Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme  undertaking
TiEn TiEn TiEn TEn TiEn TiEn
HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000

- 1,200 - - 18 -
- 1,920 - - 18 -
- 1,006 - - 9 -

167 - - - - -
176 - - - - -

216 - - - - -
216 - - - - -
142 - - - - -
106 - - - - -

Total
Tin
HKD'000

1,218

1,938
1,018

167
176

216
216
142
106
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41.

EEMe @)

BNEENEZE20165F12A31BILE

EeME I T

iR
v

unge
BEX
58

FufEe
REX

BukufES

Name of directors

Chairman
Mr. Lam

Executive directors
So Chi Man
Lam Ka Po

Non-executive director
Yung Chung Man

Independent
non-executive directors

Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Ma Ho Fai

Chan Chi Fai Andrew

41.

Fees
TETL
HKD'000

216
216
216

DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31
December 2016 is set out as below:

Salary

" —
BT

HKD'000

1,200

1920
1920

500

Discretionary
bonuses

Allowances
and benefits
inkind
Th
HKD'000

3,361

A
954

1,494

75
75
75

Asiaray Media Group Limited

Employer's
contribution

toa
retirement
benefit
scheme
BT
HKD'000

SENER
RBER
EUE S
Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable in
respect of
director’s
other services
in connection
with the
management
of the affairs
of the
company
orits
subsidiary
undertaking
Th
HKD'000

2017 Annual Report
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2,909
2,892

2,012

M9
Wl
Wl
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S OtEAFEERFRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41.

A EEREBERAA

EEME

BRE X 2017 F 6 A 26 HRBRIER
RAEIMMITES °

BEBRALAN20176F3 A24 BRERT
BARRMIFRITES -

HEER 2017 56 A 26 BRI AR
AINIEITES -

D)

ERBRZLTN2017F5A5HREEE
RERBEBILIENITES ©

RS TR 2017 £ 6 A 26 BERITA
ARIKBLIFRITES -

EEMS
HE2017F12A31BLLFE  BEE
FEAEE KBTI B & 15 A A kB
FAEEREERAEBAAOHE 8
HEERAREEABHELRBHRE
EAIEN & (2016 4F : ) o

EERHKER

HZE2017F12A31BILFE - HEs)
ERAARRENBRRERAIREL
EERB A EBEEELRR R HEKTE
RAIEBEEZHMRYE - MAARE
BEX R AR ELE /T ERENR
AREFBINESRAEFN(2016F : &) -

EERBER

HZE2017F 128318 ILFE - HET
AAREFRAKIEZEMRAES A
w18 (20164 : &) o

AE=AXNRHESRE2RE

HZE2017F12A31BILFE  AAF]
WRAEME=F X EESREZRE
(20164 « #&) °

FRNES ESCSRFZEREE
BERASHAZER XRERREMR
S2ER
HE2017F12A31BLEFE  BEN
AAREE - ERZ2ZEMEEREE
BRAITZAZER EERKEMR
(20164 : £&) -

EEZRRS PRGN ZEAER
RERRFREMMERE - KRR EEH
BENARBERIVEAEEEBERHEZ

EERS  RERAHTHEBEMEKR
B AR (20166 « &) ©

2017 216

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(h)

Mr. So Chi Man retired as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 26 June 2017.

Mr. Wong Chi Kin was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company with effect from 24 March 2017.

Mr. Yung Chung Man retired as a non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 26 June 2017.

Ms. Mak Ka Ling was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 5 May
2017.

Mr. Chan Chi Fai Andrew retired as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 26 June
2017.

Directors’ remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no director
received any emolument from the Group as an inducement to
join or leave the Group or compensation for loss of office; no
directors and senior management waived or has agreed to
waive any emoluments (2016: nil).

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no retirement
benefits paid to the directors of the Company by a defined
benefit pension plan operated by the Group in respect of the
director’s services as a director of the Company and its
subsidiaries or other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary
undertaking (2016: nil).

Directors' termination benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no payments to
the directors of the Company as compensation for the early
termination of the appointment (2016: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company did
not provide to any third party for making available director’s
services (2016: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no loans, quasi-
loans or other dealings in favour of directors of the Company,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors (2016: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2016: nil).
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

£

RESULTS

BZ12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December
2017 & 20164 20154 2014 F 20134
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

TEx FAT FAT FHBT FHBT
HKD’'000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000
(FE=75)
(Restated)

KARHEB AN Profit/(loss) attributable to
FIE,(E518) owners of the Company

KREFFIE ~ FiIE - #TE Eamnings before interest, tax,

R 35 A N E A depreciation and

amortisation

EERERE

44,690 16,883 (39.616) 142,555 129,261

133,474 90,219 24,031 258,145 238,193

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

M®12H31H8
As at 31 December
2017 % 20164 20154 20144 20134
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

TET TAT THT THT AT
HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000
(gE27) (KEH)

BB E Total assets
FEY=F Total liabilities
FEE Net assets

RirE A RRIBHA2014F12 318
BRERANEE2013F12A831HIEFE
CEBUREERBERENBEELE
RS LBERAEEES  BUOAQA
AR R BE S P AR E T 2 RE B R E R
EEFTE—EFE -

(Restated)  (Restated)

1,307,444 1,136,523 1,264,963 992,386 856,413
(728,266)  (548,859)  (559,865)  (783,615)  (649,049)

579,178 587,664 705,098 208,771 207,364

The results and summary of assets and liabilities for the year
ended 31 December 2013 which was extracted from the
Company’s Prospectus dated 31 December 2014 have been
prepared on a combined basis to indicate the results of the
Group as if the Group structure, at the time the Company’s
shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
had been in existence throughout the year concerned.
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(B 2017 F 6 A 26 BiRIT)

FHTES
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ERELE
BB A GBS UP
Bkt
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BENEE
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RERE
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BRENEE
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R (EFE)
BERESLAE GBS JP
Bkt
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lam Ka Po

(Chief Operations Officer)
Mr. So Chi Man

(retired on 26 June 2017)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Kin
(appointed with effect from 24 March 2017)

Mr. Yung Chung Man
(retired on 26 June 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP
Ms. Mak Ka Ling
(appointed with effect from 5 May 2017)
Mr. Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP
(retired on 26 June 2017)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ip Pui Sum

(appointed with effect from 26 June 2017)
Mr. So Chi Man

(retired on 26 June 2017)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
Mr. Ip Pui Sum

(appointed with effect from 26 June 2017)
Mr. So Chi Man

(retired on 26 June 2017)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JpP
Ms. Mak Ka Ling

(appointed with effect from 5 May 2017)
Mr. Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP

(retired on 26 June 2017)
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REEES

MMEELSEE (FF)
BERESLAE GBS JP

BEERt
(EZEWLH2017E5 A5 BAER)
BeR 7588 % A SBS JP
(2017 F 6 A 26 BiET)

YMEES

ExBE4E GBS P (£/F)
N
BHRELE
BRI
(EZEIM 201765 A5 B4EK)

D

R R RS
HEREEHED

EEER

REHERME

N

REET 195
IRBRAE 24182403 F

FEERERIT

EELSEERITERAR
FEIRTT(BE)BRAR
BTRTT (FAR) BRAT]

AN EE

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

BREEEEXRMH

EBHEE
ERILE—5R
FERESHANE16IERE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JpP
Ms. Mak Ka Ling
(appointed with effect from 5 May 2017)
Mr. Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP
(retired on 26 June 2017)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP (Chairman)
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung
Ms. Mak Ka Ling
(appointed with effect from 5 May 2017)

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISER

Mason Ching & Associates
2403, 24/F., World-Wide House
19 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

16/F., Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower

1 Kornhill Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
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/NT)E$l  CORPORATE INFORMATION

BREESETE HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
EERREFHEFLRARDA Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
BEBEHS Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.

SEAER 1835 Hopewell Centre

B ALy 183 Queen'’s Road East

171817121716 5% 48 Wanchai, Hong Kong

Mk WEBSITE

http://www.asiaray.com http://www.asiaray.com

B A 1K 5R STOCK CODE

1993 1993
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)AfASiaray Media Group
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16/F, Kornhill Plaza - Office Tower,
1 Kornhill Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

B®EE Tel: (852) 2539 3939
fH Fax: (852) 2127 4186
#it Web: www.asiaray.com

G
FERLUIBEMRBREDE
This Annual Report Is Printed On Environmentally Friendly Paper



	Cover
	Inside Front Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Overview
	Asiaray at A Glance
	Media Network
	Our Philosophy
	Events of the Year
	Awards and Recognition
	Financial Highlights
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Director’s Profile
	Corporate Governance Report
	Report of the Directors
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Balance Sheet
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Five-Year Financial Summary
	Corporate Information
	Back Cover



